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Share price and 5 year summary

Cover photographs:
Top – Chiesi NEXThaler®, Middle – Syrina® auto-injectors, Bottom – Dr Reddy’s auto-injector

Consort Medical is a healthcare company 
focused on medical device technologies  
for drug delivery.
Our strategy moving forward is to build on and strengthen 
our core businesses through new product innovation, 
increased market reach and higher value product and 
service offerings. 

We are also diversifying the Group into adjacent markets 
and technologies which leverage our competencies in 
medical devices and drug delivery.

Highlights
•	Bespak revenue surpasses £100m;

•	Strong organic revenue growth of 5.2%, in 
particular from Chiesi NEXThaler®;

•	Growth in adjusted EPS of 8.5% to 48.3p per 
share;

•	Increased final dividend to 13.35p per share;

•	Net cash of £25.8m despite significant 
investment in facilities and production capacity;

•	Regulatory approval and launch of first auto-
injector for Dr. Reddy’s sumatriptan, a migraine 
therapy;

•	Award of exclusive multi-year commercial 
supply contract for our dry powder inhaler 
programme (DPI) programme DEV610;

•	Award of Bespak’s first MHRA licence for 
commercial drug handling for Nicoventures’ 
nicotine inhaler;

•	Unveiling of Syrina® and Vapoursoft®, 
delivering the first such liquid gas-propelled 
auto-injector;

•	Completion and pilot scale manufacturing of 
Atlas Genetics ioTM Cartridge (POC010);

•	Award of development contract for novel 
PatchPump® infusion device from Steadymed.

Annual Report
Guidance
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Chairman’s 
Letter

Photograph inset:
Dr. Peter Fellner

Consort Medical has delivered a year of solid 
trading performance in its core business, 
and has further expanded its future growth 
opportunities from both its development portfolio 
and its innovation pipeline. 

The Group has demonstrated successful 
execution of its long-term organic growth 
strategy in a number of important areas during 
the year.

Trading1

Following 5.2% growth, Bespak surpassed 
£100m in revenues (FY2013: £95.0m) for the 
first time. This growth of our core revenues 
translated strongly into earnings growth, with 
adjusted EPS growing by 8.5% to 48.3p per 
share (FY2013: 44.5p).

EBITDA before special items increased by 
£0.4m (2.0%) to £24.4m (FY2013: £24.0m). 
With ongoing major investment programmes 
to support our organic growth, working capital 
increased by £4.0m to £24.1m (FY2013: 
£20.1m), and capital expenditure increased to 
£16.3m (FY2013: £6.9m).

The Group balance sheet closed with a net 
cash position of £25.8m (FY2013: net cash 
£37.0m). With headroom of £73.3m under its 
undrawn banking facility, and a further £25.0m 
available under an accordion facility, the Group 
has significant cash resources available to 
comfortably satisfy its future growth and capital 
commitments. 

Development and Innovation 
Our development pipeline saw good progress 
in the year. A major highlight was the regulatory 
approval and launch of our first auto-injector, for 
Dr. Reddy’s sumatriptan, confirming Bespak’s 
expertise in the injectables market. 

We were awarded a new programme during 
the year for a nasal drug application (NAS030); 
and an exclusive multi-year commercial supply 
contract for our dry powder inhaler programme 
DEV610 also adds further scale to our growth 
potential.

Bespak’s regulatory competence and reputation 
was further endorsed by the UK MHRA awarding 
us a first licence for commercial drug handling. 
This significant achievement is an important 
milestone in the Nicoventures programme, and 
paves the way for similar future commercial 
opportunities.

Our Innovation team achieved the commercial 
unveiling of the Syrina®, Vapoursoft® and Lila® 
technologies at the Parental Drug Association 
exhibition in Basel in November 2013. We 
look forward to their translation into customer-
partnered development programmes in the future. 

Board Changes
Ian Nicholson brings to Consort Medical 
extensive expertise and Life Sciences industry 
experience, and during the year the executive 
team, supported by the Board, took the 
decision to engage Ian’s services in support of a 
number of business development opportunities. 
Cognisant of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code (2012), Ian has accordingly relinquished 
his membership of the Audit and Remuneration 
Committees, as he is no longer classed as an 
independent non-executive director. 

Following her appointment as Chairman of 
Venture Life Group plc, Dr. Lynn Drummond has 
indicated her intention not to stand for re-election 
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 
On behalf of the Board and the Company, I 
would like to thank Lynn for her considerable 
contribution to the Group over the past three 
years.

Following Lynn’s decision to stand down, the 
Company is working with advisers to appoint a 
further independent non-executive director to 
the Board.

After more than four years’ service at Consort 
Medical, John Slater, our Legal Counsel and 
Group Company Secretary, retired on 30 April 
2014. On behalf of the Board and the Company 
I would like to thank John for his sterling service, 
and to wish him a very happy retirement. The 
Board is pleased to announce the appointment 
of his successor, Iain Ward, as Group Legal 
Counsel and Company Secretary. Iain will be 
joining the Group on 14 July 2014 from Shire 
plc.

People
I wish to thank our employees for their excellent 
contributions over the past year, which have 
been crucial in strengthening the Company’s 
position. I also thank our shareholders for their 
continued support for the Company.

Dividend
The Board has reviewed the final dividend, 
and I am pleased to recommend that it will be 
increased to 13.35p per share. The dividend will 
be paid on 24 October 2014 to shareholders on 
the register at 19 September 2014, following our 
Annual General Meeting on 4 September 2014.

Dr. Peter Fellner
Chairman

1  Financial performance metrics relate to continuing 
operations unless stated otherwise.
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Demand is stable 
and predictable, 
hence there is 
relatively high visibility 
of future revenues.

Why Invest?

FAST FACT

patients
Every second 1,000 

patients use one
of our inhalers 

1,000

Its core business Bespak 
is a global market leader in 
the manufacture of inhaled 
drug delivery devices for 
Life Science partners. 
Here are some of the key motivations for 
investment in Consort Medical plc:

1  Long-term Contracts
Bespak serves Life Science customers with 
drug delivery devices for drug therapies which 
have a long life cycle. Devices are defined 
and licensed as part of the drug master file, 
and hence sourcing is protected. Life Science 
customers invest significant resources in 
launching, marketing and building the treatment 
franchises which often have high rates of repeat 
prescription. The core of the Bespak business is 
in respiratory therapies, with drugs that alleviate 
symptoms, and patients adopt preferred drugs 
on an ongoing basis. 

Accordingly the core business demand is stable 
and predictable, providing relatively high visibility 
of future revenues.

2  Premium Quality and  
Regulatory Expertise
Over 500 million devices are produced annually 
by Bespak, in a highly regulated environment. 
The quality standards required are world-class, 
and Bespak is one of only a handful of operators 
globally who have the process know-how and 
expertise to consistently deliver 6-sigma quality 
on such a high volume of components and 
devices. 

Bespak leverages this significant process and 
production know-how, operating a dual strategy 
of the contract manufacturing of customer 
products, and the supply of its own proprietary 
products which are protected by extensive 
Intellectual Property (IP).

This value delivery to the customer yields 
attractive margins, whilst affording protection 
from potential new market entrants.

3  Product Development Portfolio
A key feature of Consort Medical’s strategy is 
the diversification of the device offerings — from 
respiratory into injectables, nasal, ocular and 
point-of-care (POC) diagnostics (horizontal) — 
and of the extent of the service offering — into 
drug handling and packaging (vertical).

Bespak has assembled a broad and 
diverse development portfolio, both contract 
manufacture and own IP based; both organically 

and via the acquisition of the Medical House. 
This includes exclusive supply contracts for 
Nicoventures’ nicotine inhaler, and DEV610 for a 
new dry powder inhaler (DPI). 

Further organic revenue and earnings growth 
potential exists from injectables, nasal, nicotine 
inhalation, and POC diagnostic cartridges, as 
well as further core respiratory metered dose 
inhaler (MDI) and DPI opportunities.

4  Innovation Portfolio
Bespak’s Innovation team in Cambridge is 
developing a range of novel product offerings, 
expected to evolve into specific commercial 
opportunities. Since established around three 
years ago, two of its new innovations have 
progressed to the product development pipeline 
with specific drug/device development contracts 
for Life Science partners.

In November 2013 the team unveiled the  
Syrina®/Vapoursoft® range of auto-injectors, 
powered by the groundbreaking Vapoursoft® 
propulsion technology, and the Lila® range of 
injectors. Both product groups are IP-protected, 
and have received significant market acclaim. 
They are proceeding through commercialisation, 
and present significant organic growth potential.

The Innovation pipeline contains several other 
candidates with the potential to create further 
future shareholder value. 

5  Inorganic Development
Following completion of the sale of the King 
Systems business in February 2013, the Group 
is a more focused Life Science provider with 
a clear strategy for growth. Whilst this will be 
mostly organic in focus, the Group can also 
develop in its chosen strategy through selective, 
relevant and value-enhancing acquisitions.

With cash on its balance sheet and undrawn 
banking facilities, it has significant financial 
resources available to realise this.

6  Management Team
Consort Medical’s management team has 
executed successfully the chosen strategy of 
sustained/diversified organic growth, selective 
investments/acquisitions, and cost efficiency. 
Bespak and King Systems (now sold) have been 
transformed under this strategy, and Bespak 
continues to sustain its core competencies and 
leverage them in strategic growth initiatives.

The management team has significant M&A 
experience, realising 19.0 × EBITDA for the 
King Systems disposal, making key equity 
investments into Atlas Genetics, and acquiring 
injectables technology through the acquisition 
of the Medical House, and translating this into 
the first commercial revenues from INJ300 – the 
auto-injector for Dr. Reddy’s sumatriptan.
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Who We Are
•	World-class developer and manufacturer 

of high volume disposable medical devices 
for drug delivery and point-of-care (POC) 
diagnostics

•	Significant product invention and development 
resources in R&D including a separate 
Innovation team in Cambridge

•	Bespak is a global market leader in the 
manufacture of inhaled drug delivery devices 
for Life Science partners

•	Benchmark capabilities in the manufacture of 
more than 500 million devices per annum in 
regulated markets

•	High barriers to entry: Intellectual Property, 
know-how, FDA regulatory approvals and 
economies of scale

•	Robust finances: profitable, cash generative, 
low gearing and high dividend payout

Our Strategy
•	Organic revenue growth from:

 —New developments in core respiratory 
business

 —Diversification into adjacent markets and 
territories

 —Increasing revenue by capturing more of the 
value chain

•	Investment in activities in adjacent/
complementary technologies/markets

•	Operating leverage from growth, and ongoing 
cost efficiency 

Key Products
•	Respiratory: metered dose inhaler valves, dry 

powder inhalers, integrated dose counters, 
actuators

•	Injectables: auto-injectors, needle-free injectors

•	Nasal: nasal drug delivery devices

•	Nicotine inhalation devices

•	Other: POC diagnostics devices

•	Other: medical check valves

Market Position
•	A global market leader in respiratory drug 

delivery

•	Growing franchise in injectables drug delivery 

•	Over 500 million devices manufactured 
annually

•	In excess of nine major new programmes in 
development pipeline

•	Firm opportunities in attractive new growth 
market segments

•	Growing customer recognition as innovator on 
demand

Highlights of the Year 
•	Continuing revenue, margin and profit growth 

with resilient core markets 

•	Award of MHRA commercial drug handling 
licence in September 2013

•	Launch of Bespak’s Syrina® auto-injector 
range and Lila® injector at the Parental Drug 
Association exhibition in Basel, Switzerland, in 
November 2013 to high, universal acclaim

•	Launch of Bespak’s auto-safety injector 
(ASI) device in conjunction with Dr. Reddy’s 
Laboratories (DRL)

•	Award of an exclusive multi-year commercial 
supply contract for DEV610 dry powder inhaler

•	Further capacity expansion for the Chiesi 
NEXThaler® dry powder inhaler launched in 
2013

•	Further investment in Atlas Genetics alongside 
two leading global healthcare companies

A world-class 
developer and 
manufacturer of drug 
delivery solutions.

Group at  
a Glance

£18.8m
EBIT before 
special items

£100.0m
Revenue

24.4%
EBITDA margin 
before special 

items

£24.4m
EBITDA before 
special items 

18.8%
Operating margin

FAST FACT

million
Over 500 million devices

manufactured 
annually 

500
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DPI DEVICES MEDICAL CHECK
VALVES

DOSE COUNTERS

NARINA NASAL

MDI VALVES

OTS™ 
AUTO-INJECTOR

LILA® SYRINGE
SYSTEMS

SYRINA®
INJECTOR

ASI™ 
AUTO-INJECTOR

PLATFORM

ACTUATORS

Although Bespak has historically focused on 
drug delivery devices for use in the treatment of 
asthma and COPD with the provision of metered 
dose inhalers (MDI) and dry powder inhalers 
(DPI), it is extending its reach to include nasal 
drug delivery devices, auto-injectors, nicotine 
delivery devices, and point-of-care diagnostic 
devices.

Bespak’s range of currently marketed products 
includes the following key products:

1  Metered Dose Inhaler
Bespak is a global leader in supply of MDI 
valves serving major branded Life Sciences and 
generics companies. Bespak uniquely offers its 
own proprietary clean rubber technology and 
rubbers for use in its valves. Bespak has to date 
manufactured over one billion hydroflouroalkane 
(HFA) valves which is a significant achievement 
given the fact that the CFC (Chlorofluorocarbon) 
to HFA propulsion transition only occurred in the 
early/mid 2000s.

2  Integrated Dose Counter
Bespak operates in highly regulated markets with 
increasing regulatory requirements and hurdles. 
One such is the FDA requirement for low dose 
indication of MDIs and DPIs. Bespak offers 
a proprietary fully integrated (numeric) dose 
counter which has already been launched with 
Teva Pharmaceuticals. Moreover, Bespak has 
further programmes in development with major 
regional and global Life Sciences companies.

3  GSK’s Diskus Device
Since its launch, Bespak has been and remains 
a major manufacturer of GSK’s Diskus DPI. 
The device forms part of the world’s largest 
respiratory franchise for the treatment of asthma 
and COPD. Bespak has partnered with GSK 
since the early 1990s. Bespak has to date 
manufactured over 600 million Diskus devices.

4  Chiesi’s Foster NEXThaler®
This device has regulatory approval in 14 
European markets and was launched in 
Germany in March 2013. The device, in 
development at Bespak since 2005, is a 
unique breath-actuated DPI. Bespak is currently 
engaged in further capacity increases, beyond 
that installed in 2012, to support the upcoming 
planned launches in further European territories.

5  Auto-safety injector (ASI)
This device was acquired with the Medical 
House in 2009, and development culminated 
in the first regulatory approval and launch of the 
product for Dr. Reddy’s sumatriptan in February 
2014. Further development opportunities are in 
progress for the product, including INJ570 which 
is on the Development Portfolio, and is currently 
undergoing regulatory approval.

6  Products in Development
Bespak is currently working with a number of 
European and global Life Sciences companies 
to develop respiratory, injectable, nasal, nicotine 
inhalation, and point-of-care diagnostics 
devices. Information on these programmes is 
summarised in the Bespak product development 
pipeline chart (see page 12).

Bespak manufactures 
a wide range of 
specialty medical 
drug delivery devices. 

Key Products and 
Intellectual Property
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Bespak’s business model is built to support two 
principal goals: helping our customers succeed 
in commercialising their own designs of drug 
delivery devices and developing proprietary 
designs of drug delivery devices, for sale to blue 
chip customers in Life Sciences. To this aim, 
Bespak has and will continue its diversification of 
the drug delivery segments in which it operates 
as well as increasing its share of the value-
added content in the supply chain. 

To date Bespak has evolved the range of drug 
delivery opportunities from its origins in the 
respiratory segment to that of injectables, nasal, 
ocular, and point-of-care diagnostics. Bespak 
has also further enhanced its share of the 
value added in the supply chain beyond that of 
product design, development, industrialisation 

and commercial manufacturing operations, and 
into the handling of drugs for the purposes of 
clinical trials and final market release on behalf of 
its customers.

Bespak has developed significant core 
capabilities, competencies and processes 
developed through strategic investments in skills, 
technologies and infrastructure that provide 
for the best long-term growth and profitability 
prospects based on the value they deliver to our 
customers, whether based on either customer-
owned or Bespak-owned intellectual property.

Bespak has 
developed significant 
core capabilities, 
competencies and 
processes.

Our Business 
Model

❱❱ ROBUST FINANCE   ❱❱ STRONG CUSTOMER FINANCE   ❱❱ INDUSTRY RECOGNISED BRAND

❱❱ REGULATORY APPROVALS, EXPERTISE, ACCREDITATIONS & 
TRACK RECORD   ❱❱ STRONG PROGRAMME MANAGEMENT   
❱❱ CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT

INNOVATE —
OWN IP

PARTNER —
CUSTOMER’S

IP

PRODUCT
DEVELOPMENT INDUSTRIALISATION

VOLUME MFG,
500 M DEVICES  

2.6 B COMPONENTS 
PER ANNUM

❱❱ CUSTOMER VALUE   ❱❱ CASH GENERATION   ❱❱ SHAREHOLDER VALUE

❱❱ INDUSTRY 
LEADING TALENT

Illustration above:
Our Business Model
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New Product Introduction Process 
A stage-gated process honed over many years 
and major programmes involving concept-
creation through to second-sourcing. 

Programme Management 
Bespak operates a formal programme 
management process with dedicated 
programme managers leading customer-centric 
teams to ensure programmes are delivered to 
meet agreed goals, objectives and milestones.

Prototype, Pilot, and Volume 
Manufacture
Ability to manufacture products in singles, tens, 
hundreds, thousands and millions through a 
wide range of capabilities fulfilling needs at the 
development, clinical and product launch and 
commercialisation stages. 

High Precision Injection Moulding
Repeatable and reproducible component 
manufacturing processes, whereby very 
tight tolerances are achieved through closely 
controlled processes and equipment. Bespak 
manufactures over 2.5 billion components per 
annum.

High Speed Automated Assembly 
Bespak has in-depth knowledge and capability 
in design of fully automated assembly machines 
and has long established relationships with a 
number of suppliers. Bespak operates 27 state-
of-the-art fully automated assembly machines 
manufacturing over 500 million devices per 
annum. 

Industrialisation and Scale-up
This is critical to the conversion of development 
opportunities into marketed realities in 
a regulated environment. Bespak has 
industrialised more dry powder inhalers than any 
other company and continues to improve its 
processes to better serve its customers.

Regulatory and Quality Compliance 
In licensing a drug, there are two ‘files’: the drug 
file and the device file which fit together jointly for 
the approval licence. Bespak, its postal address, 
the materials and the equipment used are all 
defined in the device master file, which ensures 
long-term visibility of supply, and a high barrier 
to entry. 

This is supported by quality management 
processes and systems which ensure 6-sigma 
quality performance of manufactured parts, 
supported by lab release testing and analysis. 
Bespak operates to ISO 13485, and holds 
clinical trials and commercial drug handling 
licences. This regulatory and quality compliance 
is validated externally by over 30 audits per 
annum.

Continuous Improvement  
& Lean Manufacturing
Bespak has a dedicated continuous 
improvement team focused internally and 
externally on the supply chain with the goal 
of improving processes and operations and 
eliminating non-value-added activities. The 
team targets over £1m of cost savings and cost 
avoidances per annum.

Its business model is flexible, adapting to the 
continuously changing market and economic 
environment. The Company has strengthened 
its position through strategic investments 
and acquisitions in higher value areas such 
as injectables and drug handling capabilities. 
In addition, Bespak has improved overall 
productivity and the Company is investing 
significantly in opportunities to participate in 

some of the world’s most critical markets. As 
a result, Bespak continues to enhance its 
operating performance. 

This, supported by the Company’s long-term 
financial model, has enabled the Company to 
deliver consistently strong earnings, cash flows 
and returns on invested capital in changing 
economic environments.

Scan the QR code with your 
smartphone to take you directly  
to our Bespak website.

www.bespak.com

Bespak’s core  
capabilities include:

INNOVATE
& INVENT

MANUFACTURE

PARTNER,
DEVELOP &
PROTECT

INDUSTRIALISE

DEVICE
LEVERAGE
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Our strategy for  
sustainable growth
In 2008, the Group defined its strategy in three 
elements:

1. Organic revenue growth from:

•	New developments in core respiratory 
business

•	Diversification into adjacent markets and 
territories

•	Increasing revenue by capturing more of the 
value chain

2. Investment in activities in adjacent/
complementary technologies/markets.

3. Operating leverage from growth, and on-going 
cost efficiency.

Strategic Execution
1. Organic Revenue:

•	Launch of integrated dose counter on Teva’s 
QNASL, and the Chiesi NEXThaler® 

•	Development of two auto-injector development 
programmes, including the launch of INJ300 in 
February 2014 — for Dr. Reddy’s sumatriptan 
— and significant new auto-injector IP 
development from the Bespak Innovation team.

•	Securing two nasal development programmes

•	Securing commercial drug handling on the 
Nicoventures projects — including the MHRA 
licence award in August 2013 — and one of 
the nasal programmes

2. Investment in the Medical House, and Atlas 
Genetics: 

Following the divestment of King Systems, 
this core strategy is unchanged, though now 
more tightly focused on the drug delivery and 
Life Sciences services market. Our strategy is 
primarily organic growth, to be supplemented 
with relevant and value enhancing inorganic 
opportunities as they become available.

3. Operating leverage and cost efficiency:

Margins have grown following the revenue 
growth, and realignment of corporate costs 
following the King Systems disposal.

Future Development
We continue to operate a mixed model 
producing both our own proprietary products, 
and the contract manufacture of customers’ 
products, based on our know-how and 
regulatory expertise.

We aim to continue to diversify our revenue 
portfolio by growing our product offering in 
respiratory and non-respiratory markets. 

We aim to also grow by moving up the value 
chain: from our core expertise of design for 
manufacture, moulding and assembly through to 
commercial drug handling and finished product 
delivery following QP (Qualified Person) release.

In terms of customers, we will plan to sell 
new products into current and new divisions 
of existing customers building on our strong 
relationships, whilst also cultivating relationships 
with new customers in order to deliver diversified 
growth.

Our core competencies in the high volume, high 
quality regulated respiratory market are readily 
transferrable to our chosen adjacent sectors: 
auto-injectors, nasal, nicotine delivery and 
point-of-care (POC) diagnostics. Our strategic 
intent is to build on these strong foundations 
whilst adding new skills to meet new challenges, 
including commercial drug handling, final device 
assembly, pharmaceutical packaging and QP 
release of finished product. 

Our strategy for 
sustainable growth.

Our Strategy

OPERATING 
LEVERAGE FROM 
GROWTH, AND 

ONGOING COST 
EFFICIENCY

NEW PRODUCT 
PORTFOLIO TO 
DRIVE REVENUE 

GROWTH

❱❱ ENHANCEMENT❱❱ SUSTAINED ORGANIC REVENUE GROWTH

❱❱ CHIESI NEXTHALER® 
RAMPING UP

❱❱ ADVANCEMENT IN 
DEVELOPMENT PIPELINE

❱❱ AWARD OF 
COMMERCIAL SUPPLY ON 
DEV610

❱❱ AWARD AND DEVELOPMENT 
OF NAS030 NASAL DEVICE

❱❱ DEVELOPMENT OF SYRINA®, 
LILA® AND VAPOURSOFT®

❱❱ LAUNCH OF DR. REDDY’S 
AUTO-INJECTOR

❱❱ LEVERAGING COST BASE 
AT BESPAK

❱❱ CENTRAL COST SAVINGS

❱❱ COMMERCIAL DRUG 
HANDLING ACCREDITATION

❱❱ EVALUATION OF 
OPPORTUNITIES

❱❱ FURTHER INVESTMENT 
IN ATLAS GENETICS

❱❱ FIT FOR 
PURPOSE

SELECTIVE 
ACQUISITIONS

AND 
INVESTMENTS

DIVERSIFICATION 
INTO ADJACENT 
MARKETS AND 
TERRITORIES

HIGHER VALUE 
BUSINESS 
MODELS

Illustration below:
Group strategy model
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Our Strategy  
by Market
Respiratory 

Market
The respiratory sector is estimated at US$24bn 
drug sales and £272m of device sales in 2013 
with the device revenues predicted to deliver a 
compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 3% 
to 2016. Bespak estimates its current share of 
this market to be 22%. The respiratory sector 
is one of the most highly regulated, resulting in 
high barriers to entry. A number of key drugs 
are shortly ‘coming off patent’, resulting in a 
number of new generic entrants and associated 
opportunities for Bespak to supply both metered 
dose inhaler (MDI) and dry powder inhaler (DPI) 
devices. Although sales remain relatively flat in 
the traditional western economies, significant 
volume growth is being seen in emerging 
markets with the Brazilian, Russian, Indian 
and Chinese (BRIC) markets becoming more 
important to Bespak.

Strategy
We will continue to increase our share both 
through the development of new products 
and through selling into new and developing 
geographical markets. We will maintain our 
competitive position by continuing to leverage 
Continuous Improvement (CI) activities as 
products move into the mature stage of their 
product life cycle.

Auto-injectors

Market
The auto-injector sector is a relatively high 
growth market, the end drug market of which is 
estimated at US$175bn in 2013 with a CAGR of 
5% to 2016. Growth is being driven by a large 
number of new drugs coming to the market for 
the first time that require delivery by injection. 
Whilst Bespak currently has a negligible share 
of this market, it is estimated that circa 40% of 
all new drugs in development will be delivered 
parenterally and may therefore require some 
form of auto-injector. Many of these new ‘large 
molecule’ biologic drugs are highly viscous and 
require specialist devices to enable them to 
be effectively administered, often by patients 
themselves in a non-clinical environment.  The 
continued drive to greater self-administration 
with the associated improvements to patient 
compliance, patient outcomes and healthcare 
economics will create significant opportunities 
for Bespak to develop and manufacture auto-
injectors to meet these needs. Bespak’s recently 
launched Syrina® range of auto-injectors 
positions it well to participate in this growing 
market.

Strategy
Our strategy for the auto-injector sector is 
focused on the commercialisation of the existing 
pipeline in conjunction with the development 
of further IP and the exploitation of “innovation 
on demand” opportunities through our growing 
Innovation team based in Cambridge. We will 
continue to move up the value chain by offering 
assembly and drug handling and will continue to 
look for additional, selective acquisitions.

Illustration below:
Delivery diversification

Nasal

Market
The nasal drug market is estimated to be worth 
circa £8.9bn in 2013 with the associated device 
sales being £310m. The CAGR is estimated 
at 2.4% through to 2016 with growth being 
delivered from two main areas. Firstly, a number 
of existing branded drugs are coming off patent 
leading to generic entrants all requiring their own 
delivery system as the original device associated 
with the branded drug is normally unavailable to 
them. Secondly, the nasal drug delivery route 
is extremely effective and a number of existing 
and new drugs are being reformulated to enable 
delivery in this way, increasing demand for this 
type of drug delivery product. This is now a 
strategic market for Bespak and it currently has 
two firm development pipeline opportunities. 

Strategy
Our strategy for the nasal market is focused 
on the delivery of our existing development 
programmes plus further exploitation of our 
growing IP portfolio via a number of “innovation 
on demand” opportunities. 

Nicotine Delivery

Market
Although the non-tobacco nicotine delivery 
market is in its infancy — with 2012 UK, France 
and Germany revenues estimated at £310m — 
it is forecast to deliver significant growth over 
the short-term, estimated CAGR of 116% to 
2016. The key drivers for this growth centre on 
both the consumer and regulatory appetite for 
safer alternatives to tobacco smoking coupled 
with the associated public health and healthcare 
economic benefits. Bespak will participate in 
this market through the Nicoventures contract 
awarded in December 2012.

Strategy
Our approach to the nicotine delivery sector is 
to successfully industrialise and commercialise 
the Nicoventures device, and then to increase 
the value-added content, and exploit wider 
geographic opportunities as the business and 
market develops.

POC Diagnostics

Market
The POC diagnostics sector is a relatively high 
growth market with an estimated CAGR of 
6.6% to 2016. This diagnostic model enables 
the patient to be tested, diagnosed and treated 
in one appointment, whereas the traditional 
model requires samples to be sent away to 
a laboratory for testing, with patient recall 
required for treatment. Market growth is being 
driven by the combined benefits of: increased 
patient compliance, improved patient outcomes 
and lower cost of provision. Pharmaceutical 
companies are looking to exploit POC systems 
as part of a companion diagnostics strategy 
where drugs and tests are sold as combined 
‘test and treat’ packages. Bespak has an equity 
investment in Atlas Genetics, as well as a 
manufacturing contract to produce disposable 
test cartridges for Atlas.

Strategy
The POC diagnostic strategy is focused on the 
commercialisation of the Atlas device as a first 
stage penetration of the market. Following a 
successful outcome to this programme we will 
leverage our development, manufacturing and 
regulatory know-how in order to grow our market 
share, possibly in conjunction with selective 
acquisitions.

In summary, our strategy is to continue to 
grow by exploiting its current and emerging 
competencies, in both existing and adjacent 
market sectors, in a mixed model of 
proprietary IP-protected products and contract 
manufacturing, whilst harnessing more of the 
value chain to include commercial drug handling 
and final QP release to the market. 

❱❱ DIVERSIFY INTO ADJACENT MARKETS USING CORE COMPETENCIES

DRUG DELIVERY SEGMENTS

FILL DEVICE 
WITH DRUG

VOLUME 
MANUFACTURING

DESIGN FOR 
MANUFACTURING

PROTOTYPE 
DEVELOPMENT

CONCEPT 
GENERATION

RESP. INJECT. NASAL OTHEROCULAR POC
DIAG.
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Highlights:
•	Bespak surpasses £100m revenue for the first 

time

•	Solid organic revenue growth of 5.2%, strong 
contribution from Chiesi NEXThaler®

•	Growth in adjusted basic EPS by 8.5% to 
48.3p per share

•	Regulatory approval and launch of first auto-
injector for Dr. Reddy’s sumatriptan, a migraine 
therapy

•	Award of exclusive multi-year commercial 
supply contract for Bespak’s DPI programme 
DEV610

•	Award of Bespak’s first MHRA licence for 
commercial drug handling for Nicoventures 
nicotine inhaler (DEV200)

•	Unveiling of Syrina® and Vapoursoft®, 
delivering the first such liquid gas propelled 
auto-injector

Financial Performance1

Revenue increased by £5.0m (5.2%) to 
£100.0m (FY2013: £95.0m), with a strong 
contribution from growth in the sales of the 
Chiesi NEXThaler®. Operating profit before 
special items increased by 4.0% to £18.8m 
(FY2013: £18.1m), with operating margin at 
18.8% (FY2013: 19.0%).

Profit before tax and special items increased by 
£1.6m (10.1%) to £17.5m (FY2013: £15.9m). 
Adjusted EPS increased by 8.5% to 48.3p per 
share (FY2013: 44.5p). Basic EPS increased by 
25.1% to 47.4p per share (FY2013: 37.9p).

Cash generated from operations2 decreased 
by £5.8m to £19.2m (FY2013: £25.0m). 
EBITDA before special items was up £0.4m 
(2.0%) at £24.4m (FY2013: £24.0m). Working 
capital3 increased £4.0m to £24.1m (FY2013: 
£20.1m) which, after deducting the King 
Systems contingent consideration, represents 
12.9% of sales (FY2013: 8.9%) due to lower 
capital expenditure creditors relating to the 
timing of major programme investments. Capital 
expenditure2 of £16.3m (FY2013: £6.9m) was 
higher than the previous year, as the business 
made significant investments in facilities and 
production capacity to fulfil its development 
pipeline contracts.

The Group balance sheet closed with a net cash 
position of £25.8m (FY2013: net cash £37.0m). 
With headroom of £73.3m under its undrawn 
banking facility, and a further £25.0m available 
under the accordion facility, the Group has 
significant cash resources available.

The Board is proposing an increased final 
dividend to 13.35p (FY2013: 12.71p), making 
a total dividend for the year of 20.7p (FY2013: 
19.71p). Further commentary on the financial 
results is contained within the Financial Review.

Customers and Markets
Following the launch of the Chiesi DPI (dry 
powder inhaler) in March 2013, initially in 
Germany, the product has been subsequently 
launched further afield into Austria, Belgium, 
the Netherlands, Spain and Italy. The product 
is approved in 14 European countries. The 
product has been well received in six markets 
in which it has been launched to date, and 
further territory launches are anticipated in the 
near term. In April 2014 we agreed a volume 
extension to the NEXThaler® supply contract 
volumes, to facilitate further market penetration 
of the product.

In November 2013 Bespak was successful in 
securing the commercial supply contract for its 
development programme DEV610. This platform 
device programme will potentially provide 
material future revenues for Bespak, and further 
illustrates customer confidence in Bespak’s 
development and industrialisation expertise.  
With the Chiesi NEXThaler® and now the 
DEV610 manufacturing contract, Bespak has 
a growing DPI business, further diversifying its 
respiratory franchise.

Our pressurised metered dose inhaler (pMDI) 
valves business continues to grow, with 
further new drug device formulations launched 
during the year, alongside significant pipeline 
programmes within our development portfolio – 
VAL310 and VAL020 in particular. 

In February we celebrated the regulatory 
approval and launch of INJ300, our first auto-
injector on the market. The customer is Dr. 
Reddy’s Laboratories for injected sumatriptan 
– a migraine therapy. Securing regulatory 
approval and commercial launch of our first 
auto-injector is a major milestone for Consort 
Medical’s injectables technology, confirms 
Bespak’s capability in the auto-injector market, 
and is a significant step in the execution of our 
diversification strategy.

We were awarded a development contract in 
July 2013 for NAS030, a nasal device for a 
pharma company. This device is the first product 
to have been initiated from our Innovation 
centre for which a customer development 
programme has then been secured, and clearly 
demonstrates the potential of the Innovation 
team in delivering revenue growth and product 
diversification opportunities.

Chief 
Executive’s 
Review 
Operations

This year Consort 
Medical celebrated  
a number of  
‘firsts’: 
the first year Bespak 
revenues surpassed 
£100m; the approval and 
launch of our first auto-
injector; the award of our 
first MHRA commercial 
drug handling licence; the 
first development contract 
award for an Innovation 
centre-developed product 
(NAS030); and the 
unveiling of the first liquid 
gas powered auto-injector 
(Syrina®) and the first dual 
product injector (Lila®).

Photograph inset:
Jonathan Glenn
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In August 2013 we received our first commercial 
drug handling licence from the MHRA. This 
licence grants Bespak authority to assemble the 
drug into the finished device for DEV200 – our 
development programme for Nicoventures for 
the nicotine inhaler. This represents a further 
significant milestone for Bespak, and further 
execution of our strategy in harnessing an 
additional part of the value chain.

Service revenue has continued to grow, 
increasing 78.7% in the year, as our full 
development and innovation pipelines deliver 
development and industrialisation revenues. 
This continues to be an important feature of our 
activities, as customers partner with Bespak for 
its development and regulatory expertise prior to 
manufacturing supply.

In 2008, when we launched our strategy for 
sustainable growth, we targeted diversified 
revenue growth in three areas: our core 
respiratory franchise, other market segments 
such as injectables and nasal, and higher  
value-added business. Our progress in DPIs, 
auto-injectors, nasal and commercial drug 
handling represent robust strategic execution in 
all three areas.

Manufacturing
Our business assembles more than 500 million 
complex devices per year, from more than  
3.6 billion components, of which approximately 
2.6 billion are manufactured at Bespak. These 
volumes are expected to grow as the range of 
new products pass through the development 
pipeline into volume manufacture. Bespak also 
has an exceptional quality record and to date 
has manufactured more than 1 billion HFA MDI 
valves and 600 million Diskus® devices to 
exacting standards.

Bespak has over 19,300 square metres of 
manufacturing space, including over 8,000 
square metres of cleanroom space currently 
installed and operational at its King’s Lynn facility. 
Following the award of commercial supply 
contracts for both DEV200 (Nicoventures) 
and DEV610, and the extension of the Chiesi 
NEXThaler® supply agreement, major facilities’ 
expansion is underway at both the King’s Lynn 
and Milton Keynes sites. 

•	At King’s Lynn the construction of the 
assembly facility of 4,200 sq M and 
cleanroom commissioning for DEV200 is 
nearing completion, and the installation 
of the manufacturing equipment is about 
to commence. The component moulding 
operations for DEV200 will be housed at the 
Milton Keynes site’s 1,900 sq M; this has been 
refurbished, the cleanroom commissioned, and 
the equipping phase is well advanced.

•	For DEV610, a new 5,200 sq M facility will 
be constructed at King’s Lynn to house both 
the assembly and moulding operations. 
Construction started in May 2014 and is 
expected to complete in approximately 12 
months’ time.

•	The extension of the Chiesi NEXThaler® supply 
contract requires the expansion of the currently 
allocated cleanroom capacity which houses 
the automated manufacturing lines. This will be 
accommodated by a reconfiguration and refit of 
current manufacturing facilities at King’s Lynn.

Regulatory and Quality
Bespak operates in a highly regulated 
environment with demanding quality and 
reliability expectations and requirements. Our 
quality and regulatory expertise is a key factor in 
our successful business model.

Our regulatory audit performance demonstrates 
that we reliably meet regulatory expectations. On 
our commercial manufacturing we consistently 
achieve a maximum defect level of 3.4 parts per 
million – the internationally accepted six sigma 
level of excellence, and we often exceed this 
level of performance.

We have well established regulatory 
competence, a key offering in our business 
model. We have accreditation under ISO 9001 
and, ISO 13485 for medical devices. We hold 
a licence to make clinical trials supplies, and 
in August 2013 we extended this competence 
with our first award of a licence which allows 
us to manufacture and supply fully completed 
pharmaceutical products at a commercial scale 
into the distribution network. This drug handling 
capability will enable us to produce finished 
product for Nicoventures as well as one of our 
nasal programmes currently in the development 
pipeline.

People
Our people are key to our current performance 
and will continue to be so as we seek to develop 
the business in the future. This year we have 
continued to develop our people and working 
environment on a number of fronts.

Growing our skills and management/leadership 
capabilities are core elements in delivering our 
planned growth. Training and development 
has continued in the year with the creation of a 
management development programme which 
will be delivered over the next 18 months. 
We have also expanded our apprenticeship 
programme, with the recruitment of four 
additional apprentices, and expect to add further 
recruits over the next year. 

We seek our employees’ input and views as 
to how we develop the Company in a number 
of ways on an ongoing basis. This year we 
conducted an Employee Survey, which was 
well supported with an 80% participation rate. 
We have identified important initiatives from the 
feedback which will generate improvements over 
the coming months.

As the business grows, the importance of 
strongly embedded and consistent values 
and behaviours grows as we seek to apply 
our successful business model in new and 
diversified products and services on a deeper 
and broader scale. This year we commissioned 
a cross functional team within the business to 
review and refine our Values. A communication 
and training programme has been launched to 
roll this out across all employees. The values are 
Customer Focus, Integrity, Respect, Team Work 
and Results Driven and will be the focus of how 
we manage the business.

Outlook
Consort Medical has delivered solid revenue 
growth in FY2014, translating to margin and 
earnings expansion from volume and operating 
leverage, from our solid core business. This 
has been driven from both existing and new 
business streams, in line with our strategy. 
We have grown our development pipeline and 
launched new business from it during the year. 
We have developed and unveiled new products 
and concepts from our Innovation pipeline. 
Trading in the current year has started well, and 
is in line with our expectations.

The Board is confident of further future organic 
growth arising from existing business, from further 
conversion of development pipeline programmes 
and from new opportunities, including the 
conversion of our innovation pipeline to full 
development programmes with partners. 

1  Financial performance metrics relate to continuing 
operations unless stated otherwise.

2  Cash flow performance metrics relate to continuing 
operations only and are before any cash paid relating 
to special items.

3  Working capital is defined as the total of inventory, trade 
and other receivables and trade and other payables.

Photograph:
Chiesi NEXThaler®
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Product Development 
We have a strong and diverse core business 
of products in volume manufacturing. In line 
with our strategy we have assembled a full and 
broad product development pipeline of organic 
growth opportunities, which will add to the 
strength of this core business going forwards. 
Successful conversion of these opportunities will 
provide progressive revenue and profit growth, 
in both contract manufacturing and products 
with our own proprietary IP and across a range 
of therapeutic areas including commercial drug 
handling.

Development Portfolio 
Our published development portfolio provides 
an update on the key business development 
projects in the business. We guide that for 
inclusion in the published portfolio, projects must 
have a reasonable expectation of success — 
though timescales are difficult to predict — and 
be expected to produce peak annual sales of at 
least £3m per annum. 

Within the current portfolio are two programmes 
which have the potential to be materially more 
significant in revenue terms if successful: the 
Nicoventures nicotine inhaler (DEV200) and 
the DEV610 DPI. These programmes are the 
object of significant investment currently, and 
have the potential to provide transformational 
organic growth beyond that normally expected of 
development projects.

In July 2013 we announced the award of a 
new development contract NAS030 for a novel 
patented nasal drug delivery device. This is the 
first development contract which has arisen out 
of an own-IP product innovation which originated 
in the Innovation Team in Cambridge — which 
was established just over three years ago. 

In February 2014 we celebrated the regulatory 
approval and launch of Bespak’s first auto-
injector which confirms Bespak’s capabilities in 
the injectables market.

The current status of the major programmes 
currently in our development pipeline is listed 
below:

The manufacturing line to support the assembly 
of the Atlas IOTM Cartridge (POC010) is 
complete, and pilot scale manufacture is 
underway to support the final device validation 
and regulatory clearance/CE marking phases 
of the project. The IOTM Cartridge will initially be 
available for diagnosis of chlamydia, though 
several other tests and combinations are already 
under development for the sub-30 minute IOTM 

System, both for Sexually Transmitted Infections 
(STIs) and Hospital Acquired Infections (HAIs).

VAL310 is undergoing regulatory approval 
and launch is now expected in H1 2015. On 
VAL020, stability trials have been extended by 
the customer and completion is now expected 
in H1 2015.

Chief  
Executive’s  
Review 
Development Portfolio

PROJECT DESCRIPTION CUSTOMER STATUS

INJ300

VAL310

INJ570

VAL020

DEV200

NAS020

❱❱ AUTO-INJECTOR ❱❱ DR REDDY’S 
LABORATORIES

❱❱ APPROVED AND LAUNCHED FEBRUARY 2014

❱❱ EASIFILL 
PRIMELESS VALVE

❱❱ US PHARMA ❱❱ AWAITING REGULATORY APPROVAL. 
LAUNCH NOW EXPECTED H1 2015

❱❱ AUTO-INJECTOR ❱❱ GLOBAL PHARMA ❱❱ AWAITING REGULATORY APPROVAL

❱❱ MDI VALVE ❱❱ GLOBAL PHARMA ❱❱ FINAL STABILITY TRIALS ONGOING.  
COMPLETION NOW EXPECTED H1 2015

❱❱ NICOTINE 
DELIVERY

❱❱ NICOVENTURES ❱❱ AWAITING REGULATORY APPROVAL 

❱❱ NASAL DEVICE ❱❱ GLOBAL GENERIC ❱❱ CONTINUED PROGRESS. LAUNCH STILL 
EXPECTED H1 2015

❱❱ NASAL DEVICE

POC010
❱❱ POC TEST 
CARTRIDGE

❱❱ ATLAS GENETICS ❱❱ MANUFACTURING LINE COMPLETE. CE MARK 
EXPECTED H1 2015

DEV610 ❱❱ DPI ❱❱ GLOBAL PHARMA ❱❱ GOOD PROGRESS. LAUNCH EXPECTED 
2015

NAS030 ❱❱ PHARMA CO. ❱❱ EARLY STAGE PROGRAMME

❱❱ PATCHPUMP® 
INFUSION SYSTEM 
FOR TREPOSTINEL

INJ600
❱❱ STEADYMED 
THERAPEUTICS INC.

❱❱ CONTRACT AWARDED JUNE 2014

DPI = DRY POWDER INHALER, MDI = METERED DOSE INHALER, POC = POINT OF CARE

Development 
Portfolio: 
Easifill Primeless 
Valve (VAL310)

•	Pressurised Metered Dose 
Inhaler Valve

•	Dose chamber is always open 
and fills simply by inverting  
the can

•	Traditional pMDIs need to  
be primed, wasting part/all of 
a dose

•	Patient compliance 
improvement as consistent 
dose every time

•	10 years in development: 
undergoing stability trials with 
first customer
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Development and  
Industrialisation process
Bespak operates in every phase of a device’s 
development life cycle, from early to late stage 
clinical trials, as well as post-launch where 
the business may become a second source 
of supply. Device suppliers who partner with 
customers whilst a product is in development 
invariably become the sole supplier at launch. 
Bespak’s preference is for early involvement 
where it is possible to apply greatest influence 
on the product design, not just to assure 
functional robustness but also to make it suitable 
for high volume manufacture. 

Whilst the overall approval timescales for drug 
delivery devices are long, the development 
lead times can be very aggressive in order to 
achieve clinical and launch deadlines. Bespak 
recognises that product development is an 
iterative process and it aspires to reduce the 
number of iterations required for a product, 
whilst progressing through each iteration as 
quickly as possible. In order to achieve this, 
the business has developed capabilities and 
competencies internally as well as having 
established a network of third party specialist 
suppliers. Internal capabilities include 3D CAD 
platforms (Unigraphics, ProE, SolidWorks, 
AutoCAD), mouldflow simulation, 3D printing 
(suitable for early stage functional evaluation), CT 
Scanning and an extensive laboratory capable 
of analytical and physical testing with both 
placebo and active ingredients. Bespak was an 
early investor in CT Scanning technology and it 
has proved pivotal in the diagnosis of discovery 
during product development. Rapid identification 
of root cause significantly reduces development 
iteration and reduces the associated lead times. 

Bespak has a proven track record in developing 
both proprietary products and products 
owned by others. The Easifill primeless valve 
is a proprietary product currently pending FDA 
approval via a lead customer. This product 
was designed to meet an unmet need in the 
market. Development increased the breadth 
of the organisation’s Intellectual Property 
portfolio whilst challenging and helping to 
evolve internal capabilities and competencies. 
Development progressed through pilot tooling 
and hand assembly with extensive laboratory 
product verification testing to determine iterative 
requirements to achieve robustness suitable for 
volume manufacture. The product is currently 
manufactured using multi-cavitation tooling 
and automated assembly with capacity in the 
millions. Variants of the Easifill valve are currently 
being sampled and evaluated by a range of 
other customers. 

Development Portfolio: 
Atlas Genetics io™ Cartridge 
(POC010)

•	Disposable cartridge for Atlas Genetics io™ System
•	Point of care diagnostic tests in under 30 minutes
•	 Initially in Sexually Transmitted Diseases (STDs) and Hospital Acquired 

Infections (HAIs)
•	Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) technology
•	Manufacturing line completed in King’s Lynn
•	Awaiting CE Mark approval H2 2014

On the Nicoventures programme, Bespak’s 
role is to support the ‘Design Authority’ not 
only to achieve the functional specification 
but to influence design such that the product 
is suitable for high volume manufacture. 
Bespak’s experience of drug/device interaction 
is critical to analysis of the root cause and 
solution generation. The product leverages 
Bespak’s check valve, metered dose inhaler 
valve technology and medical device product 
expertise making Bespak the ideal partner of 
choice.

In order to meet its customers’ new product 
industrialisation needs, Bespak has evolved 
a framework which is tailored to meet the 
individual requirements of each programme. A 
programme manager navigates the journey from 
entry into the business, through product and 
process development, to handover into routine 
operations. The process is risk based and 
whilst stages exist in series, they are often run 
in parallel to compress lead times. All activities 
are undertaken in full compliance with applicable 
guidelines and regulations.
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Chief  
Executive’s  
Review 
Innovation

Of particular note 
is the commercial 
unveiling of the 
Syrina® and 
Vapoursoft® 
technologies at  
the PDA exhibition  
in Basel.
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Innovation Pipeline
In July 2013, Bespak was awarded a 
development contract for a customer 
programme NAS030. This was particularly 
significant as this was the first programme to be 
awarded based on a patent protected device 
functionality developed entirely by the Innovation 
Centre in Cambridge. The programme is for 
a nasal device for an undisclosed drug and 
pharma customer.

In addition to NAS030, the Innovation team has 
continued to be highly active on a number of 
fronts over the past year. The team has now 
grown to 16 (9 at 30 June 2013), and is in 
the process of moving into its own facilities 
which will contain a laboratory and pilot scale 
manufacturing capability. 

Of particular note is the commercial unveiling of 
the Syrina® and Vapoursoft® technologies at 
the PDA exhibition in Basel in November 2013. 
These exciting and breakthrough technologies 
leverage Bespak’s expertise and IP in gas 
propulsion, and from auto-injector Intellectual 
Property (IP), and combine them in a family of 
highly innovative next-generation auto-injectors. 
The IP for this platform of products has been 
filed, and product demonstrations have been 
enthusiastically received by potential customers. 

Innovation: 

•	Lila Duo allows separation and 
sequential delivery of two or 
more drugs stored in a single 
standard primary pack

•	This can be used to deliver 
multiple vaccines, local 
anaesthetics, antidote delivery 
or two separate products 
insufficiently stable when 
mixed together

Lila Duo®
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The Innovation team also unveiled the Lila® pre-
filled syringe which incorporates a novel valve 
technology configurable as either a stopper or a 
drug separation option.

The team is in discussions on a number of early 
stage opportunities, including potential customer 
applications for Syrina® and Lila®.

Innovation Process
We have developed a range of “service” 
offerings and business models that are focused 
on meeting the needs of the market. This has 
involved building a team, drawn from a variety of 
backgrounds, and providing appropriate facilities 
in Cambridge.

With a larger team now in place we are making 
good progress in identifying unmet or unsatisfied 
market needs and generating viable concepts 
that meet the expectations of all parties involved 
with a drug device, including the patient, clinician 

and our Life Sciences partner. We are also 
looking at aspects of the supply chain and the 
drug as opportunities to innovate. Through this 
effort, we have a full pipeline of development 
projects from simple functional elements 
through to full product developments and clearly 
identified opportunities that exist for both our 
“opportunity discovery” and “Innovation on 
Demand” offerings. 

The innovation process starts by investigating 
potential opportunities and using our four 
stage-gate process, and results in robust 
concepts that we know meet unsatisfied need 
and equally importantly will be reproducible in 
high volume manufacture. The primary objective 
of the process is to minimise the overall risk 
(commercial, user, pharmaceutical and technical) 
through early targeted mitigation activities, 
thereby maximising the chances of success 
once the product is in the market. 

Innovation: 
Bespak’s innovative range  
of injection devices

•	Range of innovative injection devices that utilise Bespak’s proven valve 
technology

•	A truly versatile platform technology – ranging from simple assisted 
syringes to fully functioning auto-injectors

•	Complete flexibility – the same physical device is easily configured to 
handle different viscosities, formulations, needle gauges, drugs and 
delivery volumes

•	The range offers a real solution for large volumes and viscous drugs, 
including biologics

We do not offer a one size fits all process; we 
listen to our clients and have taken the approach 
of creating a series of proven functional building 
blocks rather than developing a fixed device that 
solves a given specific problem. This approach 
provides the flexibility to meet the needs of our 
clients in two ways: opportunity discovery and 
Innovation on Demand.

Opportunity discovery allows us to build device 
solutions that will satisfy the needs of our clients 
and identify new needs as well as those that 
are not met in the current market. For instance 
there is a trend towards larger volume delivery 
of more viscous drugs. In response to this 
we have developed drug delivery techniques 
that enable these challenges to be overcome. 
This delivery technology combined with our 
other functional building blocks has enabled 
us to develop a range of five injection devices 
from a simple assisted injector — the Syrina® 
Micro, through to the sophisticated Syrina® 
AI which inserts the needle, delivers the drug, 
waits a short period of time to allow the drug 
to disperse before retracting and informs the 
patient that the process is complete and that the 
needle is safely shielded. Our Vapoursoft® gas 
propulsion system powers the injector with soft 
steady pressure, replacing the use of springs 
and overcoming the shortcomings of spring-
powered injection in patient outcomes — such 
as physical impact, acute pain from rate of 
injection, and glass breakage. The next step is 
to work with our partners to embody this into a 
fully functional device that meets the needs of a 
specific patient group.

Innovation on Demand is showing its value as 
a service offering. We can use our increasing 
range of basic building blocks to solve the very 
specific challenges encountered by the client. 
This requires working closely with our clients and 
discussing those “difficult-to-solve” challenges. 
As an example, a client has a drug that consists 
of two viscous, liquid components that need 
mixing moments before injection but must be 
kept separate prior to this. The aim was to find 
a single device solution that was both easy to 
use and convenient for the clinician and patient 
alike. Armed with this brief and within four weeks 
of discussing the problem, the Innovation team 
was able to produce a working demonstrator of 
a potential device. This was a combination of 
proven functional elements and novel elements, 
and satisfied the basic requirements of our 
client. We are now working with the client to 
produce a more robust demonstrator.

Jonathan Glenn 
Chief Executive
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The Group’s 
adjusted EPS  
from continuing 
operations 
increased by 8.5%.

Key 
Performance 
Indicators

Strategic Aim KPI FY2014 FY2013 Explanation narrative

❱❱ FIT FOR PURPOSE

OPERATING 
LEVERAGE FROM 
GROWTH, AND 

ONGOING COST 
EFFICIENCY

Lost time accidents per 100,000 hours 
The Group reviews lost time accidents per 100,000 hours as a 
key measure of health and safety performance. 0.31 0.32

Lost time accidents per 100,000 hours remained flat year on year. 
The safety and well-being of our staff and all visitors to our facilities remains a top priority for 
everyone within the business.

Health and safety is critical to the continued operation of a fit for purpose business. 

Sales per employee 
The Group reviews the level of sales it achieves against its 
headcount to demonstrate ongoing cost efficiency is maintained 
alongside current growth and expansion plans. 152.2 152.1

Revenue per employee is slightly up at £152.2k as average headcount has increased from 625 to 
657 in the year, in line with the revenue increase of £5.0m.

In addition to growing our revenues we have invested in indirect staff to support product 
development.

NEW PRODUCT 
PORTFOLIO TO 
DRIVE REVENUE 

GROWTH

❱❱ SUSTAINED ORGANIC 
REVENUE GROWTH

DIVERSIFICATION 
INTO ADJACENT 
MARKETS AND 
TERRITORIES

HIGHER VALUE 
BUSINESS 
MODELS

New products (development portfolio)
The Group maintains a portfolio of opportunities and monitors 
their progression towards commercial launch.

9 9

The current development portfolio now includes 9 items as a result of the following changes 
during the year:

 — removal of INJ300, following the successful launch of the auto-injector confirming the Group’s 
capabilities in the injectables market;

 — the termination of NAS010 by the customer; 

 — the award of the NAS030 development contract, the first programme to be awarded based 
on a patent protected device invented and developed entirely by the Innovation Team in 
Cambridge; and

 — the award of the INJ600 development contract for a novel PatchPump® infusion device for 
parenteral delivery of liquid drugs. The award is significant in validation of our expertise and 
growing presence in the injectables sector.

Market diversification (revenue from non-MDI products)
Revenue from non-MDI products is reviewed to assess the 
extent to which the Group has diversified revenues from the core 
respiratory MDI business. £42.1m £35.1m

Revenue from non-MDI products has increased by £7.0m in the current year as a result of the 
growing dry powder inhaler business highlighted by the launch of the Chiesi NEXThaler® and the 
commercial supply contract for DEV610 and an increase in revenue from other sources including 
nicotine delivery and injectables. 

Growth and investment (operating cash flow)
The Group reviews operating cash flow (defined as cash from 
operations less capital expenditure) as a percentage of operation 
profit before special items to understand the relationship between 
trading, cash and capital investment.

16.1% 101.9%

In the current year the Group’s conversion of operating profit into cash inflows has reduced to 
16.1% as a function of the significant capital investment made in respect of the DEV200 and 
DEV610 programmes as we invest in future growth opportunities.

SELECTIVE 
ACQUISITIONS

AND 
INVESTMENTS

❱❱ ENHANCEMENT Shareholder value 
The Group reviews EPS from continuing operations before special 
items to assess the level of return generated for investors in the 
period.

48.3p 44.5p

The Group’s adjusted EPS from continuing operations increased by 8.5% in the year reflecting 
an increased return for shareholders driven by the organic growth in the Group’s operating profit 
performance and the reduced interest charges following the settlement of the debt post the 
disposal of King Systems.
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Strategic Aim KPI FY2014 FY2013 Explanation narrative

❱❱ FIT FOR PURPOSE

OPERATING 
LEVERAGE FROM 

GROWTH, AND 
ONGOING COST 

EFFICIENCY

Lost time accidents per 100,000 hours 
The Group reviews lost time accidents per 100,000 hours as a 
key measure of health and safety performance. 0.31 0.32

Lost time accidents per 100,000 hours remained flat year on year. 
The safety and well-being of our staff and all visitors to our facilities remains a top priority for 
everyone within the business.

Health and safety is critical to the continued operation of a fit for purpose business. 

Sales per employee 
The Group reviews the level of sales it achieves against its 
headcount to demonstrate ongoing cost efficiency is maintained 
alongside current growth and expansion plans. 152.2 152.1

Revenue per employee is slightly up at £152.2k as average headcount has increased from 625 to 
657 in the year, in line with the revenue increase of £5.0m.

In addition to growing our revenues we have invested in indirect staff to support product 
development.

NEW PRODUCT 
PORTFOLIO TO 
DRIVE REVENUE 

GROWTH

❱❱ SUSTAINED ORGANIC 
REVENUE GROWTH

DIVERSIFICATION 
INTO ADJACENT 
MARKETS AND 
TERRITORIES

HIGHER VALUE 
BUSINESS 
MODELS

New products (development portfolio)
The Group maintains a portfolio of opportunities and monitors 
their progression towards commercial launch.

9 9

The current development portfolio now includes 9 items as a result of the following changes 
during the year:

 — removal of INJ300, following the successful launch of the auto-injector confirming the Group’s 
capabilities in the injectables market;

 — the termination of NAS010 by the customer; 

 — the award of the NAS030 development contract, the first programme to be awarded based 
on a patent protected device invented and developed entirely by the Innovation Team in 
Cambridge; and

 — the award of the INJ600 development contract for a novel PatchPump® infusion device for 
parenteral delivery of liquid drugs. The award is significant in validation of our expertise and 
growing presence in the injectables sector.

Market diversification (revenue from non-MDI products)
Revenue from non-MDI products is reviewed to assess the 
extent to which the Group has diversified revenues from the core 
respiratory MDI business. £42.1m £35.1m

Revenue from non-MDI products has increased by £7.0m in the current year as a result of the 
growing dry powder inhaler business highlighted by the launch of the Chiesi NEXThaler® and the 
commercial supply contract for DEV610 and an increase in revenue from other sources including 
nicotine delivery and injectables. 

Growth and investment (operating cash flow)
The Group reviews operating cash flow (defined as cash from 
operations less capital expenditure) as a percentage of operation 
profit before special items to understand the relationship between 
trading, cash and capital investment.

16.1% 101.9%

In the current year the Group’s conversion of operating profit into cash inflows has reduced to 
16.1% as a function of the significant capital investment made in respect of the DEV200 and 
DEV610 programmes as we invest in future growth opportunities.

SELECTIVE 
ACQUISITIONS

AND 
INVESTMENTS

❱❱ ENHANCEMENT Shareholder value 
The Group reviews EPS from continuing operations before special 
items to assess the level of return generated for investors in the 
period.

48.3p 44.5p

The Group’s adjusted EPS from continuing operations increased by 8.5% in the year reflecting 
an increased return for shareholders driven by the organic growth in the Group’s operating profit 
performance and the reduced interest charges following the settlement of the debt post the 
disposal of King Systems.
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Consort Medical 
delivered strong 
financial performance 
in the year with the 
organic revenue 
growth translating 
strongly into growth 
in operating margin, 
EBITDA and  
adjusted EPS.

Financial 
Review

Photography inset:
Richard Cotton

Consort Medical delivered strong financial 
performance in the year, with the organic 
revenue growth translating strongly into growth 
in operating margin, EBITDA and adjusted 
EPS. As expected, the year saw significant 
investment for future growth as expected, 
with expanded capital expenditure to facilitate 
major development programmes, including the 
DEV200 Nicoventures programme, and further 
expansion of our Innovation Team resources 
in Cambridge. We expect further significant 
investment in the coming months to complete 
the Nicoventures investment; provide the 
additional plant and equipment to facilitate the 
DEV610 commercial supply; and the extension 
of the Chiesi NEXThaler® contract. These 
commitments can be met comfortably from the 
Group’s existing financial resources.

Income Statement1

Revenue grew 5.2% to £100.0m (FY2013: 
£95.0m). Operating profit before special items 
increased by £0.7m (4.0%) to £18.8m (FY2013: 
£18.1m). Profit before tax before special 
items increased by £1.6m (10.1%) to £17.5m 
(FY2013: £15.9m). Profit before tax after special 
items increased by £1.7m (12.1%) to £16.1m 
(FY2013: £14.4m). Profit after tax before special 
items increased by £1.1m (8.9%) to £13.9m 
(FY2013: £12.8m).

Adjusted EPS increased by 8.5% to 48.3p per 
share (FY2013: 44.5p). Basic EPS increased by 
25.1% to 47.4p per share (FY2013: 37.9p). 

Taxation1

The tax charge before special items was £3.6m 
resulting in an effective rate of 20.6% (FY2013: 
19.7%), as set out in note 10 to the financial 
statements. The tax credit on special items was 
£1.1m (FY2013: tax charge £0.4m). The total 
tax charge was £2.5m (FY2013: £3.5m).

In the year legislation was enacted to allow 
UK companies to elect for the Research and 
Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC) on 
qualifying expenditure incurred since 1 April 
2013, instead of the existing super-deduction 
rules. The Group elected to adopt the RDEC 
regime and an R&D tax credit of £0.3m was 
realised through EBIT in the period.

The Group is evaluating the provisions of the 
UK Government’s Patent Box regime and its 
potential applicability to the Bespak business 
and, as a result of the uncertainty that exists, 
has not currently assumed any benefit that may 
arise.

1  Financial performance metrics relate to continuing 
operations unless stated otherwise.
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Dividend
The Board is proposing a final dividend per 
share of 13.35p (FY2013: 12.71p) such that the 
total dividend for the period amounts to 20.70p 
(FY2013: 19.71p) as set out in note 12 to the 
financial statements. The final dividend will be 
paid on 24 October 2014 to shareholders on the 
register on 19 September 2014. Dividend cover, 
based on earnings before special items, was 
2.35 times (FY2013: 2.8 times).

Special Items from Continuing 
Operations
Special items from continuing operations 
of £0.3m include £0.8m of amortisation of 
intangible assets created on the acquisition 
of The Medical House in 2009 and £0.6m of 
acquisition related expenses offset by a related 
tax credit of £1.1m. The application of the lower 
tax rate to deferred tax liabilities (23% to 20%) 
creates a £0.9 million credit in tax treated as 
special. See note 6 to the financial statements.

Discontinued Operations
On 15 February 2013, Consort Medical 
completed the sale of King Systems to Ambu 
A/S, the results of which are reported within 
discontinued operations. At the time of sale, 
contingent consideration mechanisms were 
agreed as a central element of the value 
realisation from the disposal. The first of these 
was a £5.9m (US$10.0m) lump sum payment 
upon the launch of the King Vision next 
generation blade. This was received in May 
2014 following successful product launch. A 
further US$2.3m expected was received on 
4 June 2014 representing the amount due in 
respect of the FY2014 King Vision sales. 

At 30 April 2014 the contingent consideration 
had a fair value of £11.2m as described in note 
26. The special item in discontinued operations 
in the Income Statement of £0.7m represents 
the movement in fair value of this receivable of 
£0.5m due to foreign exchange, the  
re-phasing of sales assumptions partially offset 
by unwinding of the discount, and share-based 
payment charges of £0.2m.

In the prior year the Group reported revenue 
from discontinued operations of £34.5m 
and profit before tax and special items from 
discontinued operations of £3.4m reflecting the 
trading results of King Systems prior to disposal.

REVENuE BY PRODuCT TYPE 2014 (%)

Respiratory — MDI
Respiratory — DPI
Other

57.9

30.6

11.5

REVENuE BY PRODuCT TYPE 2013 (%)

Respiratory — MDI
Respiratory — DPI
Other

63.0

29.4

7.6

Investment in Atlas Genetics Ltd
In April 2014, the Group made a further 
investment of £0.4m in Atlas Genetics Ltd. This 
was the third tranche of the funding. The Group 
previously invested £1.2m in February 2011, 
£1.4m in July 2011 and £1.1m in July 2013. 
The Group’s total investment to date now stands 
at £4.1m as set out in note 16 to the financial 
statements. The Group now holds 17.4% of the 
equity, or 15.5% on a fully diluted basis. The 
other equity partners include Novartis Venture 
Funds, Johnson & Johnson Development 
Corporation, Life Science Partners and BB 
Biotech Ventures. 

Substantial progress has been made in the last 
year in the Point-of-Care card development 
— in conjunction with Bespak — and with the 
development of the card reader and assay tests.

Bespak has retained its long-term manufacturing 
rights to the disposable card used in the Atlas 
system and continues with an arm’s length 
development contract to design for manufacture 
and scale up production of the disposable card. 
The Group will continue to account for Atlas as 
an equity investment in the accounts of Consort 
Medical.

Inorganic Investment
Following the sale of King Systems in February 
2013, the Group has significant cash resources 
available to invest in relevant and value 
enhancing investments and acquisitions. Such 
acquisitions would be appraised against strict 
criteria for closeness of strategic fit, availability, 
integration, valuation and the potential for  
value-creation.
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Balance Sheet
The Group continues to have significant 
available cash resources with year-end net 
cash at £25.8m (FY2013: net cash £37.0m), 
with headroom of £73.3m under its undrawn 
banking facility, and a further £25.0m available 
under the accordion facility. Gross assets were 
£143.7m (FY2013: £142.5m). The pension 
deficit decreased to £2.1m (FY2013: £11.8m) 
and is reviewed separately below. Provisions 
fell from £2.6m at the beginning of the period 
to £2.4m at 30 April 2014 following the Group’s 
exit from its onerous property lease as described 
in note 6, net of an increase in Employee Benefit 
provisions for share based payments.

Cash Flow, Financing and Liquidity2

Cash generated from operations decreased by 
£5.8m to £19.2m (FY2013: £25.0m). EBITDA 
before special items increased by £0.4m (2.0%) 
to £24.4m (FY2013: £23.9m). Working capital3 
increased by £4.0m to £24.1m (FY2013: 
£20.1m) mainly due to lower capital expenditure 
creditors related to timing of major programme 
investments.

Capital expenditure of £16.3m (FY2013: £6.9m) 
was higher than the previous year as major 
programme investments were commissioned 
and installed. The ongoing investment required 

for this programme and the DEV610 programme 
can be met comfortably from the Group’s 
existing financial resources. 

The Group’s principal bank facilities continue to 
be with the Royal Bank of Scotland (RBS) and 
HSBC in the form of two revolving credit facilities 
(RCFs). The first RCF is for US$56m (undrawn at 
30 April 2014) and the second RCF is for £40m 
(also undrawn at 30 April 2014). These facilities 
total £73.3m and will both expire in November 
2016. Margins are between 2–3% over LIBOR 
depending upon the ratio of net debt to EBITDA 
prevailing at the time. A non-utilisation fee of 
40% of the interest margin on the undrawn 
balance applies. 

Under the terms of the refinancing, the Group 
also has a £25m “accordion” facility, by which 
further facilities may be made available by RBS 
and HSBC under the current terms to support 
significant investment or acquisition opportunities 
which may arise.

The Group maintains levels of sterling cash 
sufficient to meet imminent obligations and to 
be a reserve in case of an adverse event. These 
funds are invested with a range of reputable 
financial institutions approved by the Board. 

Financial 
Review
continued

GROuP CASH FLOW 

£m
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0.0
Net cash -

30 Apr 2013
Cash generated
from operations

(before special items)

Capital 
expenditure

Interest 
and tax

Equity issued 
less own shares 

purchased

Investment 
in Atlas

Dividends Special items 
& discontinued 

operations

37.0

19.2 (16.3)

(4.1)
(2.6)

(1.1)

Net cash
30 Apr 2014

25.8

(5.8)(0.4)

60.0

2  Cash flow performance metrics relate to continuing operations only and are before any cash paid relating to 
special items.

3  Working capital is defined as the total of inventory, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables.
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With net cash on the balance sheet, the 
Group clearly remains comfortably within both 
its headroom and its covenants. Taking into 
account the cash balances available, the total 
headroom at the period end was £99.1m 
(FY2013: £113.0m).

Foreign Currency Exposure
The Group monitors its foreign currency 
exposures carefully and seeks to mitigate all 
material transactional exposures. The Group 
currently has low exposure to movements in 
the Euro and US dollar movements. Where 
necessary we buy or sell forward currency to 
protect current period transactions. 

Pension Scheme
Bespak operates a defined benefit pension 
scheme in the UK that is closed to new 
employees, who are eligible to join a defined 
contribution pension scheme (see note 21 to the 
financial statements). 

As at 30 April 2014, the IAS19 deficit was 
£2.1m compared with £11.8m as at 30 April 
2013. The movement was primarily as a result of 
favourable movements in discount rates and a 
review of other assumptions. 

The Group completed its last triennial actuarial 
revaluation of the pension scheme as at 30 April 
2011, at which point the pension scheme was 
in a small actuarial surplus. The next triennial 
actuarial valuation takes place as at 30 April 
2014 and is currently in progress. Since the last 
triennial valuation in 2011, prevailing discount 
rates have worsened, and it is expected that the 
revaluation may have worsened on this basis.

Risk Management
The Group considers effective risk management 
to be a high priority. Specific risk management 
activities are reviewed on pages 22-23 of the 
Annual Report. We are pleased to report that 
the Group incurred no material financial or 
business losses despite the riskier economic 
and business environment.

Richard Cotton 
Chief Financial Officer

REVENuE BY CuSTOMER 2014 (%)

Top 5 customers
Next 5 customers
Other customers

55.9

15.9

28.2

REVENuE BY CuSTOMER 2013 (%)

Top 5 customers
Next 5 customers
Other customers

62.1

11.6

26.3
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Principal 
Risks & 
Uncertainties

Risk Controls and Mitigating Actions Trend

Product quality failure: The Group operates in highly 
regulated markets with strict quality requirements. 
Any quality failure involving the Group’s products 
could lead to loss of reputation, reduction in 
revenues, recall costs or sanction by the regulators.

The Group has rigorous quality assurance processes. Incoming raw materials are 
analysed, production processes are controlled, with automated checks by vision systems 
and metrology, and products are sampled for testing prior to release.

Reliance upon key customers/products: Bespak 
has a degree of reliance on a relatively small number 
of key customers/products, and the loss of one 
such customer/product could lead to a significant 
reduction in revenues.

The Group has significant intellectual property and there are significant barriers to entry. 
Regulation often restricts customers’ ability to transfer business elsewhere, and there 
is seldom loss of business once approved on a customer programme. We maintain a 
close dialogue with all of our customers. Our strategy of diversification has opened up 
a broader range of products and customers, and is progressively diluting this reliance 
through growth with other customers/products.

Regulatory risk: The operations of the Group are 
subject to various regulatory requirements which 
confer a degree of protection as well as an element of 
compliance risk, in particular to delivering growth.

A strong compliance regime is in place and regular reviews and audits take place, not 
only by regulatory bodies such as the FDA but also by customers. Bespak is ISO13485 
accredited and operates SAP in all its main processes, and has recently expanded its 
externally recognised regulatory competence in acquiring commercial and clinical trials 
licences for drug handling.

Development risk: The Group is developing a range 
of products at any time, any of which may fail in 
clinical trials, be stopped by the customer or may not 
become commercially successful once launched.

The Group follows rigorous processes for the development of new products. Where 
possible, it is developing the technology as a platform for multiple programmes to reduce 
the exposure to any individual trial. Development and industrialisation of medical devices 
is considered a core competence of the Group.

Growth risk: Bespak has been successful in 
acquiring an extensive product development portfolio, 
which places significantly increased demands for 
resources on the business.

The business has well-honed programme planning and management systems and 
processes. These provide good visibility of resource requirements, whether capital, 
space, equipment or people, and enable timely fulfilment on multiple parallel programmes.

Cyber risk: Cyber crime is increasing in 
sophistication, consequences and incidence, with 
risks including virus ‘infection’, unauthorised access 
(hacking), and phishing email-based frauds.

The Group has conducted a cyber security risk assessment and identified mitigating 
actions and training to reduce the risks. Continual vigilance and training are required to 
mitigate risks, as perpetrators are creative and dynamic on a wide spectrum of strategies.

Our performance and prospects may be affected by  
risks and uncertainties relating to our business and 
operating environment. 
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Risk Controls and Mitigating Actions Trend

Credit risk The Group has implemented policies and processes that require appropriate credit 
checks to be made on potential customers before sales over certain limits are agreed. 
Credit limits and outstanding receivables are reviewed monthly and action taken if a new 
risk is identified. The Group has an excellent record on collection of receivables. The 
Group monitors the levels of cash held with financial institutions and the credit rating of 
those institutions in order to manage the credit risk on cash balances.

Interest rate risk The Group is not currently subject to interest rate risk on its revolving bank facility, as it 
is currently undrawn. The Group’s policy is to convert a large portion of any floating rate 
debt into fixed rate debt using interest rate swaps, to mitigate the risk of adverse effects 
from a rise in interest rates.

Currency risk The Group is a sterling denominated Group which has a minor element of its income and 
costs in US dollars and Euros. It has a hedging strategy to contract forward for known 
exposures to reduce the impact of currency fluctuation. Currency exposures are reviewed 
regularly on a monthly basis.

Liquidity risk The Group has strong cash flows, and good earnings visibility ensures that its margins 
are sufficient to exceed normal operating costs. Its business is cash-generative, and 
there are well embedded cash and working capital management processes. Currently the 
Group has no borrowings, but has £74.3m of committed facilities in place until 2016.

Pension risk The Group works closely with the Pension Trustees to ensure that the Defined Benefit 
Scheme is adequately funded and that the assets are invested appropriately to meet 
future liabilities as they fall due. The Scheme was closed to new members in 2002, and 
was in surplus at the last actuarial valuation in 2011, though this may change before the 
next triennial valuation in 2014.

Key:

Risk increase Risk decrease Risk unchanged

Our internal controls include risk management processes to identify key risks, and where possible to manage those risks through systems and 
processes, and by implementing specific mitigation strategies. The most significant risks identified through our progressive review of the risk 
register that could materially affect the Group’s ability to achieve its financial and operating objectives are summarised in this section. Other risks 
are either unknown or deemed less material.
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We remain committed to ensuring that our 
business is conducted in a responsible manner 
across our key focus areas of: health and safety, 
environmental management, our people, ethical 
business practices and how we interact and 
support our local communities. We aim to deliver 
continuous improvement across each of these 
areas, and where possible, embed responsible 
practices into everyday business activity.

Governance For over four years we have 
convened regular meetings of our Corporate 
Responsibility (CR) Committee, chaired by 
non-executive director Ian Nicholson. These 
meetings are attended by senior leaders from 
across the Group, with the aim to review current 
performance, and challenge the business in 
meeting future targets and objectives across our 
focus areas.

Following a CR materiality assessment, we 
developed a framework to help identify and guide 
our responsible business practices. The key 
focus areas of our framework cover:

•	Health and Safety — ensuring the safety and 
well-being of our staff 

•	Environment — managing our environmental 
impact areas of waste, energy and water

•	Employees — supporting our people to 
develop and flourish within the business

•	Ethical standards —operating to the highest 
ethical standards

•	Community — positive interaction with the 
communities in which we operate

Corporate 
Responsibility 
remains a priority 
across the key 
areas of Health and 
Safety, Community, 
Employees, 
Environment and 
Ethical Standards.

Corporate 
Responsibility

Summary of our key achievements
Performance 
vs target

Health and Safety

Achieved target of three or less lost time accidents in the financial year

Environment

Reduced our energy consumption by 13.6% vs FY2011 – Target 15.0% 

Exceeded waste diverted from landfill/incineration target of >92% 

Exceeded water consumption reduction target of 30% vs FY2011

Employees 

Increased the percentage of female employees from 27.4% to 29.5%

Completed an employee satisfaction survey

Established a Sixth Form work experience programme

Exceeded employee training target of 1,000 days per annum

Increased the total number of apprenticeships from six to eight

Community

Continued involvement and sponsorship of Grand East Anglian Run (GEAR)

Selected two Corporate Charities of the Year

Ethical Standards

Completed Group-wide review of our Company values

Integrated the assessment of Ethical, Health, Safety and Environmental standards into our 
supplier approval process
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Stakeholder Engagement We initially focused 
on engaging with employees to ensure we 
have internal buy-in to our activities, appropriate 
governance structures and a shared vision. 
Generating ideas and innovating on the shop floor 
have been key to our success and we continue 
to encourage individuals to take ownership and 
responsibility of this agenda. Over the past couple 
of years we have become more outward-facing 
in our engagement activities, recognising the 
importance of developing shared solutions with 
our key partners. This includes engaging with our 
customers, suppliers and local communities.    

Our Performance We continue to see our 
performance maturing across each of our focus 
areas. This progress can be attributed to strong 
leadership, ownership at the business unit level 
and greater understanding of the business 
benefits this area can deliver. A summary of 
performance against each of our focus areas is 
highlighted below.

Health and Safety 
The safety and well-being of our staff and all 
visitors to our facilities remains a priority for 
everyone within the business. We continue to 
focus on all aspects of health and safety, with 
a special emphasis on those areas with the 
potential to cause serious harm. 

We continue to focus on the prevention of 
accidents and incidents through the proactive 
reporting of potential hazards. This has been 
achieved via our Near Miss system which 
gives all employees the ability to raise potential 
hazards before they have the opportunity to 
cause an injury.  We recorded a total of 1,062 
near misses in FY2014 (an average of 89 per 
month). This increase (from an average of 55 per 
month in FY2013) can be attributed to various 
changes across the business; more specifically 
the increase in management interaction and 
promotion of health and safety within the 
operational areas. Initiatives including focused 
safety inspections, with monitored action follow-
up, have made a significant difference.

We have completed a major investment in 
improved machine-guarding at Bespak’s Nelson 
site, and have recruited extra specialist health 
and safety expertise at Nelson to strengthen and 
improve health and safety management systems.

Environment
Activity to reduce our environmental impact is 
focused on environmental management, energy 
reduction, minimisation of waste and diversion of 
waste from landfill and water conservation.

Environmental Management 
(ISO14001)
Bespak was successfully re-certified in March 
2013 to the Environmental Management System 
ISO14001. Our ongoing focus under ISO14001 
is to reduce our generation of waste materials, 
reduce our energy use and the consumption 
of water, whilst maintaining compliance with the 
appropriate environmental legislation.

The key area of focus remains improving the 
robustness of management review and the 
integration and embedding of the environmental 
objectives at every level within the organisation.

Energy
Despite seeing business growth our energy 
consumption per kwh/£000 sale has reduced 
from 395 in FY2013 to 378 in FY2014. Instead 
of appointing a full time Energy Manager we 
engaged the services of consultants, E2 Energy 
Management Services, through the reporting 
period. This has resulted in comprehensive expert 
surveys being undertaken across Bespak which 
in turn has resulted in a plan and a commitment 
to invest further capital at both King’s Lynn 
and Nelson with the intent to reduce energy 
consumption.

Specific activities which are to be targeted 
include:

•	Compressed air optimisation

•	High voltage optimisation

•	Building Management System (BMS) and 
Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning 
(HVAC) optimisation

•	Steam generation optimisation – specifically 
at our Nelson facility which has contributed 
adversely to the KPI throughout FY2014

Photograph:
Manual hand assembly operation within a cleanroom 
(cleanroom assembly).

FAST FACT

29.5%
percentage of 

female employees
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The following chart illustrates our performance in 
reducing energy consumption from the FY2011 
baseline year. 

ENERGY CONSuMPTION KWH/£’000

Energy consumption reduction

460.0

440.0

420.0

400.0

380.0

360.0

340.0
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions
The table below shows the greenhouse gas 
emissions from all sources required under the 
Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and 
Directors’ Reports) Regulations 2013, over which 
we have operational control. Emissions outside of 
our responsibility including shared office locations 
have not been included.

Emissions from: Tonnes of CO2e

Scope 1

Combustion of fuel 1,851.6

Operation of facilities 4,406.6

Scope 2

Import of electricity and 
other energy sources 14,304.5

Total emissions 20,562.7

Intensity ratio
Per £’000 sales
Per number of  
employees

0.21

25.01

The scope and methodology is based on 
the GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and 
Reporting Standard (revised edition). Data 
has been sourced from Company records, 
contractors’ reports and supplier invoices. The 
emissions factors for all sources are taken from 
DEFRA’s GHG Conversion Factors for Company 
Reporting 2013.

Waste
We continue to improve the management of 
our waste, and from our FY2011 baseline have 
increased the amount we divert from landfill/
incineration to 93% of total waste generated, 
which is ahead of target. This has come about 
through a focus on waste segregation at source 
and waste minimisation activities delivered 
through a number of quality management 
initiatives.

Activities to reduce our waste include the 
development of area waste maps which will help 
to deliver future waste reduction activities. These 
maps highlight localised hotspots for waste 
generation and result in localised proposals and 
plans for waste reduction.

At our Nelson site we have committed to a 
programme to optimise the use of incoming 
material used for pressing which will yield 
significant reductions in total scrap metal 
generated.

WASTE DIVERTED FROM LANDFILL/INCINERATION %

Waste diverted from landfill/incineration from baseline year FY2011
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Corporate 
Responsibility
continued
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Water 
Our water reduction activities are focused on the 
opportunities at our Nelson site, which accounts 
for approximately 90% of all water consumed 
within Bespak. Since initiating a programme of 
water reduction in FY2012 the Nelson facilities 
have reduced consumption by more than 50,000 
cubic metres, which represents a reduction in 
the cubic metre per £000 sales of 30.4% vs the 
FY2011 baseline. Improved performance has 
come through the introduction of sub-metering, 
employee awareness, control and ownership 
of overall water usage. Water management 
consultants are to be employed to seek further 
savings and this activity will be reflected in the 
targets for FY2015.

The following chart illustrates our performance in 
reducing water consumption from the FY2011 
baseline year.

WATER CONSuMPTION Cu. M / £K

Water consumption reduction
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Employees
We remain focused on supporting and developing 
our people through training, communications 
and two-way engagement channels. Employees 
shared their views about the Company’s progress 
through our employee survey. There was an 
80% participation rate. Survey results were 
communicated to all employees at a Town Hall 
meeting and will be used by each function to 
address areas for improvement.

Training and Development
We continue to recognise the importance of 
investing in our people and nurturing their talents 
to the benefit of the business. We want to build 
the capability of managers to develop their teams, 
create a values-based culture and enhance their 
management skills. Bespak managers have been 
actively involved in the scoping of a Management 
Development Programme in collaboration with 
an external partner. Our aim is for all managers 
to be equipped with the skills, knowledge and 
behaviours that will enable successful delivery of 
the business strategy and goals. In this respect, 
it is expected that some 60 Bespak managers 
will undertake the management development 
programme.

The programme consists of 15 half-day 
workshops to be delivered in-house over a  
15 to 18 month period. The programme will 
include pre-course work, a post-course practical 
activity and Action Learning with the opportunity to 
gain an Institute of Leadership and Management 
(ILM) level 3 qualification.

Apprenticeship Scheme 
In FY2014 Bespak recruited four additional 
apprentices onto an apprenticeship training 
programme. This brought the total number of 
apprentices at Bespak to seven in addition to 
one apprentice who completed her training 
programme during the financial year. In FY2015 
our aim is to recruit a further eight apprentices, 
increasing our total number of apprentices to 15.  
Our objective is to develop high quality, well 
trained and motivated individuals with externally 
recognised qualifications and Bespak specific 
knowledge, skills and competencies. Bespak 
currently supports apprenticeship training 
programmes in the following career pathways: 
Warehousing and Storage, Customer Service, 
Information Technology, and in Engineering, 
Technical Support, Toolmaking, Maintenance and 
Plastic Injection Moulding. 

Lauren Nurse 
Current Role: Engineering Technical Support Apprentice

Apprenticeship Programme 
Pathway: Engineering Technical Support
Start Date: Aug 2013
Completion Date: Aug 2017

I am currently six months into my apprenticeship 
and so far really enjoying all the new experiences. I 
decided that an apprenticeship was the right route for me to  
take after completing two years at Sixth Form, where I achieved my A-levels in 
maths, product design, physics, and art. I love practical hands-on work, but also 
understanding the theories behind it, and felt that an apprenticeship in engineering with 
Bespak would suit me well. 

As I am currently in my first year of the apprenticeship, I am training off-site with a 
specialist industrial training provider. This does mean some early mornings as we travel 
back and forth to Norwich each day, but they are well worth it as the practical skills I 
am learning will be invaluable in my future career. We are fortunate enough to have the 
opportunity to train and pick up a huge variety of new skills, starting from the basics in 
hand fitting all the way to designing and writing the programs to make components in 
CNC machining. After the off-site training is finished, I will have the opportunity to train 
in several different areas within Bespak.

I’m looking forward to the chance to gain new experiences, continue learning, and 
meet new people when I am full time on-site at Bespak.
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Corporate 
Responsibility
continued

Human Rights
We are committed to supporting human rights 
through our compliance with the laws and 
regulations of the UK and through our internal 
policies. Our Code of Business ethics and 
associated policies require respect and equal 
and fair treatment of all persons we come into 
contact with.

Employee Diversity
We are committed to actively encouraging a 
more inclusive and diverse workforce and look 
for opportunities to embed this where we can.  
We hire on merit but when recruiting externally 
it is a mandate that a female candidate must be 
on every shortlist.

The female representation on the Board and 
across the Group as at the year-end is shown 
below:

Board 
Male  85.7%  Female 14.3%

Executive 
Male  80%  Female 20%

Management 
Male  78.3%  Female 21.7%

All Employees 
Male  70.5%  Female 29.5%

James Jay 
Current Role: Manufacturing Engineer

Apprenticeship Programme 
Pathway: Engineering Technical Support
Start Date: Aug 2004
Completion Date: Aug 2008

I began my apprenticeship with Bespak after 
attending Springwood High School and its Sixth 
Form.  Having not previously considered an apprenticeship route,  
I applied after seeing the advert and, after several selection steps, was chosen for one 
of the two available positions. The first year was challenging: relatively long commute 
every day, early mornings, not to mention attempting new skills that I hadn’t encountered 
before. However, it was also incredibly rewarding as I made new friends and also won 
a top award for my efforts. Throughout the remaining three years of the apprenticeship 
I worked in almost every department within Bespak, ultimately completing my 
specialisation in Manufacturing Systems. 

On completion of my training, I worked as a Manufacturing Engineer for two years. During 
this time I was also a mentor at Springwood; it was interesting to hear how the approach 
to apprenticeships had changed since I was there as a student. In January 2010, Bespak 
advertised an International Secondment that I was fortunate enough to be selected for. 
This involved moving to Indianapolis, USA, to work on different projects. In October 
2012 I returned to Bespak where I have been given the opportunity to develop myself 
further within our Operations department. I’m focusing on the transfer of products from 
the development world to operations, and have recently completed a large construction 
project. 

I am incredibly grateful for all of the support that I have been given, and continue to 
receive, during my career at Bespak.
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Community
We are committed to supporting the patient 
population we serve and the communities in 
which we operate. Both local and national 
charities are considered important stakeholders 
for our business and we continue to discuss 
how we direct our support to make the biggest 
difference.

Grand East Anglia Run
Bespak continues to offer long-term support for 
the annual Grand East Anglia Run (GEAR) for 
the ninth year running. Both direct sponsorship 
support, and participation of our people in a 
three month pre-race training programme help 
build our reputation and brand within the local 
community, whilst also supporting our own 
employee well-being programme. Bespak 
also encourages junior participation including 
a number of free school places in the Mini 
Gear Fun Run and offers prizes of educational 
equipment to primary schools.  

“The Bespak Grand East Anglia Run is now 
one of the largest and most important events 
in the local calendar. It encourages people to 
be fit and healthy and brings many visitors to 
the area too. Bespak has been with us from 
the very start and their continued support is 
highly valued by the Borough Council. The 
benefits that the partnership brings to the West 
Norfolk community are enormous. Long may 
it continue!” — Quote from Roger Partridge, 
Sports Development Manager, Borough Council 
of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk

Schools, Colleges and Universities 
We continue to be active with local schools, 
colleges and universities through a number of 
different programmes. These have included:

•	Supporting a local school’s careers event by 
facilitating mock interviews

•	Offering a two week work experience 
placement for a 17 year old A level student

•	Encouraging junior participation in the Grand 
East Anglia Run, including a number of free 
school places in the Mini Gear Fun Run and 
presenting prizes of educational equipment to 
three primary schools.

Charitable Support
We have further strengthened our Charity 
Steering Group and continue to raise the profile 
of this Group within the business. We now have 
a dedicated intranet page, created to provide 
an accessible portal for all employees to view 
the intent and successes of the Group. Consort 
Medical’s charitable policy aims to promote 
education and opportunity and encourage the 
involvement of employees in community and 
charitable activities and organisations.  

Consort Medical has selected two corporate 
charities for the forthcoming year and will provide 
help, advice, business skills and financial 
assistance to both. The two selected charities 
are Changing Faces and Friends of Chums, with 
a donation of £15,000 set for each charity next 
financial year.

Bespak has chosen each (East Anglia’s 
Children’s Hospices) to become the charity 
for FY2015 and will benefit from funding and 
employee involvement. Additionally, Bespak 
completed an employee volunteering day with 
the local charity Mind, which involved helping 
with a landscaping project, and continues to 
support a number of other local and regional 
charities.

FAST FACT

150
free places on the 

mini GEAR run

Photograph to the right:
Grand East Anglia Run 2013
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Corporate 
Responsibility
continued

Appointed charities: 

Changing Faces is the UK’s leading disfigurement charity supporting 
and representing people with any condition or injury that affects their 
appearance. Changing Faces is committed to promoting a culture 
of confidence, positively and acceptance around disfigurement. It 
campaigns for equal opportunities and challenges misrepresentation and 
discrimination. Changing Faces provides support, advice and training for 
professionals in health and social care, education and employment.

Friends of Chums is a Bedfordshire based charity providing support 
to children and their families affected by traumatic bereavement. It 
aims to reduce distress and increase functioning in children and young 
people who have been traumatically bereaved, or who are experiencing 
complicated or severe reactions to their bereavement by providing 
assessment, support and intervention.

East Anglia Children’s Hospice (each) provide care and support 
to life threatened children, young people and their families within 
the East Anglia region. Each’s care teams help children and their 
families with the emotional and physical challenges they face, 
helping them to make the most of life.

Consort Medical plc is committed to 
supporting the patient populations it serves 
and the communities in which it operates.

Photograph:
Mini Gear primary school presentation
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Our Goals for FY2015

Health and Safety

•	No more than three lost time accidents across Bespak

Environment

•	Reduce our energy consumption by 14.5% against the FY2011 baseline

•	Divert 93.5% of our waste from landfill/incineration against the FY2011 baseline

•	Reduce water consumption by 31.5% against the FY2011 baseline

Employees 

•	Continue to monitor employee satisfaction through regular surveys 

•	Employee training days target of 2,000 days

•	Increase the number of apprentices to 15

•	Roll-out the Management Development Programme

Community 

•	Continuation of Sixth Form work experience programme 

•	Continue both our involvement and sponsorship of ‘GEAR’ 

•	Continue with the Charity of the Year including a fundraising event in addition to funding local and  
regional charities

Ethical Standards

•	Launch our supplier code of ethical standards

•	Include Ethical, Health, Safety and Environmental standards within our supplier audits

Longer-term target setting
Over the coming year our business will continue 
to grow and in some areas introduce new 
methods and processes. These are all likely to 
impact our environmental performance and as 
such we have decided to delay setting longer-
term targets for energy, waste and water until 
the end of FY2015. This will allow time for us 
to understand the longer-term impacts of our 
changing business and then set a number of 
targets which will drive our ongoing performance 
improvements and set a future vision.

Ethical Standards
We continue to review and enhance how we 
operate as a business and in all cases ensure 
we act in a responsible and ethical manner. We 
have set appropriate standards and policies to 
uphold all laws relevant to prevention of bribery 
and corruption in all jurisdictions in which we 
operate. The Company has in place policies 
and procedures covering Anti-Corruption and 
Bribery; Gifts and Hospitality; Business Ethics 
and Whistleblowing.

We have finalised a supplier code of ethical 
standards, which is currently being rolled out 
with the aim of assuring that our suppliers 
conform to this code as part of the supply chain 
strategy approval process.  We have now made 
an assessment of “Ethical, Health, Safety and 
Environmental” standards a key part of our 
supplier selection criteria.

Group Values
Values have always been an important part of 
Consort Medical’s business model. Our core 
values were rolled out Company-wide in 2010 
and we have recently completed a Group- 
wide review of our core values with a view to 
confirming that they remain relevant to our vision 
and mission.

The review process itself embodied our belief in 
engagement and consultation with our people 
and as a result we have slightly amended our 
values to better reflect the behaviours and 
attitudes that we wish to employ internally and 
reflect externally. Our core Company values are:

•	Integrity

•	Respect

•	Team Work

•	Results Driven

•	Customer Focus

These are the values that our employees want 
to become the bedrock of the culture within the 
organisation. As such, the review of our core 
values has resulted in the articulation of the 
model behaviours and attitudes that we wish 
to deploy and those that we aim to discard. 
Consequently, the roll-out of core values will 
involve a number of Group-wide workshops 
and conversations whereby everyone within the 
Group is engaged in how we may live the values 
and ensure they permeate every aspect of our 
business life from those of our interchanges and 
interactions to our performance management 
processes and reward structures.    
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The directors are pleased to present their Annual 
Report on the affairs of the Group, together with 
the audited financial statements, for the year 
ended 30 April 2014.The Annual Remuneration 
Report can be found on pages 56 to 63, the 
Corporate Governance Report on pages 39 to 
45 and the Corporate Responsibility Review on 
pages 24 to 31. 

The Annual Report has been prepared for, and 
only for, the members of the Company, as a 
body, and for no other persons. The Group, 
its directors, employees, agents or advisers, 
do not accept or assume responsibility to any 
person to whom this document is shown or 
into whose hands it may come and any such 
responsibility or liability is expressly disclaimed. 
By their nature, the statements concerning the 
risks and uncertainties facing the Group in this 
Annual Report involve uncertainty since future 
events and circumstances can cause results 
and developments to differ materially from those 
anticipated. The forward-looking statements 
reflect knowledge and information available at 
the date of preparation of this Annual Report and 
the Group undertakes no obligation to update 
these forward-looking statements. Nothing in this 
Annual Report should be construed as a profit 
forecast. 

Principal Activities of the Group 
The principal activities of the Group during the 
year have been the design, development and 
manufacture of specialty medical drug delivery 
devices and services to the pharmaceutical 
industry through Bespak. Our products now 
include metered dose inhalers, dry powder 
devices, actuators, dose counters, disposable 
auto-injectors, nasal devices and point-of-care 
diagnostics devices.

Strategic Report
The Strategic Report can be found on pages 
2 to 31. This report includes a balanced and 
comprehensive analysis of the development and 
performance of the business of the Group and a 
description of the main trends and factors likely 
to affect the future development, performance 
or position of the business at the end of the 
year, using key performance indicators where 
appropriate. 

Principal Risks and uncertainties
A description of the Group’s principal risks and 
uncertainties can be found on pages 22 and 23 
which forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Product Development and 
Research Investment
The Group has a programme of continuous 
investment in its product development activities. 
During the year, the Group invested £4.4m 
(FY2013: £4.8m) in research and development 
expenditure.

Results
Revenue from continuing operations increased 
by 5.2% to £100.0m. Profit before tax and 
special items from continuing operations 
increased by 10.1% to £17.5m. Total profit 
decreased by 46.4% to £13.0m. Adjusted basic 
earnings per share from continuing operations 
increased by 8.5% to 48.3p and total basic 
earnings per share decreased by 46.5% to 
45.1p. 

Dividend
Following a review of performance, prospects 
and available funding, the directors propose a 
final dividend for the year of 13.35p per share 
(FY2013: 12.71p per share) to be paid on  
24 October 2014 to shareholders on the register 
at close of business on 19 September 2014. 
An interim dividend of 7.35p per share (FY2013: 
7.0p) was paid on 14 February 2014, making 
a total dividend for the year of 20.7p per share 
(FY2013: 19.71p per share).

Post-Balance Sheet Events 
On 9 May 2014, US$10m was received from 
Ambu A/S following the first commercial sale of a 
video laryngoscope. On 4 June 2014, US$2.3m 
was received from Ambu A/S reflecting the first 
payment relating to the sales of the King Vision 
products for the year ended 30 April 2014.

Future Developments
Details of future developments are set out on 
pages 12 to 15 of the Operating Review.

Directors
The names of the directors as at the date of 
this Report, together with brief biographical 
descriptions, appear on pages 36 and 37.

In accordance with section 992 of the 
Companies Act 2006, the directors disclose 
that rules regarding the appointment of directors 
are contained in the Company’s Articles of 
Association, which may only be amended 
with shareholder approval in accordance with 
the relevant legislation. The powers given 
to the directors are contained in the Articles 
and include, subject to relevant legislation 
and authority being given to the directors by 

Directors’ 
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shareholders in general meeting, authorisation 
for the Company to issue and buy back its 
own shares. The Company annually seeks the 
authority of shareholders for the exercise by the 
directors of these powers.

All directors are subject to appointment at the 
next Annual General Meeting following their 
appointment and to reappointment thereafter 
at intervals of no more than three years in 
accordance with the Company’s Articles of 
Association. Accordingly, Dr William Jenkins 
will seek reappointment as a director at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting. His 
biographical details are given on page 37 
and details of Dr William Jenkins’ letter of 
appointment can be found in the Remuneration 
Report on page 55. 

Dr Lynn Drummond has notified the Board that 
due to other board level commitments, she 
will not stand for re-election at the next Annual 
General Meeting, and will step down from her 
current position as a non-executive director of 
the Company once a suitable successor has 
been found.

Directors’ Remuneration
The Remuneration Report, which includes 
information regarding directors’ service 
contracts, appointment arrangements and 
interests in share options, can be found on 
pages 56 to 63.

Directors and their Interests
Details of the interests of the directors and 
their families in the ordinary share capital of 
the Company, as required to be disclosed 
in accordance with Rule 3 of the Disclosure 
and Transparency Rules of the Financial 
Services Authority (the “DTRs”), are given in the 
Remuneration Report. There were no changes 
in the directors’ shareholdings between 30 April 
2014 and the date of this report.

The Board has agreed procedures for 
considering and where appropriate authorising 
directors’ situational conflicts. None of the 
directors had any interest during or at the end of 
the year in any contract of significance in relation 
to the business of the Company or its subsidiary 
undertakings.

Directors’ Indemnities
Qualifying third-party indemnity arrangements 
for the benefit of all its directors in a form and 
scope which comply with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006 were in place during 
the year. These arrangements remain in effect as 
at the date of this report.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability 
Insurance
Insurance cover is in force in respect of the 
personal liabilities which may be incurred by 
directors and officers of the Group in the course 
of their service with the Group. 

Major Shareholdings
As at the date of this report, the Company has received notification from the following institutions 
of their and their clients’ interests which represent 3% or more of the voting rights of the issued 
share capital of the Company (in accordance with Rule 5 of the DTRs). The number of shares and 
the percentage interests are as disclosed at the date on which the interests were notified to the 
Company.

Shareholder
Number of 

shares
Interest in issued  

shares

Schroder Investment Management 3,210,000 10.97%

Montanaro Asset Management 2,146,700 7.33%

OppenheimerFunds Inc 1,524,606 5.21%

Artemis Investment Management 1,459,000 4.98%

Kaupthing Bank 1,173,532 4.19%

Polar Capital LLP 1,227,383 4.05%

Aviva plc 1,106,208 3.78%

Legal & General Group plc 884,938 3.02%

Employees
The Group is an equal opportunities employer. 
It is committed to giving fair and equal treatment 
to all employees and job applicants in terms 
of recruitment, pay conditions, promotions, 
training and all employment matters regardless 
of their race, sex, ethnic background or religious 
beliefs, sexual orientation or disabilities. An 
equal opportunities policy is in force which 
aims to ensure that all employees are selected, 
trained, compensated, promoted and transferred 
solely on the strength of their ability, skills, 
qualifications and merit. The Group also believes 
that all employees have a right to work in 
an environment free from discrimination and 
bullying. 

The Group is committed to maximising the 
level of employee involvement in its business 
at all levels. Appropriate training is given 
to enable employees to perform their jobs 
more competently and to develop their skills 
and competencies to their full potential. The 
performance review system allows employees to 
discuss career opportunities and development 
and to receive guidance on achieving their goals. 
In addition, employees are supported, through 
sponsorship or a contribution to costs, to study 
for job-related qualifications.

The Group is committed to achieving the highest 
levels of quality. Bespak operates ISO 13485 
which is the internationally recognised standard 
that details the quality management system and 
design methodology required to develop and 
manufacture medical devices. Staff working 
in Bespak operate within this system and are 
also trained in the regulatory requirements of 
pharmaceutical “Good Manufacturing Practice”. 
During FY2014 we were granted, by the 
Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory 
Agency (‘MHRA’), the appropriate licences 
to assemble, pack and release commercial 
pharmaceutical products.

The Group takes a proactive approach to 
consultation with employees on a variety 
of work-related issues through the use of 
consultative forums whose members are elected 
by staff. Regular briefings are given to staff to 
keep them informed of matters concerning the 
business, including financial and economic 
factors affecting the Group.

The Group operates share option schemes, 
performance-related bonus schemes and 
the Company share incentive plan, which 
employees are encouraged to join.

Information about environmental, ethical, 
social and community matters is set out in the 
Corporate Responsibility Review on pages 24 
to 31.
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Disability Policy
The Group gives full and fair consideration to 
applications for employment from disabled 
persons. Opportunities also exist for employees 
of the Group who become disabled to continue 
in their employment or to be considered for other 
open positions in the Group and generally their 
training, career development and promotion.

Significant Agreements — Change 
of Control
There are a number of significant agreements 
containing provisions that take effect (including 
provisions permitting counterparties to terminate 
agreements) upon a change of control of the 
Company. These include both commercial and 
bank loan facilities agreements. Maintaining strong 
relationships with all counterparties is an important 
element in the risk management of the business 
and to help safeguard the Company’s interests 
to help mitigate against any impact resulting from 
any change of control of the Company should it 
occur.

Share Capital and Control
Details of the Company’s issued share capital 
are set out on page 100. All of the Company’s 
issued share capital comprises ordinary 10p 
shares which are fully paid up and rank equally in 
all respects.

The ordinary shares are listed on the Official List 
of the London Stock Exchange and are included 
in the techMARK index. In addition, the Company 
has entered into a Level 1 American Depositary 
Receipt (ADR) programme with the Bank of New 
York Mellon, under which the Company’s shares 
are traded on the over-the-counter market in the 
form of American Depositary Shares (ADS).

68,542 (FY2013:195,717) new shares were 
issued during the year under the Company’s 
SAYE and 2002 ESOS Schemes. No new 
ordinary shares have been allotted under the 
Company’s share option schemes since the end 
of the year and up to the date of this report.

Rights Attaching to Shares
The rights attaching to the Company’s ordinary 
shares, in addition to those conferred by 
law, are set out in the Company’s Articles of 
Association, copies of which can be obtained 
from Companies House in England and Wales 
or from the Company Secretary. The holders 
of ordinary shares are entitled to receive the 
Company’s reports and accounts, to attend and 
speak at general meetings of the Company, to 
appoint proxies and to exercise voting rights and 
to participation in any distribution of income or 
capital.

Transfers of Shares
There are no restrictions on the transfer of 
ordinary shares or on the exercise of voting rights 
attached to them save where the Company has 
exercised its rights to suspend their voting rights 
or to prohibit their transfer following the omission 
of their holder or any person interested in them to 
provide the Company with information requested 
by it in accordance with Part 22 of the Companies 
Act 2006 or where their holder is precluded from 
exercising voting rights by the Financial Services 
Authority Listing Rules or the City Code on 
Takeovers and Mergers. None of the shares carry 
any special rights with regard to the control of the 
Company.

The directors may refuse to register a transfer of 
ordinary shares where such transfer documents 
are not lodged by acceptable means or proof of 
title is required.

Purchase of Own Shares
At the Annual General Meeting on 2 September 
2013 shareholders approved a resolution of 
the Company permitting it to purchase its own 
shares up to a maximum of 2,920,712 ordinary 
shares. This resolution remains valid until the 
conclusion of this year’s Annual General Meeting. 
As at 16 June 2014 the directors had not used 
this authority. A resolution will be proposed at 
this year’s Annual General Meeting to renew this 
authority.

The Company’s share ownership trust currently 
holds 425,843 ordinary shares of 10p each 
representing 1.45% of the Company’s issued 
share capital.

Issue of Shares
At the 2013 Annual General Meeting, 
shareholders approved a resolution to give 
the directors authority to allot shares up to an 
aggregate nominal value of £973,473 and further 
shares in accordance with ABI guidelines in 
connection with a rights issue up to an aggregate 
nominal amount of £1,947,239 (inclusive of 
£973,473). In addition, shareholders approved 
a resolution giving the directors a limited power 
to allot shares for cash in other circumstances. 
These resolutions remain valid until the conclusion 
of this year’s Annual General Meeting. 

A resolution will be proposed at this year’s Annual 
General Meeting to renew these authorities.

Further explanation of the resolutions will be 
included with the Notice of Annual General 
Meeting, which will be circulated to shareholders 
separately.

Share Schemes
A description of the share schemes operated 
by the Company is set out in the Remuneration 
Report on pages 56 to 63.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Information on the Group’s Greenhouse Gas 
emissions (as required to be disclosed under 
the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report 
and Directors’ Report Regulations 2013)), are 
disclosed in our Corporate Responsibility Report 
on page 26.

Disclosure of Information to 
Auditors
In the case of each director, so far as each is 
aware, there is no relevant audit information of 
which the Company’s auditors are unaware. Each 
director has taken all the steps he/she ought to 
have taken as a director in order to make himself/
herself aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the Company’s auditors are 
aware of that information.

Annual General Meeting
The 2014 Annual General Meeting of the 
Company will be held at the Company’s 
registered office, Breakspear Park, Breakspear 
Way, Hemel Hempstead on 4 September 2014 
at 2.00 pm. Details of the resolutions to be 
proposed, together with the Notice of Meeting, 
are being sent to shareholders separately and will 
be posted on the Company’s website.

Corporate Governance
The main features of the Group’s internal controls 
and risk management systems in relation to the 
process for preparing consolidated financial 
statements can be found in the Corporate 
Governance Report on pages 39 to 45. The 
Corporate Governance Report forms part of this 
Directors’ Report and is incorporated into it by 
cross reference.

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are the Company’s 
auditors and a resolution to reappoint them and 
to authorise the directors to set their remuneration 
will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

The Directors’ Report above and the Strategic 
Report on pages 2 to 23 have been approved by 
the Board. 

By order of the Board 

R Cotton
Company Secretary

16 June 2014
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The directors are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. 
Under that law the directors have prepared the 
Group and parent Company financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by 
the European Union. Under company law 
the directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Group and the Company and of the profit 
or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing 
these financial statements, the directors are 
required to:

•	select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently;

•	make judgements and accounting estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent;

•	state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted 
by the European Union have been followed, 
subject to any material departures disclosed 
and explained in the financial statements; and

•	prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Company will continue in 
business.

The directors are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are 
sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of 
the Company and the Group and enable them 
to ensure that the financial statements and the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with 
the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the 
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and the 
Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the Company’s 
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

The directors consider that the Annual Report 
and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced 
and understandable and provides the information 
necessary for shareholders to assess the 
Company’s performance, business model and 
strategy.

Each of the directors, whose names and 
functions are listed on pages 36 and 37 confirm 
that, to the best of their knowledge:

•	the Group financial statements, which have 
been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view 
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
profit of the Group; and

•	the Directors’ Report contained on pages 
32 to 34 includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business 
and the position of the Group, together 
with a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that it faces.

For and on behalf of the Board

R Cotton 
Company Secretary

16 June 2014

Statement of 
Directors’ 
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1  Dr Peter Fellner (70)
Chairman
Appointed to the Board
14 November 2005. Chairman since May 2009.

Current Roles
Dr Fellner is currently Chairman of Vernalis plc, 
Optos plc, and Ablynx nv. He is also a member of 
the Novo A/S Advisory Group.

Committee Membership
Dr Fellner is Chairman of the Nomination 
Committee.

Past Roles & Experience
Dr Fellner previously served as Chairman of Celltech 
Group plc from 2003 to July 2004, having been 
CEO from 1990 onwards. Before joining Celltech he 
was CEO of Roche UK from 1986 to 1990. More 
recently he served as Chairman of Biotie Therapies 
Corp. from 2010 to 2014, and as Chairman 
of Acambis plc from 2006, until its acquisition 
by Sanofi Aventis in 2008, and as Chairman of 
Premier Research Group plc from 2007 to 2008, 
when it was acquired by a private-equity backed 
group. In addition, he was Vice Chairman of Astex 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc from 2011 to 2013 and a 
director of the global biopharmaceutical company 
UCB SA from 2005 to April 2014. He also served 
as a director of QinetiQ Group plc and Evotec AG. 
Dr Fellner has many years’ experience in the 
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry in a 
variety of roles including research and development 
and senior executive and non-executive positions.

2  Jonathan Glenn (45)
Chief Executive Officer
Appointed to the Board
11 September 2006. CEO since December 2007.
Current Roles
Chief Executive Officer 
Committee Membership
Mr Glenn is a member of the Nomination Committee 
and the Corporate Responsibility Committee.
Past Roles & Experience
Jonathan was Group Finance Director of Consort 
Medical plc from September 2006 to December 
2007 until he took up the position of Chief 
Executive Officer in December 2007. Prior to joining 
Consort Medical plc, Jonathan was global Head 
of Finance at Celltech Group plc and later Chief 
Financial Officer of Akubio Ltd, a Cambridge-based 
developer of instrumentation for the Life Sciences 
industry.
Mr Glenn is a Chartered Accountant.

3  Richard Cotton (53)
Group Finance Director  
& Company Secretary
Appointed to the Board
25 June 2012

Current Roles
Group Finance Director.

Past Roles & Experience
From 2008 to 2011 Richard was Group Finance 
Director of Vitec Group plc. From 2005 to 2008 he 
was Group Finance Director at Wagon plc and from 
2001 to 2005 Group Finance Director of McLeod 
Russell plc.
Mr Cotton is a Chartered Management Accountant. 

4  Steve Crummett (49)
Non-Executive Director
Appointed to the Board
13 June 2012

Current Roles
Finance Director of Morgan Sindall Group plc

Committee Membership
Mr Crummett is Chair of the Audit Committee and 
a member of the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee.

Past Roles & Experience
Previously Steve was Group Finance Director of 
Filtrona plc (now Essentra plc) from 2008 to 2012. 
From 2003 to 2006 Steve was Group Director, 
Mergers & Acquisitions at Exel plc and previously 
held senior finance roles with McKechnie plc and 
Logica plc.
Mr Crummett is a Chartered Accountant. 

5  Ian Nicholson (53)
Non-Executive Director
Appointed to the Board
13 June 2012

Current Roles
Ian is also Chief Executive Officer of F2G Ltd, a UK-
based anti-fungal drug discovery and development 
company, Chairman of Bioventix Ltd, a diagnostics 
company, non-executive director of Clinigen Group 
plc, a specialty pharmaceuticals and services 
business, and also an Operating Partner at Advent 
Life Sciences LLP. 

Committee Membership
Mr Nicholson is Chair of the Corporate 
Responsibility Committee and a member of the 
Nomination Committee.

Past Roles & Experience
From 2004 to 2012 Ian was Chief Executive of 
Chroma Therapeutics Limited, a drug discovery 
and development company and from 2000 to 2004 
Senior Vice President, Business Development 
at Celltech Group plc, then the UK’s largest 
biotechnology company.
In addition to his CEO experience Mr Nicholson 
has extensive experience in business development, 
licensing and mergers and acquisitions in the UK, 
Europe and the US. 

6  Dr William Jenkins (66)
Non-Executive Director
Appointed to the Board
6 May 2009. Senior Independent Director since  
1 September 2011

Current Roles
William is a non-executive director of Ablynx 
nv, Allecra Therapeutics GmbH and AlloCyte 
Pharmaceuticals AG. He is also an ad hoc member 
of the board of Evotec AG and a member of their 
Scientific Advisory Board as well as a member 
of the Scientific Advisory Board of BB Biotech 
Ventures and a member of the Strategic Advisory 
Board of Chiesi Farmaceutici SpA. He is principal of 
William Jenkins Pharma Consulting.

Committee Membership
Dr Jenkins is Chair of the Remuneration Committee 
and a member of the Nomination Committee.

Past Roles & Experience
Formerly head of Worldwide Clinical Development 
and Regulatory Affairs for Novartis Pharma AG 
and held similar positions with Ciba Geigy AG and 
Glaxo.

Dr Jenkins has been advising a wide range of 
pharma and biotech companies and investment 
and venture capital firms in the healthcare sector 
since 1999.

7  Dr Lynn Drummond (54)
Non-Executive Director
Appointed to the Board
9 February 2011

Current Roles
Dr Drummond is the non-executive Chairman of 
InFirst Healthcare Limited and Venture Life Group 
plc, both of which are consumer healthcare 
companies. She is also a non-executive director 
of Allocate Software plc, the leading workforce 
optimisation and compliance software applications 
provider and Shield Holdings AG, a speciality 
mineral medicines pharmaceutical company.

Committee Membership
Dr Drummond is a member of the Audit Committee 
and a member of the Nomination Committee.

Past Roles & Experience
Dr Drummond was previously Managing Director 
at Rothschild where her focus was on advising 
clients within the healthcare sector. Prior to this she 
worked in the Cabinet Office as Private Secretary to 
the Chief Scientific Advisor. She is a Fellow of the 
Royal Society of Edinburgh and the Royal Society 
of Chemistry. 
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1  Jonathan Glenn 
Chief Executive Officer
See biography details on page 37.

2  Richard Cotton 
Group Finance Director 
& Company Secretary
See biography details on page 37.

3  Lisa King 
Director of Human Resources
Committee Membership
Member of the Corporate Responsibility Committee

Past Roles & Experience
Lisa was Vice President, Human Resources, UK 
and Ireland for UCB Pharma (previously Celltech plc) 
from 2000 to 2008 before being appointed Director 
of Group Human Resources at Consort Medical in 
August 2008. Prior to UCB Lisa held HR roles at 
Prudential Assurance plc, Hughes Asia Pacific and 
Rothmans/British American Tobacco plc.
Lisa is a member of the Chartered Institute of 
Personnel and Development.

4  Keyvan Djamarani 
General Manager of Bespak
Committee Membership
Member of the Corporate Responsibility Committee

Past Roles & Experience
Keyvan has over 15 years of experience at Consort 
Medical having previously held general management 
roles at Bespak Europe in the UK and Bespak 
Inc. in the US as well as a short appointment 
at Kings Systems Inc. prior to its disposal in 
2013.  Previously Keyvan held various project and 
production management roles at Unilever UK’s 
Detergents & Household Products and Personal 
Products Divisions. 

5  Iain Ward
Group General Counsel and  
Company Secretary w.e.f. 14 July 2014
Committee Membership
Member of the Corporate Responsibility Committee

Past Roles & Experience
Iain was Head of Legal, EMEA for Shire plc from 
February 2006 until July 2014 when he will be 
appointed Group General Counsel at Consort 
Medical. Prior to Shire, Iain was an associate at 
Ashurst and Covington and Burling law firms and 
Senior Legal and Legal Counsel at GE Healthcare 
and AstraZeneca plc respectively.
Iain is a member of the Law Society of England and 
Wales.
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Corporate  
Governance

Chairman’s Introduction

The Board of Consort Medical considers 
strong Corporate Governance to be 
a key element to the success of the 
business and I am pleased to report that 
we have complied with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code (2012) throughout the 
year.
Our Board and committees have continued to perform effectively and 
during the year we have reviewed the terms of reference for each 
committee, the matters reserved for the Board and the roles of the 
Chairman and Chief Executive to ensure that these continue to reflect best 
practice. The work of our committees is outlined later in this report.

Our governance framework is supported by our core values of Integrity, 
Respect, Team Work, Results Driven and Customer Focus which govern 
the way we work and conduct business. These values have been 
relaunched during the year and everyone throughout the Group will be 
expected to adopt these values and to challenge behaviour that is not 
consistent with the values. 

We will continue to adhere to the Code, monitor developments and 
implement improvements in our governance in the year ahead. 

Dr. Peter Fellner
Chairman

The uK Corporate Governance Code
The Group is committed to practising good corporate governance of its 
affairs as part of its management of relationships with its shareholders 
and other stakeholders. The Group seeks to uphold and to report on 
compliance in accordance with best practice in corporate governance.

Compliance Statement
The directors are satisfied that the Group has complied with the principles 
and provisions set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code (the Code) 
which was published in September 2012 (available from www.frc.org.uk) 
and was compliant throughout the financial year under review. 

The principles of the Code cover five areas: leadership, effectiveness, 
accountability, remuneration and relations with shareholders. With the 
exception of the directors’ remuneration (which is dealt with separately 
under the Remuneration Report) the following sets out how the Board has 
applied the principles.

The Board is committed to establishing and maintaining high standards of 
corporate governance. Its policy is to appoint directors with appropriate 
skills who have sufficient time to carry out their duties adequately. The 
Board provides opportunities through site visits and regular access to 
senior management to permit directors to familiarise themselves with the 
Company and the markets in which it operates.

Leadership

The Role of the Board
The Board is responsible for the long-term success of the Company. 
Individual members of the Board have equal responsibility for the overall 
stewardship, management and performance of the Group and for the 
approval of its long-term objectives and strategic plans.

Division of Responsibilities
There is a clear division of responsibilities between the role of the Chairman 
and that of the Chief Executive of the Company and the roles are clearly 
set out in writing and reviewed by the Board. The latest review took 
place in March 2014. The primary responsibility of the Chairman is to 
lead and manage the Board and to promote high standards of corporate 
governance, and that of the Chief Executive is to manage the business of 
the Group.

The Chairman
Peter Fellner was appointed non-executive Chairman of the Company 
with effect from 1 May 2009. The Chairman is responsible for leading and 
managing the Board and ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects of its role. 
He works closely with the Chief Executive on developing Group strategy, 
and provides general advice and support as well as participating in the 
dialogue between the Company and its major shareholders. Dr Fellner 
has attended all but one of the Board meetings held during the year and 
continues to commit substantial time to fulfilling his role. 

During the year Dr Fellner has stepped down from his directorships at 
UCB SA, Biotie Therapies Corp. and Astex Pharmaceuticals, Inc. His other 
significant commitments are listed in his biography on page 37.

The Chairman was considered to be independent on his appointment.
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Corporate  
Governance
continued

The Chief Executive
Jonathan Glenn is the Company’s Chief Executive. His principal 
responsibility is to manage the Group’s business and to lead the senior 
management team in delivering the Company’s strategic and operational 
objectives.

The Senior Independent Director
Dr William Jenkins was appointed the Senior Independent Director with 
effect from 1 September 2011 and is responsible for the chairing of 
meetings of non executive directors if and when required. Where the 
Chairman is not present, the Senior Independent Director chairs meetings 
of the Board. He is available to meet with shareholders. 

The Non-Executive Directors

Independence
Each of the non-executive directors (other than Ian Nicholson) is free from 
any relationship with the executive management of the Company and is 
free from any business or other relationship that could affect or appear to 
affect the exercise of their independent judgement. The Board considers 
that all of the Company’s non-executive directors including Ian Nicholson 
are independent directors, in both character and judgement, in accordance 
with the recommendations of the Code. Following his appointment, 
the Board has recognised Mr Nicholson’s valuable experience in the 
pharma industry and has sought his advice and guidance on business 
development matters in support of the Company’s strategic objectives. 
The Board has therefore approved the appointment of Mr Nicholson as 
a consultant in addition to his role as a non executive director. Mindful of 
the Code’s requirements for independence, Mr Nicholson has resigned 
his membership of both the Remuneration Committee and the Audit 
Committee. 

The Operation of the Board

Reserved Matters and Delegated Authorities
The Board has the authority for ensuring that the Group is appropriately 
managed and achieves the strategic objectives it sets. To achieve this, the 
Board reserves certain matters for its own determination including matters 
relating to Group strategy, approval of interim and annual financial results, 
dividend policy, major capital expenditure, treasury policy, risk management 
and the effectiveness of the systems of internal control. The full schedule 
of matters reserved to the Board was reviewed during the year and is 
published on the Company’s website.

The Board performs its responsibilities through an annual programme of 
meetings, and by continuous monitoring of the performance of the Group 
as a whole. 

Matters considered by the Board in FY2014 include:

•	Finance and operations review

•	Annual budget

•	Risk review

•	Strategic plans

•	Potential merger and acquisition targets 

•	Monthly broker reports

•	Group insurance review

•	Receiving reports from the Board Committees

•	Board evaluation

The Board also delegates a number of its responsibilities to committees 
and management as described below. 

Board Meetings and Attendance
The Board has allocated its time generally to strategy; finance and 
operations; risk; governance; and succession planning.

The Board has eight scheduled meetings per year, with other meetings 
convened for specific matters. The attendance of each of the directors, 
whether in person or by telephone, at the scheduled Board and Board 
sub-committee meetings where appropriate, is shown below:

Name
Board 

meetings

Nomination 
Committee 

meetings

Remuneration 
Committee 

meetings

Audit 
Committee 

meetings

P. Fellner 7 – – –

W. Jenkins 8 – 5 –

L. Drummond 8 – – 3

S. Crummett 8 – 5 3

I. Nicholson 7 – 4* 2*

J. Glenn 8 – – –

R. Cotton 8 – – –

*  Mr Nicholson attended all meetings of the Remuneration and Audit Committees until 
he resigned on his appointment as a consultant. 
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In addition, the Company operates a Scientific Advisory Board, a  
Corporate Responsibility Committee, a Group Executive Committee, a  
Risk Committee and a divisional operating board. For details please see 
page 44.

Effectiveness

The Board’s Composition
As of 30 April 2014 the Board of the Company consisted of the non-
executive Chairman, two executive directors and four non-executive 
directors. The profiles of the Board members are set out on pages 36 and 
37. No individual or group of individuals dominates the Board’s decision-
making process. The non-executive directors occupy, or have occupied, 
senior positions in industry. Together they constitute a valuable body of 
relevant industry experience and expertise. 

Board Diversity
The Board believes in the importance of diversity (including but not limited 
to gender) and the benefits that it can bring to the operation of an effective 
Board. The female representation on the Board constitutes 14.3%.

Appointments to the Board continue to be made on merit. 

Appointment of Non-Executive Directors
Non-executive directors are appointed to the Board following a formal, 
rigorous and transparent process, where appropriate, involving external 
recruitment agencies, to select individuals who have a depth of relevant 
experience, thus ensuring that the selected candidates will be capable 
of making a considerable contribution to the Board. The process for the 
appointment of non-executive directors is managed by the Nomination 
Committee, whose responsibilities are outlined on page 42.

Terms of Appointment and Time Commitment
All non-executive directors are appointed for an initial term of three 
years subject to satisfactory performance. After this time they may serve 
additional three-year terms following review by the Board. All non-executive 
directors are expected to devote such time as is necessary for the proper 
performance of their duties. Directors are expected to attend all Board 
meetings and committee meetings of which they are members and 
any additional meetings as required. Further details of their terms and 
conditions are summarised in the Remuneration Report on pages 56 to 
63 and the terms and conditions of appointment of the non-executive 
directors are available at the Company’s Registered Office.

BOARD TENuRE

as at 30 April 2014

0-3 years — 4
4-7 years — 1
8 + years — 2

Induction and Professional Development
Upon joining the Board, newly appointed directors receive a tailored 
induction comprising background information on the operation and 
activities of the Group, the role of the Board and its committees and 
those matters reserved for the Board’s decision, and the latest financial 
information on the Group. Training and development needs of directors 
are reviewed regularly. The directors are kept appraised of developments 
in legal, regulatory and financial matters affecting the Group from the Chief 
Financial Officer, the Company Secretary, the Group’s external auditors and 
advisers. 

Information and Support
Board members are provided with appropriate documentation in advance 
of each Board and committee meeting. Senior executives are invited to 
attend Board meetings periodically for the purpose of making presentations 
on their areas of responsibility. In addition to formal Board meetings, the 
Chairman and Chief Executive meet frequently and make regular contact 
with other Board members. The Board and the senior executives meet 
formally once during each financial year to discuss corporate strategy.

Independent Professional Advice
The Board has approved a procedure whereby directors may consult the 
Company’s advisers and, if necessary, take independent professional 
advice at the Company’s expense, although not in respect of a director’s 
personal interests. Before seeking advice, the director concerned must 
notify the Chairman, or in his absence, the Senior Independent Director. No 
such advice was sought by any director during the year.

Company Secretary
Board members have access to the Company Secretary who attends all 
Board meetings. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary 
is subject to the approval of the Board. 

During the year the Board has focused on the recruitment of a Group 
General Counsel and Company Secretary. Using the services of Heidrick & 
Struggles a number of potential candidates were identified for the position 
of Group General Counsel and Company Secretary and we are delighted 
that Iain Ward will be joining the Company on 14 July 2014 from Shire plc.

Board Evaluation
An evaluation of the Board is carried out each year. As for previous years, 
a Board evaluation was carried out during the year ended 30 April 2014. 
A rigorous and formal review required completion of a questionnaire 
relating to the performance of the Board and its committees and with 
regard to compliance with the Code. The evaluation focused on the 
role of the directors and the Board; the non-executive directors; the 
executive directors; Board meetings; committees of the Board; monitoring 
performance; leadership and culture; corporate governance; and the 
facilitation of meetings. The results of the questionnaire were reported to 
the Board in a manner that did not identify any individual responses. The 
evaluation concluded that there were no areas of significant weakness and 
that overall the Board worked well as a team with a clear understanding of 
the role and objectives of the Board. Information provided to the Board was 
considered to be comprehensive and of high quality. 
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continued

It was considered that the Company operated to standards of corporate 
governance required of a listed company and that the Board, led by its 
Chairman, was fully aware of shareholder views and provided effective 
leadership. 

For the year ahead the Board is committed to:

•	enhancement of training and development opportunities for directors;

•	further engagement with senior management;

•	continued consideration of Board composition to ensure an appropriate 
balance of skills and experience; and the 

•	introduction of electronic management of Board papers.

Election and Re-election of Directors
The Company’s Articles of Association require all directors to retire and 
submit themselves for re-election at the first Annual General Meeting after 
appointment and thereafter at least every three years. The Notice of Annual 
General Meeting will give details of those directors seeking re-election.

Meetings of Non-Executive Directors
Led by the Senior Independent Director, the non-executive directors meet 
informally, without the Chairman being present, principally to appraise the 
Chairman’s performance and to review his remuneration. The Chairman 
holds meetings at least annually with the non-executive directors without 
the executive directors present.

Board Committees
The Board has the three main committees listed below. The current terms 
of reference of each committee may be obtained from the Company’s 
website.

Remuneration Committee
During the year members of this committee were William Jenkins 
(Chairman), Steve Crummett and Ian Nicholson until his resignation on  
14 February 2014. The Chairman is invited to attend all meetings, but 
does not attend any part of any meeting at which his own service contract 
is discussed. The Chief Executive attends by invitation where appropriate 
except where his own remuneration is being considered.

The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for determining 
the structure, components (including pension rights and compensation 
payments) and level of the remuneration packages of the Chairman, the 
executive directors and designated members of the senior management 
team. Details of the role of the Remuneration Committee and attendance 
of Committee members are set out on page 63. The Remuneration 
Committee met five times during this year.

The activities of the Committee during the year are set out in the separate 
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 56 to 63.

Nomination Committee
Members during the year were Peter Fellner (Chairman), William Jenkins, 
Lynn Drummond, Steve Crummett, Ian Nicholson and Jonathan Glenn.

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for reviewing the 
membership of the Board and identifying suitable candidates for 
appointment and reappointment as directors. In addition, the Board has 
delegated responsibility to the Nomination Committee for succession 
planning both at Board and senior management level. The inclusion of the 
Chief Executive in the membership of the Nomination Committee ensures 
that a balanced view is taken regarding the needs of the Group as a whole. 
The Committee ensures that the search for Board members is undertaken 
against objective criteria and with due regard to the benefits of diversity 
including gender. Appointments are made on merit taking into account the 
importance of maintaining a balance of skills, experience, independence 
and knowledge. 

Currently, a recruitment search for an additional non-executive director is 
taking place following Dr Lynn Drummond’s decision to step down from the 
Board. Ridgeway Partners are assisting with this search.

Neither Ridgeway Partners nor Heidrick & Struggles has any other 
connection with the Company.

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee is comprised entirely of independent non-executive 
directors. Members during the year have been Steve Crummett as 
Chairman, Lynn Drummond and Ian Nicholson until his resignation on  
14 February 2014. Steve Crummett is the individual who the Board 
considers has recent and relevant financial experience and is a chartered 
accountant.

The external auditors’ lead partner and the Chief Financial Officer attend 
each meeting as requested by the Committee. The Chief Executive Officer 
attends the interim and year end meetings.

The Audit Committee met three times during the year. The meetings were 
attended by all members. At each meeting the members of the Committee 
took the opportunity of meeting the external auditors without management 
being present.

During the year the Audit Committee discussed the following key items:

•	Risk assurance

•	Treasury

•	Accounting policies

•	Financial results and budgets

•	Engagement and review of external auditors 

•	Review of audit and non-audit services and fees

•	Review of reimbursed expenses

•	Committee terms of reference

•	Key developments in accounting, corporate reporting and taxation.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing on behalf of the Board 
the Group’s financial and reporting practices and disclosures, reviewing the 
integrity of the financial statements, the Group’s system of internal controls, 
the work of the external auditors and Group compliance with financial 
policies, laws and regulations. The Audit Committee terms of reference 
may be obtained from the Company’s website.
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The annual and half-yearly financial reports are reviewed by the Committee 
through a process which includes discussion with the Chief Financial 
Officer and the external auditors. The external auditors prepare reports 
to the Committee on significant accounting policies and issues and 
judgements applied in the preparation of the financial reports. The Audit 
Committee gives its recommendation to the Board concerning the 
adoption and publication of all financial reports to shareholders.

In addition to the Board, the Audit Committee has conducted its annual 
review of the system of internal controls based on a review of significant 
risks identified, internal reviews, external audits and reports from 
management.

Financial Reporting and Significant Financial Matters
In carrying out its duties, the Committee is required to assess whether 
suitable accounting policies have been adopted and to challenge the 
robustness of significant management judgements reflected in the financial 
results. This process involves reviewing relevant papers prepared by 
management in support of the policies adopted and judgements made. 
These papers are discussed with management and the external auditors. 
In addition, the Committee reviews the year end report to the Audit 
Committee from the external auditors based upon its work performed and 
findings from the annual audit.

The significant accounting issues considered by the Committee during 
the year were areas where management is required to use significant 
judgement. These issues are listed below:

Goodwill Impairment
The value of goodwill is supported by a value in use model prepared by 
management. This is based on cash flows extracted from the Group’s 
budget and strategic plan, which have both been approved by the Board. 
The Committee has reviewed the model and assessed the assumptions 
used by management in discussion with management and the external 
auditors.

Contingent Consideration on the Disposal of King 
Systems
The contingent consideration due on the disposal of King Systems is 
recorded at fair value, a calculation which requires judgement around 
the level of expected sales of the King Vision product for three years 
post disposal. The Committee has reviewed the fair value calculation 
and assessed the assumptions used by management in discussion with 
management and the external auditors.

The Treatment of Special Items and their Presentation 
in the Consolidated Financial Statements
Special items have been separately disclosed within the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. The Committee has reviewed papers 
prepared by management showing how these costs have been identified 
and calculated. It has challenged both the quantum of the charge and its 
presentation in the consolidated income statement and is satisfied that 
these costs have been treated appropriately.

Revenue Recognition
The Group’s policy for revenue recognition is set out in note 1 to the 
financial statements. Management prepares a paper for the Committee 
setting out any key judgements applied in respect of revenue recognition 
and in the accounting for major manufacturing contracts. The Committee 
has reviewed the papers presented and challenged management on the 
judgements applied ensuring they are in line with the Group policy.

The Committee has additionally discussed each issue with the external 
auditor and sought its opinion based upon the work they have performed 
during the audit. Based upon its review and discussions with both 
management and the Group’s external and internal auditors, the Committee 
is satisfied that, after raising appropriate challenge, the judgements outlined 
above are reasonable and that the appropriate disclosures have been 
included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Non-Audit Services
In accordance with its policy on non-audit services provided by the 
Company’s auditors, the Committee reviews and approves the award of 
any such work. The Audit Committee refers to the Board for approval of 
any work comprising non-audit services where the fees for such work will 
represent a significant proportion of the annual audit fee. 

Ernst & Young LLP have handled the Group’s tax compliance programme 
and specifically advised on the Patent Box regime and Above the Line 
R&D claims. Deloitte LLP have provided remuneration advice and valuation 
service in respect of Long-term Incentive Plan grants. KPMG LLP have 
provided risk assurance audit services.

Details of non-audit services provided to the Company by the external 
auditors are shown in note 3 to the financial statements.

Auditor Independence 
The Audit Committee keeps under review the scope and results of the 
external audit work, its cost and the independence and objectivity of the 
auditors. The independent auditors operate procedures to safeguard 
against the possibility that their objectivity and independence could be 
compromised. This includes the use of quality review partners, a technical 
review board (where appropriate) and annual independence review 
procedures. The auditors are required to rotate the lead audit partner to the 
Group every five years. The Committee has considered the reappointment 
of the auditors of the Group and recommended to the Board that 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP be proposed for reappointment, having 
noted the scope and results of their work in relation to this year’s audit 
as well as their objectivity, effectiveness and independence. The Board 
endorsed this recommendation. 

Reappointment of External Auditor
The Audit Committee is also monitoring developments at the European 
Union level regarding mandatory audit rotation and will factor any legislative 
requirements into its future plans around audit tendering.

Internal Audit
The Audit Committee annually considers the need for a separate dedicated 
internal audit function and has again concluded that in its opinion, given 
the scale and nature of the Group’s operations, this is not required. 
Instead the Group conducts appropriate internal audit activities through 
both the deployment of independent Group employees, and through 
the engagement of internal audit services from suitably qualified external 
providers. The Audit Committee keeps this under review. 
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Whistle-blowing
The Audit Committee has reviewed and approved the internal procedures 
whereby employees can raise concerns about possible financial or other 
irregularities. The policy gives guidance on the type of matters that staff 
may wish to disclose, and a means of doing so via an independent 
organisation in the event that any staff member feels that he or she cannot 
make a disclosure via the usual management channels. 

The Group is committed to the highest standards of openness, integrity 
and accountability and the prevention of bribery and corruption. The 
Group operates a whistle-blowing policy so that employees can report 
confidentially any matter giving rise to concerns about the operation of the 
Group’s business.

Other Committees

The Executive Committee
This Committee is responsible for the executive management of the Group. 
It comprises the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer, the Company 
Secretary/General Counsel, the Bespak General Manager, and the Director 
of Human Resources. This Committee meets monthly to review and make 
decisions on operational matters not reserved for Board decisions.

The Corporate Responsibility Committee
The Corporate Responsibility Committee is responsible for reviewing and 
prioritising the Group’s Corporate Responsibility activities, further details of 
which can be found in the Corporate Responsibility Review on pages 24 
to 31 of this report. The Committee is chaired by non-executive director 
Ian Nicholson. Other members include the Chief Executive Officer, the 
General Manager of Bespak, the Director of Human Resources and the 
Bespak Continuous Improvement Director. The Company Secretary acts 
as secretary to the Committee.

Scientific Advisory Board
The role of the Scientific Advisory Board is to provide an expert 
independent view on the current portfolio of products and programmes 
together with advice and guidance on the external environment in the 
specific therapeutic areas in which Consort operates in. 

Risk Committee
The role and responsibilities of the Risk Committee are outlined under the 
Risk Management section. 

Accountability

Internal Controls Review
The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the Group’s system 
of internal controls and for reviewing its effectiveness. Such a system is 
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives and can only provide reasonable, but not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board has received 
regular reports on areas of any significant risk and on the related internal 
controls. The Board reviews the framework of internal controls annually 
and has reviewed the effectiveness of its internal systems of control as 
they have been operated within the year in accordance with the Turnbull 
Guidance (2005). This system has been in place for the year under review 
and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and accounts. 

The review covers all material controls including financial and financial 
reporting processes, operational, compliance and risk management 
systems.

Controls over the financial reporting process and preparation of the 
consolidated accounts consist of extensive reviews by qualified and 
experienced individuals that ensure that all elements of the financial 
statements and appropriate disclosure are considered and accurately 
stated.

Risk Management
The Board accepts responsibility for determining the nature and extent of 
the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives. 

There is an on-going internal process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing significant risks faced by the Company that is regularly reviewed 
by the Risk Committee, the Executive Committee and then by the Board. 
This process has been in place throughout the year and up to the date of 
this report. 

The Risk Committee is responsible for advising the Executive Committee 
on the co-ordination and prioritisation of risk management issues 
throughout the Group and developing a risk management strategy; 
ensuring that the Board’s risk policy is implemented throughout the Group 
through effective development and review of risk registers, mitigation plans 
and insurance policies; and promoting risk awareness at all levels.

A risk management strategy encompassing risk assessment and risk 
treatment has been adopted with the key objective to ensure that 
risk management is an integral part of the strategic and operational 
management decision-making, planning and implementation process. Risk 
appetite and tolerance has been reviewed and agreed by the Board and 
will be considered annually and monitored as appropriate.

The Company’s strategic plan is reviewed annually at an off-site meeting 
involving the Board and the Executive Committee. An annual budget is 
prepared by each of the operating divisions of the Company and this is 
consolidated into a Group Plan, which is reviewed and approved by the 
Board.

Further information on how we manage our business risks is set out in the 
Risk section on pages 22 and 23, which contains a list of the principal 
risks and uncertainties.
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Control Procedures 
Progress against budget is monitored at operating business and Group 
levels throughout the Company via monthly reporting of actual financial 
performance against budget and prior period actual results. The 
Executive Committee also reviews monthly the key measures of operating 
performance.

The Group has clear authority limits deriving from the list of matters 
reserved for decision by the Board, including capital expenditure approval 
procedures.

Financial Reporting
The directors’ responsibility for preparing the accounts is set out in the 
Directors’ Report on page 35.

Going Concern
The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group and the 
Company have adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future as the Group has net cash of £25.8m at 30 April 
2014 and banking facilities of £74.3m which are currently undrawn that are 
available up until November 2016. The Company has therefore adopted 
the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Remuneration
Our Remuneration Report, which describes the level and components of 
the remuneration of the directors, is set out on pages 56 to 63.

Relations with Shareholders
The Board regards relationships with shareholders as very important and 
it aims to encourage open dialogue with them through regular meetings 
with the Group’s institutional shareholders, including regular meetings 
following the announcement of the Company’s interim and annual results. 
Meetings are also held at other times with institutional investors and other 
shareholders at their request. Shareholders may meet with any new non-
executive director if they wish. The Chairman ensures that views expressed 
at these meetings are reported to the Board as a whole. The Company’s 
brokers also attend Board meetings at the request of the Chairman to 
provide feedback on shareholder opinion.

The Senior Independent Director is available to meet with shareholders as 
required.

The Annual General Meeting
All shareholders have the opportunity of discussing the Group’s 
performance and development at its Annual General Meeting (AGM), which 
provides a forum for shareholders to raise issues with the Board. Members 
of the Remuneration, Nomination, Audit and Corporate Responsibility 
Committees will also be available at the Annual General Meeting so that 
shareholders may discuss any queries they may have. 

Our previous AGM was held in Hemel Hempstead on 2 September 2013 
and the full voting results on each of the resolutions are published on 
our website. Our 2014 AGM will be held on 4 September 2014 at the 
Company’s registered office in Hemel Hempstead. The Notice of the 
Meeting sets out each of the resolutions to be proposed and a copy of the 
Notice can be downloaded from the Company’s website at  
www.consortmedical.com. 

45

Consort Medical plc  
consortmedical.com  

Stock Code: CSRT

O
ur

 G
ov

er
na

nc
e



23142.04   15 July 2014 5:12 PM   Proof 4

Dear Shareholder,
On behalf of the Board I am pleased to present Consort Medical’s 
FY2014 Directors’ Remuneration Report, our first under the new directors’ 
remuneration reporting regulations. 

This report is split into two sections. The first outlines our remuneration 
policy which, subject to shareholders’ approval, will apply from  
4 September, the date of the 2014 AGM. The second part outlines how 
we have applied remuneration policy during FY2014 and how we plan to 
apply the remuneration policy in FY2015. 

Changes During the Year
In last year’s report we highlighted that the Committee was considering 
revising the performance measures for 2013 LTIP awards. Following 
detailed consultation with shareholders the Committee concluded that, 
in order to incentivise sustained improvement in earnings as well as 
increasing share price and dividend return, it was appropriate to introduce 
an EPS performance condition. As such, for LTIP awards granted in 2013 
vesting is based 50% on TSR against the FTSE Small Cap Index (excluding 
investment trust, finance, property and insurance companies) and 50% on 
aggregate EPS performance. 

We believe that our current incentive structures remain appropriate and 
continue to align the interests of our executives with you, our shareholders. 
For this reason, no other changes to our incentives are proposed. The 
Committee will continue the practice of consulting with shareholders 
regarding any future changes to the remuneration policy.

FY2014 Incentive Payouts
The Committee reviewed base salaries for the executive directors and 
awarded an increase of 3.5% to both the CEO and CFO effective from 
1 August 2014. These increases are in line with the average increase 
received for other employees in the Group.

The business has performed well during the year. Profit performance 
was strong with profit before tax and special items of £17.527m being 
delivered. The Company has also delivered on a number of key strategic 
objectives which are outlined in more detail on page 58. Taking into 
account performance during FY2014 the Committee determined that the 
CEO would receive a total bonus of 100% of salary (67% of maximum) and 
the CFO would receive a total bonus of 72% of salary (65% of maximum).

TSR performance over the last three years has been very strong. Over the 
period 1 May 2011 to 30 April 2014, Consort Medical’s TSR increased 
by 25.08% per annum. This performance resulted in maximum vesting for 
2011 LTIP awards.

I trust you will find this report informative, and I look forward to receiving 
your support for both resolutions at the AGM.

Dr William Jenkins
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Remuneration Committee
Chairman’s Letter
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The following sets out our Directors’ Remuneration Policy (the “Policy”). 
This Policy will be put forward for shareholder approval at the 2014 AGM in 
accordance with section 439A of the Companies Act 2006. This Policy will 
apply to payments made from the AGM on 4 September 2014.

The Annual Remuneration Report (pages 56 to 63) includes further details 
on how this Policy will be operated for the FY2015 financial year.

Consort Medical’s Executive Remuneration Principles 
Our key principle is to provide remuneration packages for executive 
directors which:

•	are sufficiently attractive to enable the Company to recruit and retain 
talented individuals with the necessary skills and expertise to support 
the development of Consort Medical and grow long-term value for our 
shareholders; 

•	contain levels of performance related variable pay such that they are 
aligned with the long-term interests of our shareholders; and

•	provide appropriate motivation for executives to execute the strategy 
agreed by the Board and to develop and grow the Company and 
shareholder value, whilst taking account of internal and external risks.

The following outlines the Company’s remuneration policy which the 
Committee believes achieves this objective. The key features are:

•	providing a remuneration opportunity that is market competitive 
compared to relevant peers reflecting individuals’ experience, 
performance and responsibilities;

•	operating of an annual bonus, with a long-term deferred share element 
to align interests with shareholders over the longer term, where annual 
performance targets are aligned with business strategy;

•	offering participation in a long-term incentive plan which rewards 
executives for delivering shareholder value creation; and

•	expecting executive directors to build up and maintain a holding of 
Company shares thus promoting alignment of directors’ interests with 
those of shareholders.

Remuneration 
Policy Report

Policy table
Element Purpose and link to 

strategy
Operation Maximum opportunity Performance measures

Base 
salary

The core element of a 
competitive remuneration 
package.

•	The Committee sets base salary taking 
into account:

 —The individual’s experience, responsibility 
and performance;

 —Salary levels at relevant comparators 
and at companies of a similar size and 
complexity;

 —Remuneration of different groups of 
employees within the Company.

•	Where appropriate, it is the policy of the 
Committee to pay upper quartile base 
salaries where the incumbent is of a 
proven calibre, along with demonstrable 
and sustained success in the role.

•	Base salary is normally reviewed annually 
with changes effective from 1 August 
although salaries may be reviewed more 
frequently or at different times of the 
year if the Committee determines this is 
appropriate. 

•	In determining salary increases 
the Committee considers 
the factors outlined in the 
‘operation’ column. While there 
is no maximum salary level, 
salary increases will normally 
be in-line with the typical level 
of increase awarded to other 
employees in the Group. 

•	However, the Committee 
retains the discretion to make 
increases above this level in 
certain circumstances, for 
example, but not limited to, 
an increase in the individual’s 
scope of responsibilities; in the 
case of new executive directors 
who are positioned on a lower 
initial salary whilst they gain 
experience in the role, where 
the Company has significantly 
increased in size, or where the 
Committee considers that the 
current salary does not reflect 
the Company’s policy of upper 
quartile salary positioning for 
experienced executives.

Salaries with effect from  
1 August 2014 are:
•	CEO (Jonathan Glenn) — 

£434,700

•	CFO (Richard Cotton) — 
£282,500

None
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Remuneration 
Policy Report
continued

Element Purpose and link to 
strategy

Operation Maximum opportunity Performance measures

Annual 
Incentive 
Scheme

•	To motivate and reward 
superior performance 
measured against annual 
financial, strategic and 
operational goals of the 
Company which reflects 
critical success factors.

•	The deferred share 
award element of the 
annual bonus ensures 
that part of the value 
of payments earned 
remains tied to the 
Company’s share 
price for a three year 
period, thus embedding 
long-term alignment 
with the interests of our 
shareholders within the 
annual bonus plan.

•	The Committee 
considers that when 
taken together, the cash 
and deferred share 
elements strengthen 
the alignment between 
shareholders’ and 
executive directors’ 
interests and encourages 
a longer-term focus on 
shareholder value.

•	The Committee determines the maximum 
incentive opportunity taking into account 
the responsibilities of the role and market 
practice at comparable companies.

•	Performance is assessed over a financial 
year.

•	The Committee determines the level of 
bonus paid at its discretion taking into 
account performance against targets, the 
underlying performance of the business 
and executive directors’ management of, 
and performance in, all of the business 
issues that arose during the year.

Deferred share element:
•	The deferred share element may be 

structured as a nil-cost option or a 
conditional award of shares. Awards 
structured as nil-cost options may be 
exercised within 40 days of vesting.

•	The deferred share awards will normally 
vest three years from award (unless the 
Committee determines an alternative 
vesting period is appropriate).

•	The vesting of deferred share awards 
will normally be subject to continued 
employment.

•	Dividend equivalents may be awarded 
during the vesting period. Dividend 
equivalents may be determined by the 
Committee on a cumulative basis and 
may assume reinvestment of dividends in 
the Company’s shares. 

•	For awards granted on or after 1 
June 2013, in the event of a material 
misstatement in Consort Medical’s financial 
results the Committee may, at its discretion 
apply malus to outstanding awards. The 
Committee may reduce the number of 
outstanding shares to reflect the number 
of shares that would have vested if the 
misstatement had not occurred. 

•	The Committee may adjust and amend 
the terms of the deferred share awards in 
accordance with the Consort Medical plc 
Deferred Bonus Plan 2010.

•	CEO — Maximum opportunity 
of up to 150% of base salary 
(100% cash, 50% deferred into 
shares)

•	CFO — Maximum opportunity 
of up to 110% of base salary 
(75% cash, 35% deferred into 
shares)

•	For the cash element of 
the bonus, payments starts 
being earned for entry level 
performance from 25% of 
maximum, if target levels of 
performance are delivered with 
the full incentive being paid for 
delivering maximum levels of 
performance.

•	For the deferred share element, 
the Committee determines the 
approach level of pay taking 
into account performance in 
the round.

Cash element:
•	The cash element of the 

bonuses is determined based 
on performance against 
financial performance metrics 
and personal objectives.

•	Currently 80% of the bonus is 
based on financial measures 
with 20% based on individual 
personal objectives. The 
Committee may adjust this 
weighting in future years 
to ensure executives are 
appropriately incentivised to 
deliver key strategic goals. In 
any year financial performance 
metrics will always account for  
at least 70% of the bonus.

•	The Committee sets targets 
each year to ensure that they 
are appropriately stretching 
in the context of the business 
plan.

Deferred share element:
•	The award of the deferred 

shares is subject to the 
Committee’s assessment 
of performance against the 
strategic goals of the Group. 
The deferred share element 
will not be awarded unless the 
Committee is satisfied that 
a minimum level of financial 
performance has been 
achieved. 

•	The strategic measures for 
the bonus are assessed each 
year and represent areas that 
are important for the long-term 
success of the Company 
including but not limited to 
matters such as growth, new 
value creation, broadening the 
depth and range of products 
portfolios, innovation and 
diversification into adjacent 
markets while keeping a tight 
control on costs.

For further details of metrics for 
the FY2015 annual bonus please 
see page 56.
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Element Purpose and link to 
strategy

Operation Maximum opportunity Performance measures

Long-term 
Incentive 
Plan

•	To reinforce the 
alignment of the interest 
of executive directors 
and shareholders.

•	To motivate long-term 
business performance 
and shareholder value 
creation. 

•	To help retain our critical 
executive talent.

•	Award of shares which normally vest 
based on performance over a period of 
three years or such other period as the 
Committee may determine. 

•	Under the LTIP rules awards may be 
granted in the form of performance share 
awards (a conditional award of shares or 
a nil cost option) or a share appreciation 
right (share settled market value options).

•	The Committee may grant awards 
as “Approved LTIP” awards (granting 
an LTIP award in conjunction with an 
HMRC approved Company Share Option 
Plan award) to enable the director and 
the Company to benefit from HMRC-
approved tax treatment on part of their 
award without increasing the pre-tax value 
delivered to participants. When a director 
has been granted an option under the 
2010 Share Option Plan, a director may at 
the same time receive an award of a set 
value of shares to fund the exercise price 
for that option or the value of an award on 
vesting may be reduced if the HMRC-
approved option is exercised.

•	The Committee shall determine the extent 
to which the performance measures have 
been met, which may include making 
adjustments to the metrics used to assess 
the performance conditions to reflect any 
relevant factors. 

•	Dividend equivalents may be awarded 
during the vesting period. Dividend 
equivalents may be determined by the 
Committee on a cumulative basis and 
may assume reinvestment of dividends in 
the Company’s shares. 

•	For awards granted on or after 1 June  
2013, in the event of a material 
misstatement in Consort Medical’s 
financial results the Committee may at 
its discretion apply malus to outstanding 
awards. 

•	The Committee may adjust and amend 
the terms of awards in accordance with 
the Consort Medical 2005 Long-term 
Incentive Plan rules. The rules were 
approved by shareholders in 2005.

•	The maximum award is 100% 
of salary.

•	Where awards are in the form 
of share appreciation rights the 
Committee will determine an 
appropriate value. 

•	Any shares subject to an 
HMRC-approved option do not 
count towards these limits. 

•	Awards vest based on relative 
total shareholder return 
and earnings performance 
measures. These measures will 
normally be equally weighted 
but the Committee may 
determine that an alternative 
weighting is appropriate. In any 
case, either measure will have 
no less than a 25% weighting.

•	For threshold levels of 
performance 25% of the award 
vests, increasing to 100% 
of the award for maximum 
performance. There is straight-
line vest of awards between 
these points.

•	The Committee determines 
targets each year to ensure 
that targets are stretching and 
represent value creation for 
shareholders while remaining 
motivational for management. 

•	If events happen which cause 
the Committee to consider that 
a performance condition has 
become unfair or impractical, it 
may amend that performance 
condition provided that 
the amended performance 
condition is not more difficult 
to satisfy than the original 
performance condition.

•	For share awards, in the event 
of a variation of the Company’s 
share capital or a demerger, 
delisting, special dividend, 
rights issue or other event, 
which may, in the Remuneration 
Committee’s opinion, affect 
the current or future value of 
shares, the number of shares 
subject to an award and/or any 
performance condition attached 
to awards, may be adjusted.
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Remuneration 
Policy Report
continued

Element Purpose and link to 
strategy

Operation Maximum opportunity Performance measures

Pension •	Part of a competitive 
package by providing a 
retirement benefit.

•	The Company provides executive 
directors with a Group Personal Pension 
Plan. To the extent that the aggregate of 
the employee and employer contributions 
exceed the annual allowance, a taxable 
cash supplement is provided.

•	The Committee may determine that 
alternative pension provisions will operate 
for new appointments to the Board. When 
determining pension arrangements for 
new appointments the Board will give 
regard to the cost of the arrangements, 
market practice and the pension 
arrangements received elsewhere in the 
Group.

•	The Company’s maximum 
contribution/cash supplement 
for the executive directors is as 
follows:

•	CEO — 20% of base salary

•	CFO — 17.5% of base salary 

None

Benefits •	Part of a competitive 
package.

•	Benefit policy is to provide an appropriate 
level of benefit taking into account market 
practice at similar sized companies and 
the level of benefits provided for other 
employees in the Group.

•	Core benefits — Benefits currently include 
car allowance, fuel card, life assurance, 
private medical insurance (for the 
executive and his family) and personal 
permanent health insurance.

•	All-employee share plans — Executives 
are eligible to participate in the Company’s 
all-employee share schemes on the same 
terms as UK colleagues up to  
HMRC-approved limits. The Company 
currently operates the Savings Related 
Share Option Plan and Share Incentive 
Plan.

•	Relocation policy – In the event that an 
executive were required to relocate from 
their home location to undertake their role, 
the Committee may provide an additional 
reasonable level of benefits to reflect the 
relevant circumstances (on a one-off or 
ongoing basis).

•	Benefits are reviewed by the Committee 
in the context of market practice from 
time to time and the Committee may 
introduce or remove particular benefits if it 
is considered appropriate to do so.

•	The cost of benefit provision 
will depend on the cost to the 
Company of providing individual 
items and the individual’s 
circumstances and therefore 
there is no maximum value.

None
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The Company also operates a shareholding guideline — details of this 
policy can be found on page 60 of the Annual Remuneration Report.

Malus may apply where stated in the above table. Other elements of 
remuneration are not subject to clawback or malus.

Prior to 2013 unvested awards under the 2005 LTIP were subject to a TSR 
performance condition only.

The Committee reserves the right to make any remuneration payments 
and payments for loss of office (including the exercise of any discretions 
available to it in connection with such payments) notwithstanding that they 
are not line with the Policy set out above where the terms of the payment 
were agreed (i) before the policy came into effect or (ii) at a time when the 
relevant individual was not a director of the Company and, in the opinion 
of the Committee, the payment was not in consideration for the individual 
becoming a director of the Company. For these purposes “payments” 
includes the Committee satisfying awards of variable remuneration and an 
award over shares is “agreed” at the time the award is granted.

The Committee may however make minor amendments to the policy set 
out above (for regulatory, exchange control, tax or administrative purposes 
or to take account of a change in legislation) without obtaining shareholder 
approval for that amendment. 

Information Supporting the Policy Table

Selection of Performance Measures
The annual bonus contains two elements — the cash element and 
the deferred share element. The cash portion is based on financial 
performance and personal objectives for the individual executive directors. 
The Committee selected these measures to ensure continued focus on 
delivery of financial performance compared to budget and the achievement 
of key personal goals which are considered important to drive the 
performance of the business in the long-term. The level of a deferred 
share award is based on the achievement of key strategic milestones. In 
a business such as ours it is important that there is a constant focus on 
innovation, development and meeting strategic objectives today which will 
deliver value for shareholders in the future. 

The Committee considers that the combination of measures used for the 
cash and deferred share element provides an appropriate balance of focus 
on financial and wider business and strategic goals.

The LTIP is based on total shareholder return and earnings performance. 
Total shareholder return measures share price improvement and dividend 
returns and therefore is a direct measure of the value we have returned to 
shareholders compared to key peers. The earnings measures incentivise 
management to grow earnings for shareholders over the long-term.

Remuneration Arrangements throughout the Group
When assessing remuneration, the Committee takes care to ensure that 
individuals are not overpaid in relation to their roles and responsibilities, and 
that packages for senior individuals are appropriate in comparison to the 
remuneration of other employees within the Company. Remuneration policy 
throughout the organisation is based on the same principles — that reward 
should be sufficient to retain and motivate individuals of a sufficient calibre 
without paying more than is necessary and should encourage individuals 
to deliver their own objectives and ultimately create value for shareholders. 
At Consort Medical our employees have a variety of different roles and 
responsibilities and therefore the reward opportunity and structure of 
reward necessarily is different to reflect this.

In addition to the executive directors, there are three senior executives 
who are members of the Group Executive Committee, who participate 
in the same reward structure. The top 100 people in the organisation all 
participate in the senior executive bonus plan with the top 20 participating 
in the LTIP on the same basis as the executive directors. All employees 
are eligible to earn a bonus each year which can either be taken in cash 
or in shares through the Share Incentive Plan giving all employees the 
opportunity to be shareholders. We also offer all employees the opportunity 
to save and buy shares through the Sharesave Plan. 
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Remuneration 
Policy Report
continued

Remuneration Policy for Non-Executive Directors
The Board is responsible for determining the policy on remuneration of non-executive directors. The Company aims to attract non-executive directors 
who, through their experience, can further the interests of the Company and make an effective contribution to its strategic development.

Approach to setting fees Basis of fees Other items

•	The fees of the non-executive directors are agreed 
by the Board. 

•	The fee for the Chairman is agreed by the 
Committee.

•	Fees are normally reviewed every two years but 
may be reviewed more or less frequently if it is 
considered appropriate.

•	Fees are set taking into account the level of 
responsibility, relevant experience and specialist 
knowledge of each non-executive director and 
fees at other companies of a similar size and 
complexity. 

•	Non-executive directors are paid a basic fee for 
membership of the Board with additional fees 
being paid for being the Senior Independent 
Director or Chairman of a Board committee to 
take into account the additional responsibilities 
and workload. Additional fees may also be paid 
for other Board responsibilities or roles if this is 
considered appropriate.

•	The non-executive Chairman receives an all-
inclusive fee for the role.

•	Fees are paid in cash.

•	Current fees with effect from 1 May 2013 as are 
follows:

 —Chairman’s fees – £130,000

 —Basic non-executive director fees – £38,500

Supplements:
 —Senior Independent director – £7,500

 —Audit Committee Chairman – £7,500

 —Remuneration Committee Chairman – £7,500

 —Corporate Responsibility Chairman – £5,000

•	Annual bonuses or share-based incentives are not 
awarded to non-executive directors, but they are 
encouraged to hold shares in the Company.

•	Non-executive directors do not currently receive 
any benefits. However, benefits may be provided 
in the future if, in the view of the Board (for 
non-executive directors or the Committee for the 
Chairman), this is considered appropriate.

•	Travel and other reasonable expenses (including 
fees incurred in obtaining professional advice 
in the furtherance of their duties) incurred in the 
course of performing their duties are reimbursed to 
non-executive directors.

•	Non-executive directors are included on the 
directors’ and officers’ indemnity insurance. 

Remuneration Policy for New Hires
When determining the remuneration package for a newly-appointed 
executive director, the Committee would seek to apply the following 
principles: 

•	The package should be market competitive to facilitate the recruitment of 
individuals of sufficient calibre to lead the business. At the same time, the 
Committee would intend to pay no more than it believes is necessary to 
secure the required talent. 

•	The structure of the ongoing remuneration package would normally 
include the components set out in the policy table for executive directors.

•	In addition, the Committee has discretion to include any other 
remuneration component or award which it feels is appropriate taking into 
account the specific commercial circumstances, and subject to the limit 
on variable remuneration set out below. The key terms and rationale for 
any such component would be appropriately disclosed.

•	Where an individual forfeits outstanding variable pay opportunities or 
contractual rights at a previous employer as a result of appointment, 
the Committee may offer compensatory payments or awards, in such 
form as the Committee considers appropriate taking into account all 
relevant factors including the form of awards, expected value and vesting 
timeframe of forfeited opportunities. When determining such ‘buy-out’ the 
guiding principle would be that awards would generally be on a ‘like for 
like’ basis unless not appropriate.

•	The maximum level of variable remuneration which may be awarded 
(excluding any compensatory payments or awards referred to above) 
is 250% of salary (this reflects the current maximum opportunity for the 
CEO i.e. a bonus of 150% of base salary and an LTIP award of 100% 
of base salary). This maximum level of variable remuneration includes 
awards made as part of the ongoing package.

•	Where an executive director is required to relocate from their home 
location to takeup their role the Committee may provide reasonable 
assistance with relocation (either via one-off or ongoing payments or 
benefits).

•	In the event that an internal candidate was promoted to the Board, legacy 
terms and conditions would normally be honoured, including pension 
entitlements and any outstanding incentive awards. 

To facilitate buy-out awards outlined above, in the event of recruitment, the 
Committee may grant awards to a new executive director under the Listing 
Rule 9.4.2 which allows for the granting of awards, to facilitate, in unusual 
circumstances, the recruitment of an executive director, without seeking 
prior shareholder approval or under any other appropriate Company 
incentive plan.

The remuneration package for a newly appointed non-executive director 
would normally be in line with the structure set out in the policy table for 
non-executive directors. Remuneration for new hires may be paid in the 
form of cash or shares. 
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Remuneration Outcomes in Different Performance 
Scenarios
The remuneration package at Consort Medical is structured so that the 
majority of the package is related to the delivery of performance over the 
short and long-term to ensure that reward is aligned with shareholder value 
creation. 

The charts to the right show hypothetical values of the remuneration 
package for executive directors under three assumed performance 
scenarios:

Maximum award 
opportunities
% of salary

CEO CFO

Annual Bonus 150% 110%

PSP 100% 100%

Minimum No annual incentive pay-out
No vesting under the LTIP

Mid performance 50% annual incentive pay-out (75% for the CEO, 60% 
for the CFO)
25% vesting under the LTIP (25% of salary)

Maximum performance 100% annual incentive pay-out (150% for the CEO, 
110% for the CFO)
100% LTIP vesting (100% of salary)

No share price growth has been assumed. Potential benefits under 
all employee share schemes and dividend equivalents have not been 
included.

CEO – JONATHAN GLENN

Minimum

£538k100%

55% 34% 11%

33% 40% 27%

£972k

£1,624k

Mid performance

Maximum performance

■ Fixed Pay     ■ Annual Bonus     ■ Long-term incentive

CFO – RICHARD COTTON

Minimum

£345k100%

61% 27% 12%

37% 33% 30%

£572k

£939k

Mid performance

Maximum performance

■ Fixed Pay     ■ Annual Bonus     ■ Long-term incentive

Fixed pay is comprised of the following:
Salary

(Salary with effect 
from 1 August 2014)

Benefits
(Paid in FY2014)

Pension
(Based on salary with effect 

from 1 August 2014)
Total 

Fixed Pay

CEO (Jonathan Glenn) £434,700 £16,000 £86,940 £537,640

CFO (Richard Cotton) £282,500 £14,000 £49,438 £345,938
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Remuneration 
Policy Report
continued

Executive Director Service Contracts and Policy on Payment for Loss of Office
When determining leaving arrangements for an executive director the Committee takes into account any contractual agreements including the provisions 
of any incentive arrangements, typical market practice and the performance and conduct of the individual.

The service agreements are available to shareholders to view on request from the Company Secretary. 

Notice period Executive directors have service contracts with the Company which can be terminated on 12 months’ notice by the Company and 6 months’ notice 
by the executive directors.
Jonathan Glenn was appointed on 26 July 2006 and Richard Cotton was appointed on 25 June 2012.

Payment in lieu of 
notice

The Company may at its discretion terminate any executive director’s contract by making a payment in lieu of notice equal to the base salary, 
benefits which would have been received during the notice period. The current executive directors are also entitled to an amount in respect of bonus 
for their notice period (or remainder of the notice period). The Committee has the discretion to determine the level of such bonus. Recently when 
directors left the business the Committee determined that no bonus should be due for the notice period. The Committee’s policy going forward 
is that when new contracts are agreed with new executive directors that any entitlement to bonus as part of any payment in lieu of notice will be 
removed. Executive directors are also entitled to a payment in respect of any accrued but untaken holiday at the time of termination of employment. 
If such a payment were to be made to Mr Cotton, it may be made in instalments over the notice period. 

Annual incentives The executive director may, at the discretion of the Committee, remain eligible to receive an annual bonus for the financial year in which they 
ceased employment. Such Annual Incentive Scheme awards will be determined by the Committee taking into account time in employment and 
performance. 

2010 Deferred 
bonus plan

Death
Awards shall vest at the time of death and where awards are in the form of options they may be exercised for a period of 12 months from death.
“Good leaver” by reason of injury, ill-health or disability, redundancy, retirement, the Company for which the participant works leaving the Group and 
any other reasons determined by the Committee
Awards shall vest in full on the normal vesting date unless the Committee determines that awards should vest on the individual’s cessation of 
employment. Where awards are in the form of nil-cost options they may be exercised during the normal exercise window or, where the Committee 
has determined that awards should vest on the participant’s date of cessation of employment for a period of six months from cessation of 
employment. 
“Good leaver” by reason of the participant’s employing business leaving the Group
Awards will vest in full at the time of the business leaving the Group. Awards in the form of options may be exercised for up to six months from the 
relevant business leaving the Group. 
Leavers in other circumstances
Awards will normally lapse.

2005 LTIP Death
Performance share awards shall vest at the date of death or at the normal vesting date (at the choice of the personal representatives of a deceased 
participant). Awards will be pro-rated to the date of death and to the extent to which the performance condition has been met. 
For awards in the form of stock appreciation rights, personal representatives shall have 12 months from vesting to exercise awards.
“Good leaver” by reason of injury, ill-health or disability, redundancy, retirement, the sale of the participant’s employing company and business out of 
the Group and any other reason determined by the Committee
Performance share awards shall vest on the normal vesting date and shall be pro-rated for the period of time elapsed up to the participant’s 
cessation of employment and the extent to which the performance condition has been met. 
For awards in the form of share appreciation rights, participants shall have six months from the normal vesting date to exercise awards which vest as 
a result of the individual’s cessation of employment. Any share appreciation rights which have already vested may be exercised within six months of 
the individual’s cessation of employment.
Leavers in other circumstances
Awards will normally lapse.

2010 CSOP
HMRC-approved 
plan

Where options vest before the end of any relevant performance period, the Committee may assess any relevant performance condition on such 
modified basis as the Committee may determine. 
Death
Options will become exercisable to the extent that the performance conditions have been met for a period of 12 months following death. 
“Good leaver” by reason of injury, ill-health or disability, redundancy, retirement, the Company for which the participant works leaving the Group or 
any other reasons determined by the Committee
Options which have not vested at the time of cessation vest on the normal vesting date to the extent that the performance conditions have been 
met. Options which have already vested at the time of cessation may be exercised for six months following cessation of employment. 
“Good leaver” by reason of the participant’s employing business leaving the Group
The Committee may notify participants when it becomes aware that a relevant business may be leaving the Group. If participants are given at least 
14 days’ notice of the transfer, options vest to the extent that the performance conditions have been met and may be exercised until the completion 
of the transfer. If such notice is not given, options vest on the normal vesting date to the extent that the performance conditions have been met and 
may be exercised for a period of 12 months thereafter. 
Leavers in other circumstances
Options will normally lapse. 
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Change of Control
In the event of a change of control or a voluntary winding-up of the 
Company: 

1.  Awards granted under the 2005 PSP will vest subject to the 
achievement of any relevant performance conditions (which may 
be adjusted to reflect the reduced performance period) and if the 
Committee determines it appropriate, time pro-rating. However, in an 
internal reorganisation of the Group share awards may be “rolled over” 
into awards over shares in the acquiring company.

2. Awards granted under the 2010 deferred bonus plan will vest. 

3.  Options granted under the 2010 Share Option Plan will vest and may 
be exercised within six months of the takeover taking place or the 
relevant resolution being passed. However, in an internal reorganisation 
of the Group, options may be “rolled over” into options over shares in 
the acquiring company.

In the event of a demerger, the Committee may determine that awards 
under the 2010 Deferred Bonus Plan vest, and options granted under the 
2010 Share Option Plan may be exercised early. 

Non-Executive Director Letters of Appointment
The non-executive directors have appointment letters, the terms of which 
recognise that their appointments are subject to the Company’s Articles of 
Association and their services are at the direction of the shareholders.

All non-executive directors submit themselves for election at the Annual 
General Meeting following their appointment and at subsequent intervals of 
no more than three years.

Non-executive directors are not entitled to any payment in lieu of notice.

The letters of appointment are available for shareholders to view from the 
Company Secretary upon request. 

The table below shows the appointment and expiry dates for the non-
executive directors:

Name
Effective date 

of appointment Expiry of appointment

P Fellner 14 November 2005 14 November 2014

W Jenkins 6 May 2009 6 May 2015

L Drummond 9 February 2011 8 February 2014

S Crummett 13 June 2012 12 June 2015

I Nicholson 13 June 2012 12 June 2015

Considering Employee Views
The Committee generally considers pay and employment conditions 
elsewhere in the Group when considering pay for executive directors 
and senior management. When considering base salary increases, the 
Committee reviews overall levels of base pay increases offered to other 
employees in the Group.

The Committee does not consult directly with employees regarding 
executive directors’ remuneration. However, the Company has conducted 
a survey of the views of employees in respect of their experience of 
working at Consort Medical including their own reward. 

Consulting with Shareholders
The Committee believes that it is very important to maintain open dialogue 
with shareholders on remuneration matters. Where significant changes are 
proposed to the executive directors’ reward framework, the Committee’s 
policy is to consult with major shareholders (unless not practical). 
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Annual 
Remuneration
Report

The following sets out our Annual Remuneration Report. The Annual 
Remuneration Report shall be subject to an advisory shareholder vote at 
the AGM on 4 September 2014. Where information is audited this has 
been stated. Other information in this report is unaudited.

This reports includes:

•	Details of how remuneration policy will be applied in FY2015;

•	The single figure of remuneration and details of how remuneration policy 
was applied in FY2014;

•	Details of share awards granted in the year;

•	Details of outstanding share awards and shareholding guidelines;

•	Other supplementary disclosure; and

•	Details of the role and activities of the Remuneration Committee

How Remuneration Policy will be Applied in FY2015
The following section outlines how the Committee intends to apply 
remuneration policy for FY2015.

Executive Directors

Base salary
Base salary for executive directors and other senior executives is reviewed 
annually by the Remuneration Committee and any increases are effective 
from 1 August. 

Base salaries with effect from 1 August 2014 will be as follows:
Base salary

(from 1 August 
2014)

Increase 
(%)

CEO (Jonathan Glenn) £434,700 3.5%

CFO (Richard Cotton) £282,500 3.5%

The increases awarded are in line with the average increases received 
throughout the Group.

Base salaries will next be reviewed with effect from 1 August 2015.

Benefits
Executive directors will continue to receive a car allowance, life assurance, 
private medical insurance and personal health insurance. The CEO also 
receives a fuel card.

Retirement benefits
For FY2015, the Company will continue to provide executive directors with 
retirement benefits through the Group Personal Pension Plan. To the extent 
that the aggregate of the employee and employer contributions exceed the 
annual allowance, a taxable cash supplement will be provided. The level 
of the cash supplement is reduced to take into account the fact that the 
amount is subject to employer’s national insurance.

The aggregated level of the Company’s contribution/cash supplement 
for the executive directors for FY2015 (as a percentage of base salary) is 
shown below (before reduction for employer’s NI). These are unchanged 
from FY2014.

Company 
contribution/cash 

supplement

CEO (Jonathan Glenn) 20%

CFO (Richard Cotton) 17.5%

Annual bonus for FY2015
The CEO and CFO’s maximum bonus opportunities are 150% and 110% 
of salary respectively. For the CEO, up to 100% of salary will be in cash, 
and up to 50% of salary will be in shares which are deferred for three 
years. For the CFO, up to 75% of salary will be in cash, and up to 35% will 
be in shares which are deferred for three years. This is illustrated below:

10080604020 1601401200

CEO

CFO Cash 75% Deferred
shares 35%

Deferred
shares 50%

Cash 100%

For the cash portion of the bonus, 80% will be based on PBT before 
special items and 20% will be based on the Committee’s assessment 
of success against personal strategic objectives. Awards under the 
deferred share element will continue to be subject to the Committee’s 
assessment of performance against the Group’s strategic goals, but 
subject to underlying PBT (before special items) performance hurdles 
being met. Personal objectives for the CEO are focused on innovation 
and development of the product portfolio either organically or through 
acquisition and achieving key regulatory and commercialisation timelines. 
Personal objectives for the CFO are focused on managing working capital 
and cash whilst maintaining tight control on cost. The Committee considers 
that this combination of measures provides an appropriate balance of 
focus on improving financial performance and wider business strategic 
goals.

The strategic measures for the bonus have been selected on the basis 
that they represent areas that are important for the long-term success of 
the Company and include matters such as growth, new value creation, 
broadening the depth and range of the product portfolio, innovation and 
diversification into adjacent markets while keeping tight controls on cost.

The Committee considers that when taken together, the cash and deferred 
elements strengthen the alignment between shareholders and executive 
directors’ interests, and encourage a longer-term focus on shareholder 
value, by requiring a three year deferral of a portion of the annual bonus 
which is payable in shares.

The performance measures for the cash and deferred share element are 
summarised below:

Cash element
Deferred share 

element

PBT (80%) Strategic objectives

PBT underpin
(100%)

Individual measures linked to the operational and strategic 
goals of the business (20%)

The performance targets for the FY2015 annual bonus have not been 
disclosed as they are considered by the Board to be commercially 
sensitive on the basis that they could give away details of our budgeting 
and our strategic goals to competitors. 
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Long-term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”)
During FY2015 the Committee intends to grant executive Directors awards 
of 100% of salary under the Consort Medical 2005 Long-term Incentive 
Plan subject to the performance conditions outlined below. The awards will 
be subject 50% to TSR performance compared to the FTSE Small Cap, 
excluding investment trusts, finance, property and insurance companies 
and 50% subject to earnings per share performance.

The Committee believes this combination of measures provides an 
appropriate balance between measuring performance against the 
Company’s peers and incentivising management to grow earnings for 
shareholders over the long-term. The performance schedules below give 
the percentage of each element vesting for various levels of performance.

Relative TSR performance
Vesting schedule 

(% of element)

Company TSR less than mean annualised comparator TSR 0%

Company TSR equal to mean annualised comparator TSR 25%

Company TSR greater than the lower of:
Mean annualised comparator TSR +7%; and
upper quartile annualised comparator TSR 100%

EPS growth (aggregate performance over the 
three years from 1 May 2014 to 30 April 2017)

Vesting schedule 
(% of element)

Less than 153p 0%

153p 25%

177p 100%

Vesting will occur on a straight-line basis between threshold and maximum 
vesting.

External Appointments
With the specific approval of the Board in each case, executive directors 
may accept external appointments as non-executive directors of other 
companies. The directors are entitled to keep the fees from external 
appointments. Neither of the executive directors currently holds any 
external appointments. 

How Remuneration Policy was Implemented in FY2014
The following section describes how remuneration policy was implemented in FY2014.

The following information is audited:

Single Total Figure of Remuneration 
The following table sets out the single figure for total remuneration for executive directors for the FY2014 and FY2013 financial years:

Salary 
£000

Benefits
£000

Bonus 
£000

LTIP 
£000

Pension 
£000

Total 
£000

Jonathan Glenn FY2014 417 16 417 743 83 1,676

FY20131 404 16 506 858 77 1,861

Richard Cotton FY2014 271 14 194 – 45 524

FY2013 219 12 207 – 46 484

1  Subsequent to the FY2013 financial year £27,000 was reclassified from benefits to pension to better reflect the nature of the expense. There is no impact on the total figure 
reported in FY2013.

Notes to the Table 
The following section sets out details of how the numbers included in the single figure table above have been prepared.

Base Salary
The base salary for the CEO was increased by 2.9% to £420,000 and the CFO’s salary was increased by 3% to £273,000 with effect from 1 August 
2013. The figures included in the single figure for FY2014 are slightly lower than these salaries as the single figure represents salary paid during FY2014. 

As salaries were increased on 1 August 2013 the single figure includes three months of the 2013 salary and nine months of the 2014 salary.

Benefits
Benefits include a car allowance, life assurance, private medical insurance and personal health insurance. The CEO also received a fuel card. 
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Annual Bonus
The following section summarises the annual bonuses paid to the CEO and CFO based on performance delivered in FY2014. 

The table below shows the annual and deferred bonus opportunity for the executive directors in FY2014, and the required level of performance against 
budgeted PBT.

In determining the actual bonus awarded, the Committee also made an assessment of individual performance against strategically important goals both at 
a corporate and personal level to ensure that the overall level of bonus paid is appropriate. 

Threshold Target Maximum

PBT hurdle 90% of budgeted PBT 100% of budgeted PBT 105% of budgeted PBT

Cash % 
of salary

Shares % 
of salary

Total % 
of salary

Cash %
of salary

Shares % 
of salary

Total % 
of salary

Cash % 
of salary

Shares % 
of salary

Total % 
of salary

CEO 25% 7% 32% 80% 29% 109% 100% 50% 150%

CFO 18.75% 5% 27.75% 60% 20% 80.5% 75% 35% 110%

As noted above, the award of deferred shares depends on achievement against strategic objectives. In addition, the PBT hurdles outlined above must be 
met before the relevant portion deferred shares can be awarded. If less than 90% of budgeted PBT is delivered no deferred shares can be earned. If PBT 
is less than budget then the maximum amount of deferred shares that can be awarded is 29% of salary to the CEO and 20% of salary to the CFO. 

PBT Targets — 80% of Cash Element
Actual profit before tax and special items performance for FY2014 was 
£17.527m. This was between threshold and target and the cash element 
relating to that PBT performance was 63.6%.

Strategic Measures — 20% of Cash Element and 
Deferred Share Element
For FY2014 the CEO’s objectives were to continue to drive the strategy 
of the Group including progressing the current development pipeline, 
developing the innovation portfolio and continued diversification. The CFO’s 
objectives were focused on financial integrity and management of the 
business. This included areas such as treasury management forecasting 
and reporting, risk assurance and controls, pensions and Investor Relations 
as well as ensuring costs continued to be tightly controlled. During the year 
the Group achieved the following strategic goals: The Chiesi NEXThaler® 
supply contract was expanded; the Company obtained regulatory approval 
and launched its first auto-injector for Dr Reddy’s; the Company was 
awarded a major multi-year exclusive supply contract for DEV610; the 
Company was awarded its first commercial drug handling licence for 
Voke inhaler; the Atlas cartridge manufacturing line was completed and 
is now operational and the PatchPump® development and contract from 
Steadymed was awarded. The Committee assessed performance against 
these metrics and determined that 100% of the personal portion of the 
cash element and 58% of the deferred share element would be paid to the 
CEO and 90% of the personal portion of the cash element and 57% of the 
deferred share element to the CFO.

Overall, the Committee determined that 70% of the maximum cash bonus 
opportunity would be paid to the CEO and 68% of the maximum cash 
bonus opportunity would be paid to the CFO.

Annual bonus targets have not been disclosed as they are considered by 
the Board to be commercially sensitive on the basis that they could give 
away details of our budgeting and our strategic goals to competitors.

The total bonuses awarded to executive directors were therefore as follows:

Role Total bonus Cash element

Deferred 
share element 
(deferred until 

June 2017)

CEO £416,500 £295,570 £120,930

CFO £194,198 £139,998 £54,200

In respect of FY2013, the CEO received a bonus of 125% of base salary 
and the CFO received a bonus of 92% of base salary.

LTIP Awards 

2011 Awards Vesting Based on Performance to 
FY2014
LTIP awards granted in 2011 were subject to TSR performance compared 
to the FTSE Small Cap, excluding investment trusts, finance, property and 
insurance companies. 25% of the award vested for TSR equal to mean 
annualised TSR of the comparator group with 100% vesting if TSR was 
greater than the lower of the mean annualised TSR of the comparator TSR 
group +7% and the upper quartile TSR of the Group.

TSR performance was assessed over the period 1 May 2011 to 30 April 
2014. Consort Medical’s TSR increased by 25.08% per annum over this 
period. This performance exceeded the mean annualised TSR of the 
comparator group by more than 7% per annum and therefore this award 
vested in full. The CEO’s award consists of 76,176 (70,169 initial award 
plus 6,007 accrued dividends). For the purpose of the single figure table 
the award has been valued based on the three month average share price 
from 1 February 2014 to 30 April 2014 of £9.7524.
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2010 Awards Vesting Based on Performance to FY2013
TSR performance targets for awards granted in 2010 were met in full and therefore 100% of shares vested based on performance from 1 May 2010 to 
30 April 2013. 2010 LTIP Awards were granted on two dates with the second portion being granted in conjunction with a linked award under the CSOP. 
For the purpose of the single figure 95,935 (86,900 shares plus 9,035 dividend shares) have been valued on the date of vesting of 2 August 2013 based 
on a share price on that date of £8.295. The second portion of the LTIP awards and the linked CSOP award vested on 20 September 2013. Jonathan 
Glenn had an economic interest in 7,422 shares (6,726 shares plus 696 dividend equivalents) through LTIP and CSOP shares. These have been valued 
based on the share price on the date of vesting of £8.425.

Richard Cotton joined the Company on 25 June 2012. As such, no LTIP awards granted to him vested in either FY2013 or FY2014.

Share Awards Granted During FY2014
This section sets out details of the share awards made to the Executive Directors during FY2014:

Awards Granted Under the LTIP

Type of award Date of Grant
Number of 

shares granted
Face value*

(£)
Face value

(% of salary)

Threshold 
vesting (% of 

face value)

Performance period

TSR EPS

Jonathan Glenn LTIP 
Nil cost options

19/06/2013 51,974 £407,996 100% 25% 19 June 2013 to 
18 June 2016

1 May 2013 to 
30 April 2016

Richard Cotton LTIP
Nil cost options

19/06/2013 33,757 £264,992 100% 25% 19 June 2013 to 
18 June 2016

1 May 2013 to 
30 April 2016

* Face value calculated using the average price of the three days prior to the date of grant of £7.85 (14 June, 17 June and 18 June).

During the year the Committee consulted with shareholders regarding the 
introduction of an EPS performance condition for LTIP awards to ensure 
that management continue to be focused on improving earnings. 2013 
LTIP awards are therefore subject 50% to TSR performance compared to 
the FTSE Small Cap, excluding investment trusts, finance, property and 
insurance companies and 50% subject to earnings per share performance.

Relative TSR performance

Vesting 
schedule 

(% of element)

Company TSR less than mean annualised comparator TSR 0%

Company TSR equal to mean annualised comparator TSR 25%

Company TSR greater than the lower of:
Mean annualised comparator TSR +7%; and
upper quartile annualised comparator TSR 100%

EPS growth (aggregate performance over the 
three years from 1 May 2014 to 30 April 2017)

Vesting 
schedule (% of 

element)

Less than 138p 0%

138p 25%

160p 100%

Awards Granted Under the Deferred Bonus Plan
In June 2013 the following awards were made under the deferred bonus plan. These awards were granted based on performance delivered during FY2013.

Type of award Date of Grant
Number of 

shares granted
Face value*

(£)
Face value

(% of salary)

Jonathan Glenn Deferred shares 19/06/2013 23,187 182,018 45%

Richard Cotton Deferred shares 19/06/2013 9,065 71,160 32%

* Face value calculated using the average price of the three days prior to the date of grant of £7.85 (14 June, 17 June and 18 June).

Deferred share awards are not subject to any further performance conditions and vest on 19 June 2016.
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Scheme Interests 
The table below provides details of outstanding awards under share incentive plans: 

Date of grant

Plan 
shares at 
01/05/13

Awarded 
during 
period

Exercised 
during 
period

Lapsed 
during 
period

Total Plan 
shares held 
at 30/04/14 

Market 
price at 
date of 

grant

Earliest 
date of 

exercise
Latest date of 

Exercise

Jonathan Glenn

LTIP 02/08/10 86,900 9,035 (95,935) – – £3.855 August 2013 –

20/09/10 6,726* 696 (4,219) (3,203) – £4.460 September 2013 –

01/08/11 70,169 – – – 70,169 £5.615 August 2014 September 2014

19/06/12 63,446 – – – 63,446 £6.210 June 2015 July 2015

19/06/13 – 51,974 – – 51,974 £7.850 June 2016 July 2016

CSOP 20/09/10 6,726 – (6,726) – – £4.460 September 2013 October 2013

Deferred bonus shares 01/08/11 22,206 – – – 22,206 £5.615 June 2014 July 2014

19/06/12 31,139 – – – 31,139 £6.210 June 2015 July 2015

19/06/13 – 23,187 – – 23,187 £7.850 June 2016 July 2016

Richard Cotton

LTIP 25/06/12 35,987 – – – 35,987 £6.530 June 2015 August 2015

25/06/12 4,594* – – – 4,594 £6.530 June 2015 August 2016

19/06/13 – 33,757 – – 33,757 £7.850 June 2016 July 2016

CSOP 25/06/12 4,594 – – – 4,594 £6.530 June 2015 August 2016

Deferred bonus shares 19/06/13 – 9,065 – – 9,065 £7.850 June 2016 July 2016

* LTIP awards made to partially fund the exercise price of the linked CSOP granted on the same date.

None of the plan shares held at the year end have vested.

LTIP and CSOP awards are all subject to performance conditions.

At 30 April 2014 there were 425,843 shares in the Company’s share ownership trust (2013: 511,378). 

Statement of Directors’ Shareholding and Share Interests 
Executive directors are expected to accumulate a shareholding equivalent to one times base salary over a five-year period and to maintain this level of 
shareholding. The vesting of awards from the Company’s various equity related incentive arrangements can provide a means to develop this shareholding. 
Only ordinary shares that are beneficially held by the executive director (or their spouses, civil partners, children and step children) count towards the 
shareholding guideline.

Number of shares 
counting towards 

shareholding 
guidelines

Value of shares 
counting towards 

shareholding 
guidelines1

Shareholding 
guideline

Shareholding  
guideline met?

Jonathan Glenn 51,367 £453,057 
108% of salary 

100% of base salary Yes

Richard Cotton 14,454 £127,484
47% of salary

100% of base salary Richard joined the Company on 
25 June 2012 and has 5 years 
(i.e. to June 2017 to build up his 
shareholding).

1 Calculated based on the share price on 30 April 2014 of £8.82.
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The beneficial interests of the directors on 30 April 2014 (including beneficial interests of their spouses, civil partners, children and step children) in the 
ordinary shares of the Company are shown below:

Shares
Performance 

shares1 SAYE2 CSOP3

Deferred 
Bonus shares4

Total2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Jonathan Glenn 51,367 17,393 185,589 227,241 1,282 1,282 – 6,726 76,532 53,345 314,770

Richard Cotton 14,454 14,280 74,338 40,581 1,209 – 4,594 4,594 9,065 – 103,660

1 PSP awards remain subject to performance.

2  SAYE is the Company’s Save As You Earn employee share option scheme. These options are not subject to performance conditions. This is an all-employee share scheme 
governed by specific tax legislation.

3 CSOP linked awards are market value options and they are subject to the same performance measures as the PSP.

4 Deferred bonus shares are subject to continued employment only.

Between 30 April 2014 and 16 June 2014 Jonathan Glenn and Richard Cotton acquired 34 partnership shares through payroll deductions under the all-
employee Share Incentive Plan. There were no other changes in share interests.

The following information is unaudited:

Change in Remuneration of the Chief Executive between FY2013 and FY2014
The table below illustrates the percentage change in salary, benefits and annual bonus for the Chief Executive compared to other senior executives and all 
Group employees between FY2013 and FY2014. Information for senior executives and all Group employees is shown on an average basis.

% change in
base salary

% change in
benefits*

% change in 
annual bonus

Chief Executive 2.9% 1.9% (17.1%)

All Group employees 3.0% 1.0% (10.0%)

* The difference in benefits increase is fuel card related only.

Historic TSR Performance and the Remuneration 
Outcomes for the Chief Executive
The graph below compares the TSR of Consort Medical against the FTSE 
Healthcare Sector and the FTSE Small Cap for a five-year period. The 
FTSE Healthcare Sector has been chosen due to sector relevance, whilst 
the FTSE Small Cap has been chosen so as to provide a wider market 
comparator constituting companies of an appropriate size.

The table below the chart illustrates the Chief Executive single figure for 
total remuneration, annual bonus payout and PSP vesting as a percentage 
of maximum opportunity for the same five year period.

1 May 
2009

30 April
2010

30 April
2011

30 April
2012

30 April
2013

30 April
2014
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The chart below illustrates the Chief Executive single figure for total remuneration, annual bonus payout and PSP vesting as a percentage of maximum 
opportunity for the same five year period.

FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014

Chief Executive single figure of remuneration 733 872 1,041 1,861 1,676

Annual bonus payout 
(% of maximum) 100% 79% 96% 83% 67%

LTIP vesting 
(% of maximum) 0% 0% 0% 100% 100%
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Relative Importance of Spend on Pay
The table below illustrates the year on year change in total remuneration 
compared to distributions to shareholders and profit before tax for FY2014 
and FY2013. 

Distributions 
to shareholders

Total 
employee pay

PBT before
special items

FY2014 £5.780m £28.293m £17.527m

FY2013 £5.500m £27.290m £15.916m

% change 5.1% 3.7% 10.1%

Total employee pay includes wages and salaries, social security costs, 
pension costs and share-based payments for employees in continuing 
operations. Further details are provided in note 4 to the accounts on 
page 66 for FY2013 and page 81 for FY2014. Staff costs increased by 
£1.0m to £28.3m in FY2014 (FY2013: £27.3m) reflecting 3.7% increase. 
After stripping out the impact of the technical accounting requirements 
in respect of share-based payments and elements of the defined benefit 
pension charge, underlying wages and salaries and related social security 
costs decreased by 0.1%. 

For FY2013, distributions to shareholders included an aggregate dividend 
of £2,016,000 paid on 15 February 2013 and an aggregate dividend 
of £3,659,000 paid on 25 October 2013. For FY2014, distributions to 
shareholders includes an aggregate dividend of £2,120,000 paid on  
14 February 2014. It is proposed that a dividend of 13.35p per share be 
paid on 24 October 2014. Further details are provided in note 12 to the 
accounts on page 73 for FY2013 and page 86 for FY2014.

PBT before special items has been shown in the table above as it forms 
the basis on which the cash portion of the bonus is calculated. 

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

Non-Executive Director Fees for FY2015
For FY2015, the fees for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors will 
remain at the level set with effect from 1 May 2013. Fee levels are set out 
in the table below:

Role Fees

Chairman £130,000

Basic non-executive director fee £38,500

Additional fees:

Additional fee for Senior Independent Director £7,500

Additional fee for Chairman of the Audit Committee £7,500

Additional fee for Chairman of the Remuneration Committee £7,500

Additional fee for Chairman of the Corporate Responsibility 
Committee £5,000

The following information is audited:

Fees Paid to Non-Executive Directors in FY2014
The following table sets out the single figure of remuneration for non-
executive directors for FY2014:

Fees paid in 
respect of 

FY2014 
£

Fees paid in 
respect of

 FY2013 
£

Dr Peter Fellner (Chairman) 130,000 125,000

Steve Crummett 46,000 39,000

Dr Lynn Drummond 38,500 44,000

Dr William Jenkins 53,500 45,000

Ian Nicholson 43,500 36,000

Chris Banks – 15,000

Jim Dick – 14,000

Mr Banks and Mr Dick retired as non-executive directors on 30 August 2012.

Shares held by Non-Executive Directors  
at 30 April 2014
The beneficial interest of non-executive directors on 30 April 2014 
(including the benefits interest of their spouses, civil partners, children and 
step children) in the ordinary shares of the Company are shown below:

Shares owned
 outright at 

30 April 2014

Shares owned 
outright at 

30 April 2013

Dr Peter Fellner
(Chairman) 4,000 4,000

Steve Crummett – –

Dr Lynn Drummond – –

Dr William Jenkins 1,000 1,000

Ian Nicholson – –

There have been no changes in share interests between 30 April 2014 and 
16 June 2014.

None of the directors had a material interest at any time during FY2014 
in any contract of significance, other than a service contract, with the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Non-executive directors are not paid in shares nor are there formal 
shareholding guidelines, however, they are encouraged to hold shares in 
the Company.
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The following information is unaudited:

The Remuneration Committee

Members
The Remuneration Committee comprises the following independent non-
executive directors:

Name Remuneration Committee position

Dr William Jenkins Chairman (since 1 March 2013)

Steve Crummett Member (since 6 November 2012)

Ian Nicholson stepped down from the Remuneration Committee on  
14 February 2014.

Advisers
The Chairman, the Chief Executive, the HR Director, and the Company 
Secretary were invited to attend some or all of the meetings to provide 
advice to the Committee. They did not attend when any matter related to 
their own remuneration was discussed.

During the period the Committee has received advice from its independent 
remuneration advisors, Deloitte LLP (“Deloitte”). Deloitte were appointed 
by the Committee. Deloitte provided advice to the Committee in relation 
to developments in market practice, the impact of the new reporting 
regulations and TSR calculations for the purpose of LTIP vesting. Deloitte 
also provided advice to management in relation to their work in supporting 
the Committee, principally in relation to the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report. The Remuneration Committee considers that the advice provided 
by Deloitte is objective and independent. Deloitte is a founding member 
of the Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to its Code in 
relation to executive remuneration consulting in the UK. The Committee 
is comfortable that the Deloitte LLP engagement partner and team, that 
provide remuneration advice to the Committee, do not have connections 
with Consort Medical that may impair their independence. The Committee 
reviewed the potential for conflicts of interest and judged that there were 
appropriate safeguards against such conflicts. 

Separate teams within Deloitte also provided the Company with advice on 
the valuation of share awards for IFRS2 purposes and in connection with 
the Company’s risks and controls. Total fees for advice provided to the 
Committee during the year under review amounted to £34,250.

The Committee also received advice in relation to its share schemes from 
the Company’s lawyers, Eversheds LLP.

Role
The Remuneration Committee’s principal role is to determine and make 
recommendations to the Board regarding the policy for the remuneration of 
the Chairman, the Chief Executive, the executive directors, the Company 
Secretary and other members of the senior executive management of 
the Company. It also determines the policy for, and scope of, pension 
arrangements and approves the design of performance-related pay 
schemes, sets the targets for such schemes, and approves payments 
under such schemes.

The Committee reviews the design of all share incentive plans for the 
approval of the Board and the shareholders. It determines each year 
whether awards will be made and, if so, the overall amount of such 
awards, the individual awards to be made to executive directors and other 
senior executives, and the performance targets to be used. The terms of 
reference of the Remuneration Committee were reviewed during the year 
and are published on the Company’s website.

Activities During the Year
The Remuneration Committee met five times during the year. Details of 
attendance at the meetings are shown in the table on page 40. The key 
matters discussed at these meetings were:

•	Remuneration of executive directors and senior executives;

•	Determining bonus payouts and setting bonus targets;

•	Determining LTIP award vesting and consideration of LTIP performance 
criteria;

•	Granting of share awards and setting performance targets for awards;

•	Non-executive directors’ fees;

•	Committee terms of reference;

•	Directors’ Remuneration Report.

In discussing the above matters, the Remuneration Committee considered 
the remuneration policies of the Company as a whole.

Shareholder Voting
The table below sets out the results of the vote on the 2013 Remuneration 
Report at the 2013 AGM held on 2 September 2013:

Votes %

Votes in favour 18,870,461 96.03

Votes against 780,910 3.97

Total votes 19,651,371 100.00

1,885,224 votes were withheld.

The Remuneration Report was approved by the Board and signed on its 
behalf.

Dr William Jenkins
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
16 June 2014
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 30 April 2014

Notes

2014
Before special

items
£000 

2014
Special items

(notes 6, 28)
£000 

2014
Total
£000 

2013*
Before special

items
£000 

2013*
Special items
(notes 6, 28)

£000 

2013*
Total
£000 

Revenue 2 100,010 – 100,010 95,044 – 95,044 

Operating expenses 3 (81,217) (1,387) (82,604) (76,967) (1,521) (78,488)

Operating profit  18,793 (1,387) 17,406 18,077 (1,521) 16,556 

Finance income      7 201 – 201 92 – 92 

Finance costs 8 (907) – (907) (2,053) – (2,053)

Other finance costs 9 (560) – (560) (200) – (200)

Profit before tax   17,527 (1,387) 16,140 15,916 (1,521) 14,395 

Taxation 10 (3,611) 1,117 (2,494) (3,132) (376) (3,508)

Profit for the financial year from 
continuing operations 13,916 (270) 13,646 12,784 (1,897) 10,887 

(Loss)/profit for the financial year from 
discontinued operations 28 – (678) (678) 2,777 10,520 13,297 

Profit for the financial year 13,916 (948) 12,968 15,561 8,623 24,184 

Earnings per share, attributable to the 
owners of the parent

From continuing operations:

Basic earnings per ordinary share 11 47.4p 37.9p 

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 11 46.2p 36.8p 

From continuing and discontinued 
operations:

Basic earnings per ordinary share 11 45.1p 84.2p 

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 11 43.9p 81.7p 

Non-GAAP measures:

From continuing operations: £000  £000 

Profit before tax before special items  17,527  15,916 

Profit after tax before special items 11  13,916  12,784 

Adjusted basic earnings per ordinary share  11 48.3p 44.5p 

Adjusted diluted earnings per ordinary share 11 47.1p 43.2p 

* Restated (see note 1).
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Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 April 2014

Notes
2014
£000

2013*
£000

Profit for the year from continuing operations  13,646  10,887 

(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations (678)  13,297 

Profit for the financial year  12,968  24,184 

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss:

Fair value movements on cash flow hedges   –  157 

Deferred tax on fair value movements on cash flow hedges 10   – (38)

Cash flow hedges transferred from reserves on disposal of businesses   –  275 

Exchange movements on translation of foreign subsidiaries (6)  1,791 

Current tax on exchange movements 10   (5) (24)

Foreign exchange transferred from reserves on disposal of businesses 28   – (2,693)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss:

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension scheme 21  10,561 (8,158)

Deferred tax on actuarial gains/(losses) 10 (2,429)  1,961 

Impact of change in tax rates 10 (334) (210)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  7,787 (6,939)

Total comprehensive income for the year 20,755  17,245 

Attributable to owners of the parent

From continuing operations  21,433  5,447 

From discontinued operations (678)  11,798 

* Restated (see note 1).
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
At 30 April 2014

Notes
2014
£000

2013
£000

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 13 49,955 40,280

Goodwill 14 15,800 15,800

Other intangible assets 15 5,035 5,826

Investments 16 4,068 3,650

Trade and other receivables 18 4,841 5,424

79,699 70,980

Current assets

Inventories 17 10,203 11,745

Trade and other receivables 18 27,975 22,778

Derivative financial instruments 26 7 –

Cash and cash equivalents 19 25,843 36,966

64,028 71,489

Total assets 143,727 142,469

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Borrowings 23 – (2)

Trade and other payables 20 (15,479) (19,810)

Derivative financial instruments 26 – (55)

Current tax liabilities (1,842) (2,061)

Provisions and other liabilities 22 (547) (687)

(17,868) (22,615)

Net current assets 46,160 48,874

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 10 (3,429) (2,381)

Defined benefit pension scheme deficit 21 (2,076) (11,766)

Provisions and other liabilities 22 (1,830) (1,952)

(7,335) (16,099)

Total liabilities (25,203) (38,714)

Net assets 118,524 103,755

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 24 2,928 2,921

Share premium 24 33,675 33,406

Retained earnings 81,758 67,254

Other reserves 163 174

Total equity 118,524 103,755

The financial statements on pages 64 to 112 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 16 June 2014 and signed on its behalf by:

Directors:
Jonathan Glenn
Richard Cotton

Consort Medical plc 
Registered number: 406711
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Consolidated Statement of Changes  
in Shareholders’ Equity

Attributable to owners of the parent

Other reserves

Share
capital

£000 

Share
premium

£000 

Retained
earnings

£000 

Cash flow
hedge reserve

£000 

Translation
reserve

£000 

Total
equity
£000

Balance at 1 May 2012 2,901 32,667 54,009 (394) 1,100 90,283

Profit for the financial year – – 24,184 – – 24,184

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Exchange movements on translation of foreign 
subsidiaries – – – – 1,791 1,791

Amounts transferred from reserves on disposal of 
businesses – – – 275 (2,693) (2,418)

Actuarial loss on defined benefit pension scheme – – (8,158) – – (8,158)

Fair value movements on cash flow hedges – – – 157 – 157

Tax on amounts taken directly to equity – – 1,751 (38) (24) 1,689

Total comprehensive income/(loss) – – 17,777 394 (926) 17,245

Transactions with owners:

Recognition of share-based payments – – 1,587 – – 1,587

Movement on tax arising on share-based payments – – 381 – – 381

Proceeds from exercise of employee options 20 739 – – – 759

Consideration paid for purchase of own shares 
(held in trust) – – (1,000) – – (1,000)

Equity dividends (note 12) – – (5,500) – – (5,500)

20 739 (4,532) – – (3,773)

Balance at 30 April 2013 2,921 33,406 67,254 – 174 103,755

Profit for the financial year – – 12,968 – – 12,968

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Exchange movements on translation of foreign 
subsidiaries – – – – (6) (6)

Actuarial gains on defined benefit pension scheme – – 10,561 – – 10,561

Tax on amounts taken directly to equity – – (2,763) – (5) (2,768)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) – – 20,766 – (11) 20,755

Transactions with owners:

Recognition of share-based payments – – 1,821 – – 1,821

Movement on tax arising on share-based payments – – 571 – – 571

Proceeds from exercise of employee options 7 269 – – – 276

Consideration paid for purchase of own shares  
(held in trust) – – (2,874) – – (2,874)

Equity dividends (note 12) – – (5,780) – – (5,780)

7 269 (6,262) – – (5,986)

Balance at 30 April 2014 2,928 33,675 81,758 – 163 118,524

67

Consort Medical plc  
consortmedical.com  

Stock Code: CSRT

O
ur

 F
in

an
ci

al
s



23142.04   15 July 2014 5:12 PM   Proof 4

Notes
2014
£000

2013*
£000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation from continuing operations 16,140 14,395

Profit before taxation from discontinued operations (678) 13,212

Finance income 7 (201) (92)

Finance costs 8 907 2,064

Other finance costs 9 560 200

Operating profit 16,728 29,779

Depreciation 5,501 6,488

Amortisation 983 2,216

Profit on disposal of businesses 28 – (10,915)

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (12) (14)

Share-based payments 1,821 1,399

Change in value of deferred consideration since disposal 518 (186)

Pension charge in excess of cash contributions 386 26

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 1,542 (202)

Increase in trade and other receivables (5,744) (3,257)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (3,398) 1,626

Decrease in provisions (285) (1,054)

(Increase)/decrease in derivative financial instruments (62) 150

Cash generated from operations 17,978 26,056

Interest paid (643) (2,465)

Tax paid (3,564) (3,576)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 13,771 20,015

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (16,134) (9,969)

Purchases of intangible assets (158) (1,024)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 31 322

Net proceeds on disposal of businesses 28 – 74,697

Interest received 227 70

Purchase of equity investment 16 (418) (1,102)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (16,452) 62,994

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issues of ordinary share capital 276 759

Purchase of own shares (2,874) (1,000)

Equity dividends paid to shareholders 12 (5,780) (5,500)

Proceeds from new bank funding – 3,000

Repayment of amounts borrowed – (57,069)

Upfront loan facility fees – (842)

Finance lease payments (2) (1)

Net cash used in financing activities (8,380) (60,653)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (11,061) 22,356

Effects of exchange rate changes (62) (75)

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 36,966 14,685

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 19 25,843 36,966

* Restated (see note 1).

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 April 2014
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Company Balance Sheet
At 30 April 2014

Notes
2014
£000

2013
£000

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 13 44 129

Investments 16 86,159 85,742

Amounts receivable from Group undertakings 16 48,665 48,667

Deferred tax assets 10 963 946

135,831 135,484

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 18 1,946 1,870

Current tax assets 4,550 3,412

Cash and cash equivalents 19 18,734 33,483

25,230 38,765

Total assets 161,061 174,249

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 20 (97,323) (99,425)

Provisions and other liabilities 22 (438) (551)

(97,761) (99,976)

Net current liabilities (72,531) (61,211)

Non-current liabilities

Amounts payable to Group undertakings (15,875) (15,875)

Provisions and other liabilities 22 (268) –

(16,143) (15,875)

Total liabilities (113,904) (115,851)

Net assets 47,157 58,398

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 24 2,928 2,921

Share premium 24 33,675 33,406

Retained earnings 10,554 22,071

Total equity 47,157 58,398

The financial statements on pages 64 to 112 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 16 June 2014 and signed on its behalf by:

Directors:
Jonathan Glenn
Richard Cotton

Consort Medical plc
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Company Statement of Changes  
in Shareholders’ Equity

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share
capital

£000

Share
premium

£000

Retained
earnings

£000

Total
equity
£000

Balance at 1 May 2012 2,901 32,667 8,411 43,979

Profit for the financial year and total comprehensive income – – 18,262 18,262

Transactions with owners:

Recognition of share-based payments – – 1,587 1,587

Movement on tax arising on share-based payments – – 311 311

Proceeds from exercise of employee options 20 739 – 759

Consideration paid for purchase of own shares (held in trust) – – (1,000) (1,000)

Equity dividends (note 12) – – (5,500) (5,500)

20 739 (4,602) (3,843)

Balance at 30 April 2013 2,921 33,406 22,071 58,398

Profit for the financial year and total comprehensive loss – – (4,850) (4,850)

Transactions with owners:

Recognition of share-based payments – – 1,661 1,661

Movement on tax arising on share-based payments – – 326 326

Proceeds from exercise of employee options 7 269 – 276

Consideration paid for purchase of own shares (held in trust) – – (2,874) (2,874)

Equity dividends (note 12) – – (5,780) (5,780)

7 269 (6,667) (6,391)

Balance at 30 April 2014 2,928 33,675 10,554 47,157
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Company Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 April 2014

Notes
2014
£000

2013
£000

Cash flows from operating activities

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before taxation (5,673) 17,106

Finance income (329) (1,875)

Finance costs 905 2,056

Dividend income – (20,000)

Operating loss from continuing operations (5,097) (2,713)

Depreciation 85 24

Share-based payments 1,661 1,587

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 465 (520)

Decrease in trade and other payables (791) (506)

Increase in provisions 155 326

Cash used in continuing operations (3,522) (1,802)

Interest paid (654) (3,353)

Net cash used in operating activities (4,176) (5,155)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment – (49)

Interest received 354 2,633

Dividend received from subsidiaries – 20,000

Equity investment 16 (418) (1,102)

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (64) 21,482

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issues of ordinary share capital 276 759

Purchase of own shares (2,874) (1,000)

Equity dividends paid to shareholders 12 (5,780) (5,500)

Proceeds from new bank funding – 3,000

Loans (to)/from subsidiaries (2,130) 67,516

Repayment of amounts borrowed – (57,069)

Upfront loan facility fees – (842)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (10,508) 6,864

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (14,748) 23,191

Effects of exchange rate changes (1) 1,734

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 33,483 8,558

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 19 18,734 33,483
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Notes to the Accounts

General information
Consort Medical plc is a public limited company listed on the London Stock 
Exchange and is incorporated and domiciled under the laws of England and 
Wales, registered number 406711. The address of the registered office is 
given on page 118. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal 
activities are set out in the operating review on pages 10 to 15.

1. Presentation of the financial statements and accounting 
policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006 applicable to those companies reporting under IFRS, 
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and International Accounting Standards and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (collectively referred to as IFRS) 
and related interpretations, as adopted for use in the European Union in all 
cases.

Accounting convention
The financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost 
convention, as modified by certain financial assets and financial liabilities 
(including derivative instruments) at fair value. The specific accounting 
policies adopted, which have been approved by the Board and which have 
been applied consistently in all years presented, are described within this 
note.

Going concern
The directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a 
reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in 
preparing the financial statements.

Consolidation
The financial statements include the financial statements of the Company 
and all the subsidiaries during the years reported for the periods during which 
they were members of the Consort Medical plc group (“the Group”).

Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that 
represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of 
operations that has been disposed of or is held for sale, or is a subsidiary 
acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Classification of a discontinued 
operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to 
be classified as held for sale, if earlier. When an operation is classified as a 
discontinued operation, the comparative income statement is presented as 
if the operation had discontinued from the start of the comparative period. 
The disposal of King Systems, as described in note 28, gives rise to a 
discontinued operation.

Segmental reporting
The Group’s chief operating decision maker is considered to be the 
Executive Committee. This committee is responsible for the executive 
management of the Group and comprises the Chief Executive, the Chief 
Financial Officer, the Company Secretary/General Counsel, the General 
Manager of the Group’s Bespak business and the Director of Group 
Human Resources. This committee meets monthly to make decisions on 
operational and strategic matters other than those reserved for the Board. 
The Committee is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
the performance of the Group. The Group’s operating segments are 
determined with reference to the information that is supplied to the Executive 

Committee in order for it to allocate the Group’s resources and to monitor 
the performance of the Group. The Executive Committee focuses on the 
operations of the Group as a whole and does not identify individual operating 
segments and, as a result, the Group has only one reportable segment.

Subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statements combine the financial statements 
of the parent Company and all its subsidiaries made up to 30 April 2014. 
Subsidiaries are entities which are directly or indirectly controlled by the 
Group. Control exists where the Group has the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting 
rights.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition 
of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred 
or assumed at the date of completion. Identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the 
extent of any non-controlling interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition 
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired 
is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value 
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised 
directly in the income statement. Costs of acquisition are charged to the 
income statement in the period in which they are incurred. 

Inter-Company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions 
between Group undertakings are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. 
Uniform accounting policies have been adopted across the Group.

In the parent Company financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are 
accounted for at cost less provision for any impairment.

Investments
Equity investments in entities that are neither associates nor subsidiaries are 
held at cost, less any provision for impairment.

Foreign currencies
Items included in the financial statements of each of Consort Medical plc’s 
entities are measured using that entity’s functional currency, which is the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling, which is the 
parent Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency 
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in the consolidated income statement, except when deferred in 
equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

The results and financial position of all Group undertakings that have a 
functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated 
into the presentation currency with (i) assets and liabilities for each balance 
sheet translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;  
(ii) income and expenses for each income statement translated at average 
exchange rates for the period; and (iii) all resulting exchange differences 
recognised as a component of other comprehensive income.
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Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment 
in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other currency instruments 
designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at 
the closing rate.

The average GBP:USD exchange rate for the financial year used in the 
preparation of these financial statements was 1.60 (2013: 1.60). The closing 
exchange rate was 1.68 (2013: 1.55).

Revenue
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable 
for the sale of goods and services. Revenue from sales of products is 
recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership pass to the customer, 
and is stated net of value added tax and other sales taxes. The point at 
which risk and reward is transferred is usually determined from shipping 
terms, which vary from customer to customer. Revenue from sales of 
services is recognised in the period in which the related chargeable costs 
are incurred or when revenue is earned under contractual obligations. 
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow to the Group.

Advance payments received from customers are credited to deferred 
income and the related revenue is released to the income statement in 
accordance with the recognition criteria described above.

Where a manufacturing contract includes variable consideration (such as 
a minimum order guarantee), the transaction price includes management’s 
best estimate of the variable consideration receivable.

Revenue — accounting policy change
With the scale and incidence of new business investment developments, the 
directors have reassessed the judgements made in accounting for tooling 
and equipment revenue, and have changed their accounting policy:

•	From: accounting on a gross basis (i.e. recognising gross revenue 
from tooling and equipment with the related cost recorded in operating 
expenses); 

•	To: accounting for this on a net basis, having regard to the transfer of risks 
and rewards.

This accounting policy change is reflected as a prior year adjustment with 
comparatives restated accordingly with a reduction in both revenue and 
operating expenses for the year ended 30 April 2013 of £6.3m. Trade 
receivables and trade payables have reduced by £2.1m and £2.2m 
respectively with a matching increase in other debtors and other creditors. 
There is no impact on basic or diluted EPS. 

Post-employment benefits
The Group operates various post-employment schemes, including 
both defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans and post-
employment medical plans.

(a) Pension obligations
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group 
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or 
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not 
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee 
service in the current and prior periods. A defined benefit plan is a pension 
plan that is not a defined contribution plan. Typically defined benefit plans 
define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on 
retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of 
service and compensation. The liability recognised in the balance sheet in 
respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan 
assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent 
actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the 
defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future 
cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that 
have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension 
obligation. In countries where there is no deep market in such bonds, the 
market rates on government bonds are used. Actuarial gains and losses 
arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions 
are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the 
period in which they arise. Past-service costs are recognised immediately 
in income. For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to 
publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, 
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations 
once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised 
as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are 
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the 
future payments is available.

(b) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the 
Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts 
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises 
termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group 
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity 
recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and 
involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made 
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured 
based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits 
falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are 
discounted to their present value.

(c) Profit-sharing and bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-
sharing, based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit 
attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The 
Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a 
past practice that has created a constructive obligation.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

1. Presentation of the financial statements and accounting 
policies continued

Share-based payments
The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based 
compensation plans, under which the entity receives services from 
employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group. 
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the 
grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to 
be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options 
granted:

•	including any market performance conditions (for example, an entity’s 
share price);

•	excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting 
conditions (for example, profitability, sales growth targets and remaining 
an employee of the entity over a specified time period); and

•	including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the 
requirement for employees to save).

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about 
the number of options that are expected to vest. The total expense is 
recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of 
the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each 
reporting period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options 
that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. 
It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the 
income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company may issue new shares. 
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs 
are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium when the 
options are exercised.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the 
employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital 
contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured 
by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting 
period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a 
corresponding credit to equity.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost including any incidental 
costs of acquisition less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes the 
original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing 
the asset to its working condition for its intended use. Depreciation is 
recognised so as to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment 
(less the current expected residual value) on a straight-line basis over their 
expected useful lives as follows:

—  Freehold buildings and leasehold buildings 
with original lease terms over 50 years

50 years

—  Leasehold buildings with original lease 
terms less than 50 years

Remaining period of lease

— Cleanrooms 20 years

— Building services 10 to 20 years

— Plant, equipment and vehicles 3 to 10 years

Cleanrooms and building services are categorised within plant and 
equipment. Land is not depreciated.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds 
with the carrying amount and are recognised in the income statement.

Assets under construction
The costs of property, plant and equipment are capitalised as incurred and 
are not depreciated until such time as the assets are commissioned, when 
the total costs are transferred to the appropriate asset category.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the 
date that control is acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is measured 
as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount 
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the 
acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over the net of 
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the 
liabilities assumed.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually 
or more frequently if events or circumstances require. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 
Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the 
unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
is less than the carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then 
to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount 
of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not 
reversed in a subsequent period.

Internally generated intangible assets — research and development 
expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the 
period in which it is incurred. 

An internally generated intangible asset arising from the Group’s product 
development is recognised only if all of the following conditions are met:

•	An asset is created that can be identified;

•	It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic 
benefits; 

•	It is technically feasible that the intangible asset can be completed so 
that it will be available for use or sale and there are sufficient available 
resources to complete it; and

•	The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Where a product requires regulatory approval prior to launch, it is 
presumed that there is insufficient certainty over the product’s technical 
feasibility to recognise an intangible asset prior to that approval being 
obtained.

Internally generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line 
basis over their useful lives. The estimated useful economic life of 
capitalised development costs is 5 to 10 years. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is 
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets, including purchased patents, know-how, 
trademarks, software licences, customer contracts and relationships and 
distribution rights are capitalised at cost and amortised on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful economic lives through operating 
expenses. The estimated useful lives of other intangible assets are as 
follows:

Computer software: 4 years 
Patented and unpatented technology and know-how: 10 years 
Trademarks and trade names: 10 years 
Customer contracts and relationships: 5 to 10 years 
Licences and distribution agreements: 2 to 11 years

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
excluding goodwill
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets 
excluding goodwill are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstance indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of impairment loss. Where it is not possible to 
identify separate cash flows relating to individual assets, Consort Medical 
plc estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
it belongs. Where tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill have 
suffered an impairment, they are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at each reporting date.

Leasing commitments
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership 
are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Rentals 
payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Leasing agreements which transfer to the Group substantially all the 
benefits and risks of ownership of an asset are treated as finance leases, 
as if the asset had been purchased outright. Assets held under finance 
leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, 
at the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined 
at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor 
is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease 
payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of 
the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. 

Inventories
Inventories and work in progress are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost comprises the direct cost of production and the 
attributable portion of overheads based on normal operating capacity 
appropriate to location and condition. Cost is determined on a first in, first 
out basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less 
all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, 
selling and distribution. Provision is made if necessary for any slow-moving, 
obsolete or defective stock. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
In the consolidated and Company statements of cash flows, cash and 
cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, 
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less, and bank overdrafts. In the consolidated and Company 
balance sheets, bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current 
liabilities.

Finance income and costs
Interest receivable and payable on bank deposits and borrowings is 
credited or charged to finance income and expenses as it falls due. 

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. Where there is an expectation that some or all of a provision 
will be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision 
is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement. If the 
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as other 
finance expenses.

A contingent liability is disclosed where the existence of an obligation will 
only be confirmed by future events or where the amount of the obligation 
cannot be measured with reasonable reliability. Contingent assets are not 
recognised, but are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is 
probable.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
held at amortised cost. A provision for impairment of trade receivables 
is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not 
be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the 
receivables. 

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently held 
at amortised cost.

Borrowings and borrowing costs
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at fair value, net 
of direct issue costs and subsequently stated at amortised cost. Finance 
charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and 
direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis to the income 
statement and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the 
extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise. 

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as 
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or 
all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until 
drawdown occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable 
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as 
a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the 
facility to which it relates.

Dividends
Dividends are recorded in the financial statements in the period in which 
they are approved by the Company’s shareholders. Interim dividends are 
recorded in the period in which they are approved and paid.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

1. Presentation of the financial statements and accounting 
policies continued

Taxation
The charge for current taxation is based on the results for the year as 
adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated 
using rates that have been enacted, or substantially enacted, by the 
balance sheet date.

Tax that relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or in 
equity is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity respectively.

Deferred taxation is accounted for in full using the balance sheet liability 
method in respect of temporary differences arising from differences 
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences 
except in respect of investments in subsidiaries where the Company is 
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference 
can be utilised. Their carrying amount is reviewed at each balance sheet 
date on the same basis.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the periods in which the asset or liability is settled. It is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement except when it relates to items credited or 
charged directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with 
in equity.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income 
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or 
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances 
on a net basis.

During the period legislation was enacted to allow UK companies to 
elect for the Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC) 
on qualifying expenditure incurred since 1 April 2013, instead of the 
existing super-deduction rules. At the balance sheet date management 
has concluded that the election will be made and therefore the RDEC is 
recorded as income included in profit before tax, netted against research 
and development expenses as the RDEC is of the nature of a government 
grant. In previous periods there was a reduction in the income tax expense.

Share capital, share premium and share issue costs
Share issue costs are incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
new shares or options and are shown as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds. Any excess of the net proceeds over the nominal value of any 
shares issued is credited to the share premium account.

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital 
(treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly attributable 
incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from equity 
attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled 
or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, 

any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental 
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity 
attributable to the Company’s equity holders.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair 
value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on 
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the 
nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives 
as either:

(a) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm 
commitment (fair value hedge);

(b) hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability 
or a highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge); or

(c) hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment 
hedge).

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship 
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk 
management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging 
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge 
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are 
used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair 
values or cash flows of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes 
are disclosed in note 26. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is 
classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining hedged 
item is more than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability when the 
remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading 
derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.

A Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as 
fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with any 
changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable 
to the hedged risk. The Group only applies fair value hedge accounting 
for hedging fixed interest risk on borrowings. The gain or loss relating to 
the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging fixed rate borrowings 
is recognised in the income statement within ‘finance costs’. The gain or 
loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised in the income statement 
within ‘other finance income/(costs)’. Changes in the fair value of the hedge 
fixed rate borrowings attributable to interest rate risk are recognised in the 
income statement within ‘finance costs’.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the 
adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective 
interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to 
maturity.

B Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are 
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in equity. The 
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in 
the income statement within ‘other finance income/(losses)’.
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Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in 
the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss (for example, when 
the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). The gain or loss relating to 
the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings 
is recognised in the income statement within ‘revenue’. However, when 
the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-
financial asset (for example, inventory or fixed assets), the gains and losses 
previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in 
the initial measurement of the cost of the asset. The deferred amounts are 
ultimately recognised in cost of goods sold in the case of inventory or in 
depreciation in the case of fixed assets.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer 
meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss 
existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when 
the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement. 
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative 
gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the 
income statement within ‘other finance income/(costs)’.

C Net investment hedge
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly 
to cash flow hedges.

Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion 
of the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or 
loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the 
income statement.

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the income 
statement when the foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described 
in this note, the directors are required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods.

Judgements
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving 
estimations (which are dealt with separately below), that the directors have 
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.

A Impairment of goodwill 
The Group tests, at least annually, whether goodwill has suffered any 
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy above. The 
recoverable amount is determined based on value in use calculations. 
The use of this method requires the estimation of future cash flows and 
the choice of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present 
value of these cash flows. Actual outcomes could vary. The value in 
use of The Medical House cash-generating unit is dependent upon a 

successful launch of an injectable product by the Group’s customers. 
Whilst management’s view, based on the facts at the date of signing these 
financial statements, is that these products will be launched successfully 
within a reasonable timescale, the product launches are largely outside of 
the Group’s control and subject to approval by regulatory bodies, and so 
there remains a risk that future cash inflows will be less than forecast in the 
value in use calculations.

B Contingent consideration
The value of contingent consideration on the disposal of King Systems 
depends upon the performance of that business following its disposal. 
Actual performance could vary from forecast.

C Development costs
In assessing whether development costs meet the recognition criteria for 
internally generated intangible assets, which are described elsewhere in 
this note, the directors make certain critical judgements as to the technical 
feasibility and commercial viability of the related product, and around the 
likelihood of obtaining regulatory approval. 

D Income taxes
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The 
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on 
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made. The Group 
is evaluating the provisions of the UK Government’s Patent Box regime 
and its potential applicability to the Bespak business and, as a result of 
the uncertainty that exists, has not currently assumed any benefit that may 
arise.

Estimates
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

A Post-employment benefits 
The determination of the pension cost and defined benefit obligation of the 
Group’s defined benefit pension schemes depends on the selection of 
certain assumptions which include the discount rate, inflation rate, salary 
growth, mortality and expected return on scheme assets. Differences 
arising from actual experiences or future changes in assumptions will be 
reflected in subsequent periods. See note 21 for further details.

B Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. When a review for impairment is conducted, the recoverable 
amount is determined based on value in use calculations prepared on the 
basis of management’s assumptions and estimates.

C Provisions and related assets
In determining the amount to recognise for any provision or related 
asset, management consults with suitably qualified and experienced 
Group personnel, considers the Group’s experience of similar matters 
and communications with potential counterparties and the Group’s legal 
advisers. 
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

1. Presentation of the financial statements and accounting 
policies continued

Special items and other non-GAAP performance measures
The directors believe that the ‘adjusted’ profit and earnings per share 
measures provide additional useful information for shareholders on the 
underlying performance of the business. These measures are consistent 
with how business performance is measured internally. The adjusted profit 
before tax measure is not a recognised profit measure under IFRS and 
may not be directly comparable with ‘adjusted’ profit measures used by 
other companies. 

Further detail on the special items in the period can be found in note 6. The 
directors also refer to EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortisation) as a performance indicator. EBITDA also adds back any 
profit or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment.

Adoption of new and revised standards
The following new standards and amendments have been applied for the 
first time during the year commencing 1 May 2013: 

IAS 19 (revised) ‘Employee benefits’ amends the accounting for 
employment benefits. The Group has applied the standard retrospectively 
in accordance with the transition provisions of the standard. The impact on 
the Group has been as follows: 

•	The standard replaces the interest cost on the defined benefit obligation 
and the expected return on plan assets with a net interest cost based on 
the net defined benefit asset or liability and the discount rate, measured 
at the beginning of the year. There is no change to determining the 
discount rate; this continues to reflect the yield on high-quality corporate 
bonds. This has increased the income statement charge as the discount 
rate applied to assets is lower than the expected return on assets. This 
has no effect on total comprehensive income as the increased charge 
in profit or loss is offset by a credit in other comprehensive income. The 
effect has been that the income statement charge for the year to 30 April 
2013 by £272,000.

•	Under IAS 19, interest on the service cost was allowed to be apportioned 
between net finance costs and service costs in the income statement. 
Under the revised standard, the Company is required to report all of this 
interest within the service cost. This has increased operating expenses 
and reduced finance costs for the year to 30 April 2013 by £26,000. 
There is no impact on total profit.

•	The tax effect of the above entries reduces the tax charge in the income 
statement and increase the tax charge in equity by £62,000 for the year 
to 30 April 2013.

•	There is a new term ‘‘remeasurements’’. This is made up of actuarial 
gains and losses, the difference between actual investment returns and 
the return implied by the net interest cost. 

•	The effect of the change in accounting policy has no impact on the 
consolidated balance sheet or consolidated cash flow statement and the 
impact on earnings per share is immaterial.

IFRS 13 ‘Fair value measurement’ measurement and disclosure 
requirements are applicable for the financial year commencing 1 May 
2013. The Group has included the relevant disclosure requirements within 
note 26.

Amendment to IAS 36 “Impairment of assets” relates to the recoverable 
amount disclosures for non-financial assets. The amendment removes 
certain disclosures of the recoverable amount of CGUs that had been 
included in IAS 36 by the issue of IFRS 13. The amendment is effective 
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 but has been 
early adopted by the Group.

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of financial statements” are applicable 
for the financial year commencing 1 May 2013. The Group has included 
the relevant disclosure requirements within the financial statements. In 
addition, IAS 27 Revised ‘Separate Financial Statements’, IAS 28 Revised 
‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’, IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated 
financial statements’, IFRS 11 ‘Joint arrangements’, and IFRS 12 
‘Disclosure of interests in other entities’ are applicable for the financial year 
commencing 1 May 2014 and are not expected to have a material impact 
on the Group.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following 
Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied in these 
financial statements were in issue but not yet effective (and in some cases 
have not yet been adopted by the EU):

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in other Entities

IAS 27 (revised) Separate Financial Statements

IAS 28 (revised) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendments to IFRS 7 
and IAS 32

Financial Instruments on Asset and Liability 
offsetting

IFRS 15 Revenue from customers with contracts

Parent Company financial statements
The financial statements of the parent Company, Consort Medical plc, 
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted for use in the 
European Union in all cases. On publishing the parent Company financial 
statements together with the Group financial statements, the Company is 
taking advantage of the exemption in s408 of the Companies Act 2006 not 
to present its individual income statement or statement of comprehensive 
income and related notes that form a part of these approved financial 
statements.

78

Consort Medical plc  
Annual Report & Accounts  
for the year ended 30 April 2014



23142.04   15 July 2014 5:12 PM   Proof 4

2. Revenue

Geographical analysis
The Group’s operations are based in the UK.

Revenue by destination from continuing operations

Total
2014
£000

Total
2013*
£000

United Kingdom 25,032 19,393

United States of America 15,376 12,116

Europe 53,093 51,595

Rest of the World 6,509 11,940

Revenue from continuing operations 100,010 95,044

* Restated (see note 1).

The Group’s total non-current assets are all attributable to the United Kingdom. 

Major customers
The Group has total revenues from three customers of £18.9m, £14.6m and £11.1m respectively (2013: three customers at £19.0m, £16.4m and £11.8m).
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

3. Operating expenses
Continuing Discontinued Total

2014
£000

2013*
£000

2014
£000

2013
£000

2014
£000

2013*
£000

Raw materials and consumables 24,404 28,021 – 11,715 24,404 39,736

Other external charges 22,094 16,590 (1) 7,024 22,093 23,614

Movement in the fair value of contingent 
consideration (note 26) – – 519 (199) 519 (199)

Staff costs (note 4) 28,293 27,258 160 12,432 28,453 39,690

Depreciation (note 13) 5,501 5,630 – 858 5,501 6,488

Amortisation of acquisition related intangible assets 
(note 15) 828 829 – 1,092 828 1,921

Amortisation of other intangible assets 155 236 – 59 155 295

(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment (12) 1 – (15) (12) (14)

Own work capitalised (267) (216) – – (267) (216)

Exchange losses 261 121 – – 261 121

81,257 78,470 678 32,966 81,935 111,436

Increase in inventory of finished goods and work in 
progress 1,347 18 – (788) 1,347 (770)

82,604 78,488 678 32,178 83,282 110,666

* Restated (see note 1).

Operating expenses include the following:

Operating lease rentals 747 563

Research and development 4,380 5,216

Trade receivables impairment (note 18) 50 174

Property, plant and equipment repairs and 
maintenance 2,087 2,168

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 24,404 39,736

Change in the fair value of derivative instruments 
outstanding at year end and classified as fair value 
through profit and loss 16 150

Services provided by the Company’s auditors

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the 
audit of the parent Company and consolidated 
accounts 21 22

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its 
associates for other services:

—  The audit of accounts of the Company's 
subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 180 212

— Tax compliance services – –

— Tax advisory services 2 6

— Other assurance services – 180
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4. Employees

Staff costs and the average monthly number of employees analysed by activity, including executive directors, are shown below:

Continuing Discontinued Total

Group
2014
£000

2013*
£000

2014
£000

2013*
£000

2014
£000

2013*
£000

Wages and salaries 21,405 21,255 – 11,542 21,405 32,797

Social security costs 2,578 2,336 – 741 2,578 3,077

Other pension costs (note 21) 2,649 2,344 – 41 2,649 2,385

Share-based payments (note 27) 1,661 1,323 160 108 1,821 1,431

28,293 27,258 160 12,432 28,453 39,690

Group
2014

Number
2013

Number

Production 471 444

Sales and marketing 16 16

Administration and support services 65 65

Engineering and product development 105 100

Continuing operations 657 625

Discontinued operations – 505

657 1,130

* Restated (see note 1).

5. Directors’ emoluments

Directors
2014
£000

2013
£000

Aggregate emoluments 1,558 1,842

Aggregate gains on exercise of share options 27 –

Aggregate amounts receivable under LTIPs 835 –

Compensation for loss of office – 334

Company contributions to money purchase schemes 73 135

2,493 2,311

Further information is disclosed in the Remuneration Report on pages 56 to 63.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

6. Special items

To improve the understanding of the Group’s financial performance, items which do not reflect the underlying performance are:

2014
£000

2013
£000

Continuing operations

Employee severance costs – (102)

Plant restructuring and recall credit/(costs) 39 (507)

Acquisition-related expenses (598) (83)

(559) (692)

Amortisation of acquisition-related intangible assets (828) (829)

Special items before taxation (1,387) (1,521)

Special tax item — deferred tax credit as a result of the UK Corporate rate change 850 –

Special tax item — deferred tax charge as a result of change of use of industrial building – (752)

Tax on special items 267 376

Special items after taxation (270) (1,897)

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets represents the charge for other intangible assets acquired with The Medical House in 2009. Plant restructuring 
and recall credit relates to the exit from an onerous property lease during the year (see note 22). Acquisition-related expenses are diligence costs incurred 
in investigating potential investment opportunities.

The special tax item is in respect of a significant tax credit arising as the Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities have been revalued using the lower rate 
of UK Corporate Tax of 20% (reduced from 23%).

In the prior year employee severance costs were in respect of the restructuring of UK operations. Plant restructuring and recall costs included a charge 
for an onerous property lease. The special tax item was in respect of a one-off tax charge arising due to the re-opening of the site at Milton Keynes which 
changed the tax basis of the valuation of the industrial buildings requiring the recognition of a deferred tax liability.

Special items from discontinued operations are described in note 28.

7. Finance income
2014
£000

2013
£000

Interest on deposits 201 92

Finance income from continuing operations 201 92

8. Finance costs
2014
£000

2013
£000

Interest on bank overdraft and loans including amortised fees (907) (2,053)

Finance costs from continuing operations (907) (2,053)

9. Other finance costs
2014
£000

2013*
£000

Net interest cost on defined benefit scheme (note 21) (485) (144)

Unwinding of discount on provisions (note 22) (33) (56)

Foreign exchange losses (42) –

Other finance costs from continuing operations (560) (200)

* Restated (see note 1).
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10. Taxation

Taxation charge based on profits for the year
The major components of income tax expense are:

2014
£000

2013*
£000

Current income tax from continuing operations

UK corporation tax at 22.8% (2013: 23.9%) 4,204 4,070

Adjustments in respect of prior periods (146) (242)

4,058 3,828

Deferred income tax from continuing operations

UK origination and reversal of timing differences (629) 135

Adjustments in respect of prior periods (85) (138)

Impact of change in tax rates (850) (317)

(1,564) (320)

Income tax expense from continuing operations reported in the consolidated income statement 2,494 3,508

The tax charge is analysed between:

Tax on profit from continuing operations before special items 3,611 3,132

Tax on special items relating to continuing operations (267) (376)

Special tax item — deferred tax credit as a result of the UK Corporate rate change (850) –

Special tax item — deferred tax charge as a result of change of use of industrial building – 752

2,494 3,508

Tax on items taken to equity from continuing and discontinued operations

Current tax:

Exchange movements recognised in reserves – 24

Share-based payments (446) (121)

(446) (97)

Deferred tax:

Actuarial gains and losses on pension scheme 2,429 (1,961)

Share-based payments (125) (260)

Cash flow hedges – 38

Impact of change in tax rates 334 210

2,638 (1,973)

Total tax charged/(credited) to equity 2,192 (2,070)

* Restated (see note 1).

Reconciliation between tax expense and the Group’s profit on ordinary activities before taxation 
The reconciliation of the UK statutory tax charge to the Group’s profit on ordinary activities before taxation is as follows:

2014
£000

2013*
£000

Profit before tax from continuing operations 16,140 14,395

Taxation charge at UK corporation tax rate of 22.8% (2013: 23.9%) 3,680 3,440

Adjustments in respect of prior periods (258) (380)

Tax effect of non-deductible or non-taxable items 91 140

Rate change adjustment – (317)

Deferred tax on share-based payments (101) (127)

Movement in unprovided deferred tax (68) –

Special tax item — rate change adjustment (850) –

Special tax item — deferred tax charge as a result of change of use of industrial building – 752

2,494 3,508

* Restated (see note 1). 83
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

10. Taxation continued

Factors affecting future tax charge
In July 2013 the UK Government enacted the reductions in the main rate of Corporation Tax from 23% to 21% from 1 April 2014 and to 20% from 1 April 
2015. Therefore, the UK deferred tax assets and liabilities included within these financial statements have been provided at a rate of 20%. 

Unrecognised tax losses
The Group has capital losses which arose in the UK of £27,313,000 (2013: £27,313,000) that are available for offset against future chargeable gains in 
the UK group. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as it is not reasonably foreseeable that these will be utilised.

Deferred tax assets of £1,727,298 (2013: £1,783,000) in respect of pre-acquisition losses in The Medical House carried forward have not been 
recognised due to insufficient certainty over their recoverability. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.

Deferred tax
Group Company

2014
£000

2013
£000

2014
£000

2013
£000

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated tax depreciation (5,283) (6,429) 15 –

(5,283) (6,429) 15 –

Deferred tax assets

Tax losses 7,190 8,064 5,463 6,282

Less not recognised (7,190) (8,064) (5,463) (6,282)

Tax losses recognised – – – –

Share-based payments 1,226 1,184 846 847

Provisions 212 145 102 95

Other timing differences 1 13 – 4

Retirement benefit obligations 415 2,706 – –

1,854 4,048 948 946

Net deferred tax (liability)/asset (3,429) (2,381) 963 946

Assets – – 963 946

Liabilities (3,429) (2,381) – –

Net deferred tax (liability)/asset (3,429) (2,381) 963 946

Provision for deferred tax

At 1 May (2,381) (7,545) 946 527

Credit/(charge) to the income statement:

— Retirement benefit obligations 200 – – –

— Provisions 112 (27) 22 82

— Share-based payments 88 127 69 180

— Accelerated capital allowances 163 (350) 14 (3)

— Derivatives (11) (62) – (129)

— Intangible assets 188 198 – –

Impact of change in tax rates — income statement 850 317 (72) (19)

Impact of change in tax rates — equity (334) 14 (73) (22)

(Charge)/credit to equity (2,304) 2,028 57 330

Disposal of subsidiaries – 2,919 – –

At 30 April (3,429) (2,381) 963 946

The amount of deferred tax liability likely to be settled within 12 months is £1.0m (2013: £0.8m). Deferred tax assets in the Company are recognised on 
the basis that their reversal in the future will generate current period losses which will be surrendered to subsidiary undertakings in exchange for payment 
at the prevailing tax rate. 
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11. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 
issue during the year, excluding those held in the employee share ownership trust, which are treated as cancelled.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue to assume conversion of all dilutive  
potential ordinary shares. The Group has two classes of dilutive potential ordinary shares; those share options granted to employees where the exercise 
price is less than the average market price of the Company’s ordinary shares during the year and contingently issuable shares under the Long-Term 
Incentive Plan.

2014
£000

2013*
£000

Earnings

Continuing operations

Basic and diluted:

Profit for the year — attributable to owners of the parent 13,646 10,887

Add back: Special items after taxation 270 1,897

Adjusted earnings 13,916 12,784

Discontinued operations

Basic and diluted:

(Loss)/profit for the year — attributable to owners of the parent (678) 13,297

Add back: Special items after taxation 678 (10,520)

Adjusted earnings – 2,777

Total

Basic and diluted:

Profit for the year — attributable to owners of the parent 12,968 24,184

Add back: Special items after taxation 948 (8,623)

Adjusted earnings 13,916 15,561

* Restated (see note 1).

2014
Number

2013
Number

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 29,248,817 29,136,767

Weighted average number of shares owned by Employee Share Ownership Trust (464,819) (413,712)

Average number of ordinary shares in issue for basic earnings 28,783,998 28,723,055

Dilutive impact of share options outstanding 745,627 864,992

Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 29,529,625 29,588,047
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

11. Earnings per share continued
2014

Pence
2013*

Pence

Earnings per share

Continuing operations:

Basic:

Adjusted 48.3 44.5

Unadjusted 47.4 37.9

Diluted:

Adjusted 47.1 43.2

Unadjusted 46.2 36.8

Discontinued operations:

Basic:

Adjusted 0.0 9.7

Unadjusted (2.4) 46.3

Diluted:

Adjusted 0.0 9.4

Unadjusted (2.4) 44.9

Total:

Basic:

Adjusted 48.3 54.2

Unadjusted 45.1 84.2

Diluted:

Adjusted 47.1 52.6

Unadjusted 43.9 81.7

No options over ordinary shares have been exercised since 30 April 2014.

* Restated (see note 1).

12. Dividends
Dividends declared and paid during the year:

2014
£000

2013
£000

Final dividend for 2013 of 12.71p per share (2013: final dividend for 2012 of 12.1p per share) 3,659 3,483

Interim dividend paid of 7.35p per share (2013: 7.0p) 2,121 2,017

5,780 5,500

In addition, the directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 April 2014 of 13.35p per share, which will absorb an estimated 
£3.9m of shareholders’ equity. It will be paid on 24 October 2014 to shareholders who are on the register on 19 September 2014.
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13. Property, plant and equipment

Group 

 Land and 
 buildings 

£000 

 Plant, 
 equipment 

 and vehicles 
£000 

 Assets 
 under 

 construction 
£000 

 Total 
£000 

Cost

At 1 May 2013 28,891 84,939 4,651 118,481

Additions 109 2,364 12,770 15,243

Reclassifications   470 1,927 (2,446) (49)

Disposals  – (2,201) – (2,201)

At 30 April 2014 29,470 87,029 14,975 131,474

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 May 2013 13,098 65,103 – 78,201

Charge for the year 795 4,706 – 5,501

Disposals   – (2,183) – (2,183)

At 30 April 2014 13,893 67,626 – 81,519

Net book amount at 30 April 2014 15,577 19,403 14,975 49,955

The book value of leased assets within plant, equipment and vehicles at 30 April 2014 was £nil following the disposal of leased assets in the year.

Company

 Short-term 
 leasehold 

 improvements 
£000 

 Plant and 
 equipment 

£000 
 Total 
£000

Cost

At 1 May 2013 78 220 298

At 30 April 2014 78 220 298

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 May 2013 45 124 169

Charge for the year – 85 85

At 30 April 2014 45 209 254

Net book amount at 30 April 2014 33 11 44
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

13. Property, plant and equipment continued

Group 

 Land and 
 buildings 

£000 

 Plant, 
 equipment 

 and vehicles 
£000 

 Assets 
 under 

 construction 
£000 

 Total 
£000 

Cost

At 1 May 2012 33,167 86,462 14,607 134,236

Effects of exchange rate changes    269 584 503 1,356

Additions 1,373 2,094 6,963 10,430

Reclassifications   134 1,719 (1,853) –

Disposals  (658) (2,841) – (3,499)

Disposal of subsidiaries (5,394) (3,079) (15,569) (24,042)

At 30 April 2013 28,891 84,939 4,651 118,481

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 May 2012 13,640 64,006 – 77,646

Effects of exchange rate changes    75 360 – 435

Charge for the year 810 5,678 – 6,488

Disposals   (595) (2,619) – (3,214)

Disposal of subsidiaries (832) (2,322) – (3,154)

At 30 April 2013 13,098 65,103 – 78,201

Net book amount at 30 April 2013 15,793 19,836 4,651 40,280

Net book amount at 1 May 2012 19,527 22,456 14,607 56,590

The book value of leased assets within plant, equipment and vehicles at 30 April 2013 was £12,000 (cost £21,000, accumulated depreciation £9,000). 

Company

 Short-term 
 leasehold 

 improvements 
£000 

 Plant and 
 equipment 

£000 
 Total 
£000

Cost

At 1 May 2012 78 171 249

Additions – 49 49

At 30 April 2013 78 220 298

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 May 2012 29 116 145

Charge for the year 16 8 24

At 30 April 2013 45 124 169

Net book amount at 30 April 2013 33 96 129

Net book amount at 1 May 2012 49 55 104
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14. Goodwill

2014
£000

Cost and net book value

At 1 May 2012 59,593

Disposal of subsidiaries (45,830)

Effects of exchange rate changes 2,037

At 30 April 2013 15,800

At 30 April 2014 15,800

The carrying value of goodwill is made up of balances arising on acquisition of The Medical House plc.

Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for impairment annually. Value in use calculations are utilised to calculate recoverable amount. Value in use is 
calculated as the net present value of the projected risk-adjusted, pre-tax cash flows of the cash generating unit in which the goodwill is contained. The 
discount rate applied comprises the Group’s pre-tax weighted average cost of capital adjusted for country-specific risks and is calculated at 9.5%  
(2013: 11%) with the reduction in risk reflective of the launch of the injectables device in the year. 

The value in use calculation for The Medical House was based upon the FY2015 budget and, following that, the Group’s strategic plan which was 
approved by the Board and takes into account both past performance and expectations for future market development. Cash flows beyond this period 
are extrapolated using an annual growth rate of 2%, which does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the sectors in which this cash 
generating unit operates. The assumptions include a successful product launch for an existing customer in 2015 and revenues from as yet unidentified 
customers from 2016. The directors believe that no reasonably foreseeable changes to the key assumptions would result in an impairment of goodwill. 
The directors are confident that the amount of goodwill carried for The Medical House and the assumptions used in estimating its fair value are 
appropriate. 

Critical judgements around goodwill impairment are disclosed in note 1.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

15. Other intangible assets

Group

Internally
generated Other Total

 Development 
 costs 
£000 

 Computer 
 software 

£000 

 Patented and 
 unpatented 

 technology and 
 know-how 

£000 

 Trademarks and 
 trade names 

£000 

 Customer 
 contracts and 

 relationships 
£000 

 Licences and 
 distribution 

 agreements 
£000 

  
£000 

Cost

At 1 May 2013 – 1,406 2,697 – 7,377 12 11,492

Additions  – 25 133 – – – 158

Reclassifications – 49 – – – – 49

Disposals – (93) – – – (12) (105)

At 30 April 2014 – 1,387 2,830 – 7,377 – 11,594

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 May 2013 – 1,356 1,732 – 2,570 8 5,666

Charge for the year – 43 200 – 737 3 983

Disposals – (79) – – – (11) (90)

At 30 April 2014 – 1,320 1,932 – 3,307 – 6,559

Net book amount at 30 April 2014 – 67 898 – 4,070 – 5,035

Cost

At 1 May 2012 686 1,543 6,397 5,036 10,586 4,006 28,254

Effects of exchange rate changes 63 – 262 240 167 154 886

Additions  965 – 52 – – – 1,017

Disposals – – (7) – – – (7)

Disposal of subsidiaries (1,714) (137) (4,007) (5,276) (3,376) (4,148) (18,658)

At 30 April 2013 – 1,406 2,697 – 7,377 12 11,492

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 May 2012 53 1,259 3,711 3,199 4,159 3,160 15,541

Effects of exchange rate changes 4 – 177 161 162 96 600

Charge for the year 48 131 640 411 749 237 2,216

Disposals – – (3) – – – (3)

Disposal of subsidiaries (105) (34) (2,793) (3,771) (2,500) (3,485) (12,688)

At 30 April 2013 – 1,356 1,732 – 2,570 8 5,666

Net book amount at 30 April 2013 – 50 965 – 4,807 4 5,826

Net book amount at 1 May 2012 633 284 2,686 1,837 6,427 846 12,713

The Company has no intangible assets at 30 April 2014 (30 April 2013: £nil).
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16. Investments

Group — equity investments
2014
£000

2013
£000

Cost and net book value at 1 May 3,650 2,548

Additions 418 1,102

Cost and net book value at 30 April 4,068 3,650

In April 2014, the Group invested a further £0.4m in Atlas Genetics Limited, a UK-based privately owned healthcare technology company with an 
ultra-rapid point of care (POC) diagnostics platform. Bespak undertakes design for manufacture work to prepare disposable test cards that are a core 
component of the Atlas system and has also been awarded long term manufacturing rights for the card.

Company
2014
£000

2013
£000

Subsidiary undertakings

Cost and net book value 82,091 82,092

Other equity investments

Investment in Atlas Genetics Limited 4,068 3,650

86,159 85,742

In 2013, the Company disposed of its indirect holding in King Systems which had been held at a cost of £1,235,000.

2014
£000

2013
£000

Long-term loans to Group undertakings

At 1 May 48,667 75,515

Net movement in the year 3,003 (29,919)

Effects of exchange rate changes (3,005) 3,071

Net book value at 30 April 48,665 48,667

Interest is charged on long-term loans to subsidiaries at rates linked to LIBOR.

A list of the Company’s principal subsidiaries is included in note 30 on page 111.

17. Inventories
Group Company

2014
£000

2013
£000

2014
£000

2013
£000

Raw materials and consumables 5,345 5,525 – –

Work in progress 2,121 2,332 – –

Finished goods 2,737 3,888 – –

10,203 11,745 – –
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

18. Trade and other receivables
Group Company

2014
£000

2013*
£000

2014
£000

2013
£000

Trade receivables 13,629 11,023 – –

Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables (50) – – –

Trade receivables — net 13,579 11,023 – –

Amounts receivable from Group undertakings – – 1,376 526

Contingent consideration 11,157 11,676 – –

Other receivables 3,152 3,134 – –

Other taxation 1,348 816 123 606

Prepayments and accrued income 3,580 1,553 447 738

32,816 28,202 1,946 1,870

Due after more than one year 4,841 5,424 – –

Due within one year 27,975 22,778 1,946 1,870

* Restated (see note 1).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Group does not hold 
any collateral as security.

Amounts receivable from Group undertakings include amounts denominated in US dollars and include short-term loans on which interest is charged at 
rates linked to LIBOR.

Contingent consideration arises on the disposal of King Systems and is stated at fair value.

As at 30 April 2014, trade receivables of £1,195,000 (2013: £828,000) were past due.

Group

2014
£000

2013
£000

Up to 3 months 1,131 785

3 to 6 months 1 2

Over 6 months 63 41

1,195 828

The ageing of impaired receivables is as follows:
Group

2014
£000

2013
£000

Up to 3 months 5 –

3 to 6 months – –

Over 6 months 45 –

50 –

The credit quality of receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is considered to be good as a significant proportion is owed by large, established 
customers.

There are no receivables that would otherwise have been past due or impaired had their terms not been renegotiated (2013: £nil).
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18. Trade and other receivables continued

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other receivables is denominated in the following currencies:

Group

2014
£000

2013
£000

Sterling 13,680 13,338

US dollars 522 12,209

Euro 2,495 1,750

Swiss franc 34 905

16,731 28,202

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

Group

2014
£000

2013
£000

At 1 May – 252

Provision for impairment of receivables 50 –

Receivables written off in the period – (174)

Disposal of subsidiaries – (85)

Exchange movement – 7

At 30 April 50 –

Amounts are written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash. The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain 
impaired assets.

19. Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company

2014
£000

2013
£000

2014
£000

2013
£000

Cash at bank and in hand 8,343 3,513 1,234 30

Short-term bank deposits 17,500 33,453 17,500 33,453

25,843 36,966 18,734 33,483

The weighted average interest rate of short-term bank deposits at the end of the year was 0.95% (2013: 0.83%) and the weighted average period to 
maturity was 32 days (2013: 1 day).

20. Trade and other payables
Group Company

2014
£000

2013*
£000

2014
£000

2013
£000

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade payables 6,133 9,134 73 89

Amounts payable to Group undertakings – – 95,518 96,799

Other taxation and social security 596 736 79 213

Other payables 5,975 5,539 64 15

Accruals and deferred income 2,775 4,401 1,589 2,309

15,479 19,810 97,323 99,425

* Restated (see note 1).

Loans from Group undertakings have no fixed date of repayment. Interest on certain balances is charged at rates linked to LIBOR.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

21. Pensions and other post-employment benefits

Pension costs
2014
£000

2013*
£000

UK defined benefit scheme 1,351 1,086

UK defined contribution schemes 1,298 1,258

Total charged to operating expenses (note 4) 2,649 2,344

Net interest included in other finance costs (note 9) 485 144

Total cost of pensions charged to income statement 3,134 2,488

* Restated (see note 1).

The Group operates pension schemes in the UK to provide pensions to retired employees. UK pension benefits are provided by a defined benefit 
scheme, whereby retirement benefits are based on employee pensionable remuneration and length of service, and by defined contribution schemes, 
whereby retirement benefits are determined by the value of funds arising from contributions paid in respect of each employee. The defined benefit 
scheme was closed to new entrants with effect from 30 June 2002.

Increases to pensions in payment are 2.2% p.a. to 3.6% p.a. and pension increases in deferment in respect of future retirees are 2.3% p.a. The 
members’ share of the cost of the Scheme is 8% of pensionable salaries and is generally paid via a ‘salary sacrifice’ arrangement. The Group meets the 
full cost of accrual, but members receive a reduction in their salary equal to their share of the cost of the Scheme. Members have the right to opt out of 
this arrangement if they wish to receive their full salary and contribute to the Scheme, in which case the Group’s contributions to the scheme are reduced.

Contributions to defined benefit schemes are determined in accordance with the advice of an independent, professionally qualified actuary. Pension 
costs of defined benefit schemes for accounting purposes have been assessed in accordance with independent actuarial advice, using the projected 
unit method. Liabilities are assessed annually in accordance with the advice of an independent actuary. Formal, independent, actuarial valuations of the 
Group’s defined benefit scheme are undertaken, normally every three years.

The following information relates to the Group’s UK defined benefit pension scheme, the Bespak plc Staff Retirement Benefits Scheme (“the Scheme”).

The Group also operated a smaller defined contribution scheme in the USA which was disposed of during the prior year (see note 28). The pension cost 
associated with this scheme of £nil (2013: £41,000) have been reported within discontinued operations. 

Present value
 of obligation

 £000

Fair value of 
plan assets

 £000  
Total
£000 

At 1 May 2013 91,276 (79,510) 11,766

Current service cost 1,351 – 1,351

Interest expense/(income) 3,897 (3,412) 485

Amount charged/(credited) to the income statement 5,248 (3,412) 1,836

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included within interest) – (940) (940)

Gain from changes in demographic assumptions (1,639) – (1,639)

Gain from changes in financial assumptions (7,982) – (7,982)

Amount credited to equity (9,621) (940) (10,561)

Contributions:

— employers – (965) (965)

— plan participants 2 (2) –

Payments from plans:

— benefit payments (1,299) 1,299 –

At 30 April 2014 85,606 (83,530) 2,076
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21. Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued
Present value
 of obligation*

 £000

Fair value of 
plan assets*

 £000  
Total*
£000 

At 1 May 2012 71,528 (68,161) 3,367

Current service cost 1,086 – 1,086

Interest expense/(income) 3,544 (3,400) 144

Amount charged/(credited) to the income statement 4,630 (3,400) 1,230

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included within interest) – (8,258) (8,258)

Loss from changes in financial assumptions 16,416 – 16,416

Amount charged/(credited) to equity 16,416 (8,258) 8,158

Contributions:

— employers – (989) (989)

— plan participants 2 (2) –

Payments from plans:

— benefit payments (1,300) 1,300 –

At 30 April 2013 91,276 (79,510) 11,766

Components of defined benefit pension cost
2014
£000

2013*
£000

Current service cost 1,351  1,086 

Net interest expense 485 144

Total defined benefit pension cost recognised in the income statement 1,836  1,230 

Actuarial (gains)/losses immediately recognised (10,561)  8,158 

Total pension (income)/charge recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (10,561)  8,158 

Cumulative amount of actuarial losses immediately recognised 7,236  17,797

* Restated (see note 1).

Explanation of the relationship between Consort Medical plc and the trustees of the Scheme
The Scheme’s assets are held in a separate trustee-administered fund to meet long-term pension liabilities to past and present employees. The trustees 
of the Scheme are required to act in the best interests of the Scheme’s beneficiaries. The appointment of trustees to the Scheme is set out under 
Rule A16 of the Scheme’s trust deed and rules dated 14 March 1997. The Scheme has a policy that one-third of all trustees should be nominated by 
members of the Scheme.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

21. Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued

Disclosure of principal assumptions
The principal actuarial assumptions adopted at the balance sheet date were:

2014 2013

Discount rate 4.6% p.a. 4.3% p.a.

Future RPI inflation 3.3% p.a. 3.3% p.a.

Future CPI inflation 2.3% p.a. 2.3% p.a.

Future salary increases 3.3% p.a. 3.8% p.a.

Rate of pension increases

RPI inflation capped at 5% p.a. 3.2% p.a. 3.2% p.a.

RPI inflation capped at 5% p.a. with a minimum of 3% p.a. 3.6% p.a. 3.6% p.a.

RPI inflation capped at 2.5% p.a. 2.2% p.a. 2.2% p.a.

The IAS 19 accounting standard “Employee benefits” requires that the discount rate used be determined by reference to market yields at the balance 
sheet date on high quality fixed income investments. The currency and term of these should be consistent with the currency and estimated term of the 
post-employment obligations. 

The discount rate has been developed from a spot yield curve based on UK Government bonds, adjusted to reflect the credit spread between AA-rated 
corporate bonds and Government bonds.

The expected rate of inflation is an important building block for the salary growth and pension increase assumption. A rate of inflation is “implied” by the 
difference between the yields on fixed-interest and index-linked Government bonds.

For the majority of members, pension accrued before 6 April 1997 does not receive any guaranteed increases and it is assumed that no discretionary 
increases will be awarded. Pension accrued between 6 April 1997 and 30 April 2009 receives increases in line with inflation subject to a maximum of 5% 
p.a. (for which the Company has assumed future increases will be 3.2% p.a.). Some members receive fixed increases of 3% p.a. on pension accrued 
before 6 April 1997 and increases in line with inflation subject to a minimum of 3% p.a. and a maximum of 5% p.a. on pension accrued between 6 April 
1997 and 30 April 2009 (for which the Company has assumed future increases will be 3.6% p.a.).  For all members, pension accrued after 1 May 2009 
receives increases in line with inflation subject to a maximum of 2.5% p.a. (for which the Company has assumed future increases will be 2.2% p.a.).

One of the key assumptions made in valuing the pension scheme’s liabilities are the mortality rates used to assess how long pensions will be paid for. 
The mortality rates used to calculate the Scheme’s liabilities were updated as part of the Scheme’s actuarial valuation in 2011 and used a base table of 
90% of the S1NA year of birth tables with a long term projection using the CMI 2009 projections and a long-term rate of improvement of 1.5% p.a.. The 
calculation of the Scheme’s liabilities under IAS 19 (Revised) uses the same assumptions but with a long-term rate of improvement of 1.25% p.a..

The current life expectancies (in years) underlying the value of the accrued liabilities for the Scheme are:

2014 2013

Life expectancy at age 65 Male Female Male Female 

Member currently aged 65 23.1 25.6  23.6  25.9 

Member currently aged 45 24.9 27.5  25.9  28.2 
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21. Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued

The split of the pension scheme’s investments between principal asset categories is as follows:

Asset fair value 2014 Asset fair value 2013

Asset category 

Total
assets

£000

Of which
quoted

£000
Total

%

Total
assets
£000

Of which
quoted

£000
Total

%

Debt instruments 37,273 – 44.6 33,614 – 42.3

Equity instruments 38,162 13,045 45.7 38,445 12,609 48.4

Hedge funds 7,843 7,843 9.4 7,140 7,140 9.0

Cash 252 – 0.3 311 – 0.4

Overall 83,530 20,888 100.0 79,510 19,749 100.0

Sensitivity analysis of the principal assumptions used to measure Scheme liabilities
The sensitivity of the Scheme’s liabilities to changes in the principal assumptions used to measure these liabilities is illustrated below. The illustrations 
consider the single change shown with the other assumptions assumed to be unchanged. In practice, changes in one assumption may be accompanied 
by offsetting changes in another assumption (this is not always the case).

The Group liability is the difference between the Scheme liabilities and the Scheme assets. Certain changes in the assumptions will be as a result of 
changes in market yields. Where this is the case, the market value of Scheme assets may change simultaneously, which may or may not offset the 
change in assumptions. For example, a fall in interest rates will increase the Scheme liability, but may also trigger an offsetting increase in the market  
value of assets so that the net effect on the Group liability is reduced.

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on Scheme’s accrued liabilities

Discount rate Decrease by 0.25% p.a. Increase by 5.9%

Rate of inflation and salary increase Decrease by 0.25% p.a. Decrease by 4.8%

Rate of inflation and salary increase Increase by 0.25% p.a. Increase by 5.1%

Rate of mortality Members assumed to live one year longer Increase by 2.1%

How the liabilities arising from the Scheme are measured
The Group provides retirement benefits via the Scheme to some of its former employees and approximately 26% of current UK employees. The level of 
retirement benefit is principally based on salary earned in the final three years of employment and period of service as a Scheme member.

The projected liabilities of the Scheme are apportioned between members’ past and future service using the projected unit actuarial cost method. The 
deficit in the consolidated balance sheet is the difference between the projected liability allocated to past service (the defined benefit obligation) and the 
market value of the assets of the Scheme. The defined benefit obligation makes allowance for future earnings growth. Based on the last triennial valuation 
at 30 April 2011, if all active members were assumed to leave the Group and the allowance for future earnings growth was replaced by an allowance for 
statutory revaluation, the liabilities would reduce by approximately £5.2m.

An alternative measure of liability is the cost of buying out benefits at the balance sheet date with a suitable insurer. This amount represents the amount 
that would be required to settle the Scheme’s liabilities at the balance sheet date rather than the Group continuing to fund the ongoing liabilities of the 
Scheme. The latest estimate of the amount required to settle the Scheme’s liabilities was calculated at 30 April 2011. This indicated that the amount 
required was £43.9m in excess of the assets held by the Scheme. 

Future funding obligations in relation to the Scheme
The trustees have selected a funding target based on the Scheme being closed to new members but with active members continuing to accrue benefits. 
The agreed funding objective is to reach, and then maintain, assets equal to 100% of the value of the projected past service liabilities, assessed on an 
ongoing basis, allowing for future salary increases for active members.

The most recently completed triennial actuarial valuation of the Scheme was performed by an independent actuary for the trustees of the Scheme and 
was carried out as at 30 April 2011. Following the valuation and changes to the Scheme’s benefits for future service the trustees agreed that the Group 
could cease paying deficit reduction contributions of £238,000 per month. The next actuarial valuation, which is being carried out as at 30 April 2014, is 
currently in progress and, as a result, the Group is unable to determine the specific contributions during the 2015 financial year. The weighted average 
duration of the defined benefit obligation is 24 years (2013: 27 years).
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

21. Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued

Nature and extent of the risks arising from financial instruments held by the Scheme
The expected return on the Scheme’s assets is based on market expectations at the beginning of the financial period for returns over the life of the 
related obligation. The expected yield on bond investments with fixed interest rates can be derived exactly from their market value. Some of these bond 
investments are issued by the UK Government and the risk of default on these is very small. The trustees also hold bond investments issued by public 
companies. There is a more significant risk of default on these which is assessed by various rating agencies. The trustees also have a substantial holding 
of equity and hedge fund investments, with a target of 60% of the Scheme’s assets being invested in these funds. The investment return related to 
these is variable, and they are generally considered much “riskier” investments. It is generally accepted that the yield on these investments will contain a 
premium (“the equity risk premium”) to compensate investors for the additional risk of holding this type of investment. There is significant uncertainty about 
the likely size of this risk premium.

The majority of the equities held by the Scheme are in international blue chip entities. The aim is to hold a globally diversified portfolio of equities, with a 
target of 22% of equities being held in the UK, 27% in the rest of Europe, 20% in North American equities, 10% in each of Japanese and Pacific Basin 
equities and 11% in emerging markets.

As part of the investment strategy review, the trustees, in conjunction with the Group, have carried out an asset-liability review for the Scheme. These 
studies are used to assist the trustees and the Group in determining the optimal long-term asset allocation with regard to the structure of liabilities within 
the Scheme. The results of the study are used to assist the trustees in managing the volatility in the underlying investment performance and the risk of a 
significant increase in the Scheme’s deficit by providing information used to determine the pension scheme’s investment strategy. 

22. Provisions and other liabilities
Deferred
income

£000 
Restructuring 

£000 

Employee 
benefits 

£000 
Total 
£000

Group

At 1 May 2013 1,500 511 628 2,639

Provided in the year – 30 521 551

Utilised in the year – (445) (362) (807)

Unwind of discount – 33 – 33

Released in the year – (39) – (39)

At 30 April 2014 1,500 90 787 2,377

Analysis of total provisions:

Current – 90 457 877

Non-current 1,500 – 330 1,500

Total 1,500 90 787 2,377

Company 

At 1 May 2013 – – 551 551

Provided in the year – – 155 155

At 30 April 2014 – – 706 706

Deferred income represents an advance payment from a customer that will be recognised within the device price when manufacturing commences.

The restructuring provision at 30 April 2014 and 30 April 2013 comprises employee severance and certain other costs associated with the restructuring in 
the UK. During the year the provision has reduced as a result of payments made on, and a subsequent exit from, an onerous property lease. 

Employee benefits represents a provision for national insurance contributions on share options and other share-based payments.

Other provisions are in respect of product quality and other customer-related issues and are expected to be payable within one year.  

For all provisions, the amounts provided represent management’s best estimate of the most likely outcome.
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23. Net cash
Group Company

2014
£000

2013
£000

2014
£000

2013
£000

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 25,843 36,966 18,734 33,483

25,843 36,966 18,734 33,483

Current borrowings:

Obligations under finance leases — amounts payable within one year – (2) – –

Gross borrowings – (2) – –

Net cash 25,843 36,964 18,734 33,483

On 1 June 2012, the Group cancelled its GBP term loan and revolving credit facilities. On the same day, the Group signed a US$56m multicurrency 
revolving facility and a £40m multicurrency revolving facility. Under the terms of the refinancing, the Group also has a £25m “accordian” facility, by which 
further facilities may be made available by RBS and HSBC under the current terms to support significant investment or acquisition opportunities which 
may arise. The new facilities expire in November 2016 and have interest and covenant terms similar to the cancelled facilities.

In February 2013 Group borrowings of £47.1m were repaid using the funds obtained from the disposal of King Systems (see note 28). At the same time 
the Group’s interest rate swap instruments as follows were cancelled because the Group no longer had floating rate interest payable. These comprised:

•	two three-year interest rate swaps for a total notional amount of US$40m commencing in January 2011. Under the terms of the swaps the Company 
received interest on a variable rate basis and paid interest fixed at 1.483%, plus bank margin;

•	an interest rate swap on US$7.5m commencing on 28 April 2011 and expiring on 31 January 2014. Under the terms of the swap the Company 
received interest on a variable rate basis and paid interest fixed at 1.5275%, plus bank margin; and

•	an amortising interest rate swap for £10m commencing on 28 April 2011 and expiring on 31 October 2013, matching its GBP term loan. Under the 
terms of the swap the Company received interest on a variable rate basis and paid interest fixed at 1.775%, plus bank margin.

The undrawn facilities are unsecured. The bank loans and overdrafts are subject to cross-guarantees between Group undertakings. 

Interest on the multicurrency revolving credit facility is charged at LIBOR plus a margin of between 2.00% and 3.00%, depending upon the ratio of net 
debt to EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation), and on UK overdrafts at 1.75% above UK base rate.

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net cash
Group

2014
£000

2013
£000

Net cash/(debt) at the beginning of the year 36,964 (37,653)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash (11,061) 22,356

Proceeds from new bank funding – (3,000)

Repayment of amounts borrowed – 57,069

Finance lease payments 2 1

Effects of exchange rate changes (62) (1,809)

Net cash at the end of the year 25,843 36,964
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

24. Share capital and share premium

Group and Company  Number 

 Ordinary shares 
 of 10p each 

£000 

 Share 
 premium 

£000 

Share capital authorised

At 1 May 2013 and 30 April 2014 40,000,000 4,000 –

Share capital issued and fully paid

At 1 May 2013 29,207,125 2,921 33,406

Issued under share option schemes 68,542 7 269

At 30 April 2014 29,275,667 2,928 33,675

30 April
2014

30 April
2013

Number of shares issuable under outstanding options 971,100 1,242,282

57,541 (2013: 195,717) ordinary shares of 10p were issued as a result of exercises under the Consort Savings Related Share Option Scheme for total 
consideration of £220,382 (2013: £758,124). 11,001 (2013: nil) ordinary shares of 10p were issued as a result of exercises under the Executive Share 
Option Scheme for total consideration of £55,995 (2013: £nil).

The Group purchases its own shares using an Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT) to satisfy entitlements under the Group’s Long-term Incentive 
Plan. The cost of the shares held by the ESOT is deducted from retained earnings. The ESOT is financed by a repayable-on-demand loan from the 
Company of £6,311,000 (2013: £3,472,000). As at 30 April 2014 the ESOT held a total of 425,843 ordinary shares (2013: 511,378 shares) at a cost of 
£3,475,230 (2013: £2,829,502) and market value of £3,755,935 (2013: £4,091,024).

25. Retained earnings
Profit for the financial year
As permitted by s408 of the Companies Act 2006, the holding company’s income statement has not been included in these financial statements. The 
loss on ordinary activities after taxation for the financial year dealt with in the accounts of the holding company was £4.7m (2013: profit £18.3m).

26. Financial instruments and related disclosures
Financial risk management
The Group reports in sterling and pays dividends out of sterling profits. Group Finance manages and monitors the Group’s external and internal funding 
requirements and financial risks in support of Group corporate objectives. Treasury activities are governed by policies and procedures approved by the 
Board and monitored by Group Finance.

Group Finance maintains treasury control systems and procedures to monitor interest rate, foreign exchange, credit and liquidity risks.

The Group uses a variety of financial instruments, including derivatives, to finance and to manage market risks of its operations. Financial instruments 
include cash and liquid resources, borrowings, forward foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps.

Liquid assets surplus to the immediate operating requirements of Group undertakings are invested and managed centrally by Group Finance. 

External borrowings are managed centrally by Group Finance and comprise a combination of long and short-term finance.

Consort Medical plc does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative trading purposes and the Group’s Treasury policies specifically 
prohibit such activity. All transactions in financial instruments are undertaken to manage the risks arising from underlying business activities.

Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, to provide returns for shareholders 
and benefits for other stakeholders and to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, 
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Selling margins are sufficient to cover normal operating costs and the Group’s operating subsidiaries are cash-generative. None of the entities in the 
Group are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. Operating cash flow is used to fund investment in new product development as well as to 
make the routine outflows of capital expenditure, tax, dividends and repayment of maturing debt.
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26. Financial instruments and related disclosures continued

The Group’s policy is to borrow centrally to meet anticipated funding requirements.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as 
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as total equity as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt.

As at 30 April 2014, the Group is in a net cash position following the settlement of debt on completion of the disposal of King Systems (see note 28).

The Group has historically monitored two widely used ratios to measure the ability to service debt, being net debt/EBITDA and EBITDA interest cover. The 
net debt/EBITDA ratio is not applicable as the Group continues to be in a net cash position and the EBITDA interest cover is better than target throughout 
the financial year.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The table entitled ‘Fair value of financial assets and liabilities’ presents the carrying amount and the fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities 
under IFRS. Where available, market values have been used to determine fair values. Where market values are not available, fair values are determined 
using the prevailing interest and exchange rates. 

The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair values of financial instruments are as follows:

Forward exchange contracts — based on market prices and exchange rates at the balance sheet date; 
Contingent consideration — the discounted value of anticipated future receipts. 

The fair value of other assets and liabilities approximates to the carrying amount reported in the balance sheet.

Fair value and cash flow hedging activities
All derivative financial instruments are recognised as assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at fair value. Gains and losses are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement unless they are designated as hedging instruments and tested to be effective under IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments – 
Recognition and measurement’, in which case the element of gains and losses that fulfil the hedge effectiveness criteria are taken directly to equity.

Consort Medical plc’s hedging strategy is unchanged in respect of covering the transactional risk of foreign currency sales and purchases and hedging 
the net investment position of foreign subsidiaries.

Interest rate risk management
The Group’s borrowings are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the Group to interest rate risk, against which, in the past, the Group has sought to 
protect itself through interest rate swaps. As the Group is currently in a net cash position, no interest rate swaps are now held.

Foreign exchange risk management
The Group’s principal currency exposure is movement between Sterling and the US dollar.

Transactional exposure
The Group uses forward contracts to hedge transactional currency exposures. As a result there were no material net monetary assets or liabilities 
in foreign currencies, having taken into account the effect of forward exchange currency contracts that have been used to match foreign currency 
exposures.  

The Group hedges a proportion of forecast foreign currency transaction exposure generally extending up to 12 months. At 30 April 2014, the Group 
held forward contracts to hedge the equivalent of £0.5m of forecast foreign currency transaction exposures (2013: £2.4m). The fair value of the forward 
exchange contracts was an asset of £7,000 at 30 April 2014 (2013: liability of £55,000). The Group currently does not designate these forward contracts 
as cash flow hedges and so gains and losses are recognised in the income statement.

The primary exposures in the UK business are transactions denominated in the USD and the Euro. A 10% decline in Sterling against the USD and the 
Euro (which is considered reasonably possible) would increase operating profit and equity by £0.2m (2013: £0.2m). A 10% increase in the value of 
Sterling (which is considered reasonably possible) would have a similar but opposite effect.

Committed facilities
As explained in note 23, the Group has committed facilities available at floating rates which expire in November 2016 and an overdraft facility that expires 
within one year.

Market risk of financial assets
The Group invests centrally managed liquid assets in short-term investments with banks at floating interest rates. These investments are classified as cash 
and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

26. Financial instruments and related disclosures continued

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to a concentration of credit risk in respect of its major customers such that, if one or more of them is affected by financial difficulty, 
it could materially and adversely affect the Group’s financial results. However, the Group generally does not expect its customers to fail to meet their 
obligations.

The Group does not believe that it is exposed to major concentrations of credit risk on other classes of financial instruments. The Group is exposed to 
credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties to financial instruments, but does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet 
their obligations.

The Group applies Board-approved limits to the amount of credit exposure to any one counterparty and employs strict minimum creditworthiness criteria 
as to the choice of counterparty. The Group takes out credit insurance cover against the majority of export sales.

Liquidity risk
The Group operates internationally and selling margins are sufficient to exceed normal operating costs and the Group’s main operating subsidiaries are 
cash-generative.

Operating cash flow is used to fund investment in the research and development of new products as well as routine outflows of capital expenditure, tax, 
dividends and repayment of maturing debt. The Group may, from time to time, have additional demands for finance, such as acquisitions. 

Financial assets and liabilities
The following table sets out the classification of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities. Receivables and payables have been included to the extent that 
they are classified as financial assets and liabilities in accordance with IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation. Provisions have been included where 
there is a contractual obligation to settle in cash.

Group Company

30 April
2014
£000

30 April
2013*
£000

30 April
2014
£000

30 April
2013
£000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 25,483 36,966 18,734 33,483

Trade receivables 13,579 11,023 – –

Other receivables 3,574 3,134 – –

Amounts due from Group undertakings – – 50,041 49,193

Total loans and receivables 17,153 14,157 50,041 49,193

Contingent consideration 11,157 11,676 – –

Equity investment in Atlas Genetics Limited 4,068 3,650 4,068 3,650

Total available-for-sale financial assets 15,225 15,326 4,068 3,650

Fair value through profit and loss — cash flow hedges 7 – – –

Financial liabilities

Trade payables (6,133) (11,362) (73) (89)

Other creditors and accruals (10,221) (7,712) (1,546) (2,324)

Amounts due to Group undertakings – – (111,501) (112,674)

Total amortised cost (16,354) (19,074) (113,120) (115,087)

Fair value through profit and loss — cash flow hedges – (55) – –

* Restated (see note 1).

All financial liabilities have a contractual maturity date that is less than six months from the balance sheet date.

The equity investment in Atlas Genetics is an unquoted investment and therefore held at cost, less any provision for impairment as its fair value cannot be 
measured reliably in the absence of an active market.

102

Consort Medical plc  
Annual Report & Accounts  
for the year ended 30 April 2014



23142.04   15 July 2014 5:12 PM   Proof 4

26. Financial instruments and related disclosures continued

The following tables categorise the Group’s and Company’s financial assets and liabilities held at fair value by the valuation methodology applied in 
determining fair value. Where possible, quoted prices in active markets are used (Level 1). Where such prices are not available, the asset or liability is 
classified as Level 2, provided all significant inputs to the valuation model are based on observable market data. In other cases the instrument is classified 
as Level 3. The Company has no financial assets or liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value
At 30 April 2014
Group

Level 1
£000 

Level 2
£000 

Level 3
£000 

Total
£000 

Currency exchange contracts – 7 – 7

Contingent consideration – – 11,157 11,157

– 7 11,157 11,164

At 30 April 2013
Group

Level 1
£000 

Level 2
£000 

Level 3
£000 

Total
£000 

Contingent consideration – – 11,676 11,676

– – 11,676 11,676

Financial liabilities at fair value
At 30 April 2014
Group

Level 1
£000 

Level 2
£000 

Level 3
£000 

Total
£000 

Currency exchange contracts – – – –

– – – –

At 30 April 2013
Group and Company

Level 1
£000 

Level 2
£000 

Level 3
£000 

Total
£000 

Currency exchange contracts – (55) – (55)

– (55) – (55)

Under the terms of the disposal of King Systems, completed on 15 February 2013, the purchaser, Ambu A/S, is due to pay amounts of consideration 
contingent upon the performance of King following disposal. This comprises: 

•	a milestone payment of US$10m upon completion of the first commercial sale of a video laryngoscope currently under development by King with a 
reusable display and an adaptor containing reusable optics and a disposable blade;

•	payments with a potential maximum value of US$40m related to the sales of King Vision products for the three years ending 30 April 2016.  

On 9 May 2014, US$10m was received from Ambu A/S following the first commercial sale of a video laryngoscope. On 4 June 2014,  
US$ 2.3m was received from Ambu A/S reflecting the first payment relating to the sales of the King Vision products for the year ending 30 April 2014. 
Further cash payments are potentially due dependent on sales of King Vision products in the years ending 30 April 2015 and 30 April 2016 including a 
true-up mechanism on completion of the three years to 30 April 2016.

The fair value of contingent consideration is valued at £11.2m (30 April 2013: £11.7m). The reduction of £0.5m is primarily due to foreign exchange 
(£0.9m), and the re-phasing of the underlying sales assumptions (£0.3m) is partially offset by the unwinding of the discount with the passage of time 
(£0.7m) and is recognised in discontinued operations as special items in the income statement. A reduction in the forecast sales by 10% would reduce 
the fair value of the receivable by £0.4m and an increase in the forecast sales by 10% would increase the fair value of the receivable by £0.4m.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

26. Financial instruments and related disclosures continued

Interest rate profile of financial assets and liabilities
The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group at 30 April 2014 is as follows:

Group Company

At 30 April 2014
Financial assets

Cash and 
cash 

equivalents
£000

Currency
exchange
contracts

£000
Total
£000

Cash and 
cash 

equivalents
£000

Loans
receivable

from Group
undertakings

£000
Total
£000

Less than one year 25,843 7 25,850 18,734 – 18,734

Loans with no fixed repayment date – – – – 50,041 50,041

Total 25,843 7 25,850 18,734 50,041 68,775

Analysed as:

Floating rate interest 17,500 – 17,500 18,734 48,665 67,399

Total interest earning 17,500 – 17,500 18,734 48,665 67,399

Non-interest earning 8,343 7 8,350 – 1,376 1,376

Total 25,843 7 25,850 18,734 50,041 68,775

Group Company

At 30 April 2014
Financial liabilities

Currency
exchange
contracts

£000 

Obligations 
under finance 

leases 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Loans 
payable 

from Group 
undertakings

£000
Total 
£000

Less than one year – – – (95,518) (95,518)

More than one year – – – (15,875) (15,875)

Total – – – (111,393) (111,393)

Analysed as:

Fixed rate interest – – – (52,250) (52,250)

Total interest earning – – – (52,250) (52,250)

Non-interest earning – – – (59,143) (59,143)

Total – – – (111,393) (111,393)

Group Company

At 30 April 2013
Financial assets

Cash and 
cash 

equivalents
£000

Currency
exchange
contracts

£000
Total
£000

Cash and 
cash 

equivalents
£000

Loans
receivable

from Group
undertakings

£000
Total
£000

Less than one year 36,966 – 36,966 33,483 – 33,483

Loans with no fixed repayment date – – – – 49,193 49,193

Total 36,966 – 36,966 33,483 49,193 82,676

Analysed as:

Floating rate interest 33,453 – 33,453 33,453 48,667 82,120

Total interest earning 33,453 – 33,453 33,453 48,667 82,120

Non-interest earning 3,513 – 3,513 30 526 556

Total 36,966 – 36,966 33,483 49,193 82,676
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26. Financial instruments and related disclosures continued

Group Company

At 30 April 2013
Financial liabilities

Currency
exchange
contracts

£000 

Obligations 
under finance 

leases 
£000 

Total 
Group

£000 

Loans 
payable 

from Group 
undertakings

£000

Total 
Group

£000

Less than one year (55) (2) (57) (96,799) (96,799)

More than one year – – – (15,875) (15,875)

Total (55) (2) (57) (112,674) (112,674)

Analysed as:

Fixed rate interest – (2) (2) (51,062) (51,062)

Total interest earning – (2) (2) (51,062) (51,062)

Non-interest earning (55)   – (55) (61,612) (61,612)

Total (55) (2) (57) (112,674) (112,674)

Currency profile of the financial assets and liabilities
The currency profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group and Company is as follows:

Group Company

At 30 April 2014
Sterling 

£000 

US 
dollar 
£000 

Euro 
£000 

Other
£000

Total 
£000 

Sterling 
£000 

US 
dollar 
£000 

Total 
£000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 21,038 1,115 2,493 1,197 25,843 18,734 – 18,734

Loans receivable from 
Group undertakings – – – – – 24,725 25,316 50,041

21,038 1,115 2,493 1,197 25,843 43,459 25,316 68,775

Financial liabilities

Obligations under finance leases – – – – – – – –

Loss payable to Group undertakings – – – – – (68,126) (43,267) (111,393)

– – – – – (68,126) (43,267) (111,393)
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

26. Financial instruments and related disclosures continued

Group Company

At 30 April 2013
Sterling 

£000 

US 
dollar 
£000 

Euro 
£000 

Other
£000

Total 
£000 

Sterling 
£000 

US 
dollar 
£000 

Total 
£000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 35,510 557 843 56 36,966 33,161 322 33,483

Loans receivable from Group 
undertakings – – – – – 10,238 38,429 48,667

35,510 557 843 56 36,966 43,399 38,751 82,150

Financial liabilities

Obligations under finance leases (2) – – – (2) – – –

Loans payable to Group undertakings – – – – – (66,937) (45,737) (112,674)

(2) – – – (2) (66,937) (45,737) (112,674)

Borrowing facilities
At 30 April 2014, the Group and Company had the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities:

2014
£000

2013
£000

Expiring within one year 1,000 1,000

Expiring beyond one year 73,296 76,113

Derivative financial instruments
The table below sets out the net principal amounts and fair value of derivative contracts:

Contract or
underlying 

principal amount 
£000 

Fair value

Assets 
£000

Liabilities 
£000

At 30 April 2014

Currency exchange contracts 480 7 –

Total derivative financial instruments 480 7 –

At 30 April 2013

Currency exchange contracts 2,370 – (55)

Total derivative financial instruments 2,370 – (55)

27. Employee share schemes
Share options
The Group operates share award schemes whereby awards are granted to employees to acquire shares in Consort Medical plc at no cost, subject to 
the achievement by the Group of certain specified performance targets. It also offers savings-related share option schemes. Since the introduction of the 
2005 LTIP scheme no further awards have been made under any Executive Share Option Scheme.  In August 2011 and October 2011 awards were 
made under a new Company Share Option Scheme.

Grants of share options are normally exercisable at the end of the three-year vesting/performance period. Grants under savings-related share option 
schemes are normally exercisable after three years’ saving. Grants under share option schemes are normally exercisable between three and ten years 
from the date of grant. Options under the share option schemes are normally granted at the market price ruling at the date of grant. The majority of 
options under the savings-related share option schemes are now granted at the market price ruling at the date of grant.

In June 2013, share options were granted under the new Company Share Option Scheme in tandem with grants under the LTIP. Further details are 
provided below.

Share options awarded to the directors are subject to performance criteria as laid out in the Remuneration Report.

106

Consort Medical plc  
Annual Report & Accounts  
for the year ended 30 April 2014



23142.04   15 July 2014 5:12 PM   Proof 4

27. Employee share schemes continued

Share-based compensation recognised in the income statement
2014
£000

2013
£000

Staff costs (note 4) 1,661 1,431

Cost arising on disposal (note 28) 160 156

1,821 1,587

Option pricing
For the purposes of valuing options to arrive at the share-based compensation charge, the Black-Scholes option pricing model has been used.  
The assumptions used in the model are as follows:

SAYE 
scheme 

2013 

Risk-free interest rate 0.7%

Dividend yield 2.4%

Volatility 20.2%

Expected lives of options granted under:

Savings-related share option schemes 3 years

Weighted average share price for grants in the year:

Savings-related share option schemes — market and option price 744p

The expected volatility is based on historical volatility over the last three years. The expected life is the average expected period to exercise. The risk-free 
rate of return is the yield on zero-coupon UK Government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life.

Options outstanding
Save As You Earn Share Option Scheme 

2014 2013

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number of 

options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Outstanding at 1 May 137,591 534.6p 272,362 396.0p

Granted 76,931 744.0p 56,388 702.0p

Exercised (57,541) 383.1p (181,092) 383.1p

Forfeited (7,646) 696.0p (10,067) 453.6p

Outstanding at 30 April 149,335 693.5p 137,591 534.6p

Exercisable at end of year – – – –

Company Share Option Scheme
2014 2013

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number of 

options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Outstanding at 1 May 142,652 502.9p 144,675 485.1p

Granted 16,769 785.0p 26,604 626.5p

Exercised (86,392) 446.0p – –

Forfeited – – (28,627) 507.3p

Outstanding at 30 April 73,029 634.9p 142,652 502.9p

Exercisable at end of year – – – –
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

27. Employee share schemes continued

Executive Share Option Scheme
2014 2013

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number of 

options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Outstanding at 1 May 23,376 509.0p  38,001 482.3p 

Exercised (11,001) 509.0p (14,625) 439.0p 

Outstanding at 30 April 12,375 509.0p  23,376 509.0p 

Exercisable at end of year 12,375 509.0p  23,376 509.0p 

Outstanding options granted under all schemes are as follows:

Options granted
Weighted average remaining 

contractual life (years)

Options granted  2014  2013 2014  2013 Price 

Savings-related share option schemes

July 2010 – 57,823 – 0.3 382.0p

July 2011 23,720 24,969 0.3 1.3 520.0p

July 2012 53,034 54,799 1.3 2.3 702.0p

July 2013 72,581 – 2.3 – 744.0p

Total 149,335 137,591 1.6 1.3 693.5p

Company and executive share option schemes

July 2004 ESOS 12,375 23,376 0.2 1.2 509.0p

September 2010 CSOS – 86,392 – 0.5 446.0p

August 2011 CSOS 31,575 31,575 0.3 1.3 561.5p

June 2012 CSOS 24,685 24,685 1.1 2.1 626.5p

June 2013 CSOS 16,769 – 2.1 – 785.0p

Total 85,404 166,028 0.9 1.0 616.6p

In August 2011, June 2012 and June 2013 share options were granted under the new Company Share Option Scheme in tandem with grants under the 
LTIP. Further details are provided below.

Performance Share Plan (LTIP)
The Group operates a Performance Share Plan whereby awards are granted to directors and senior management at no cost. The percentage of each 
award that vests is based upon the performance of the Group over a three-year measurement period.

Number of shares issuable
2014 

Number
2013 

Number

Performance shares

At 1 May 938,663 1,138,184

Granted 182,064 422,565

Exercised (323,933) –

Forfeited (60,433) (622,086)

At 30 April 736,361 938,663

Performance shares are issued at nil cost to the employee. There were no performance shares exercisable at the end of the year (2013: nil).  The 
weighted average remaining contractual life of the performance shares in issue was 18 months (2013: 18 months).
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27. Employee share schemes continued

Awards granted in the year were made in the form of an award of performance shares, and a linked CSOS option. The cumulative economic effect of 
these awards for both participants and the Company is identical to that for performance shares, and as such the fair value of these awards has been 
calculated on this aggregate basis.

During the year awards under the LTIP were granted to a number of employees. The fair value per share under award at grant has been calculated using a 
Monte Carlo share pricing model. The assumptions used in the calculation are as follows:

June 
2014
£000

Share price at grant date 799p

Shares under option 180,582

Vesting period 3 years

Volatility 20.2%

Risk-free rate 0.65%

Fair value per performance share — TSR criteria 572.6p

Fair value per performance share — EPS criteria 798.5p

28. Discontinued operations
The results of the discontinued operations, which have been included in the consolidated income statement, were as follows:

2014 2013

 Before 
special 
 items 

£000 
 Special items 

£000 
 Total 
£000 

 Before 
special 
 items 
£000 

 Special items 
£000 

 Total 
£000 

Revenue – – – 34,486 – 34,486 

Operating expenses before special items – – – (31,110) – (31,110)

Finance costs – – – (11) – (11)

Profit before tax and special items – – – 3,365 – 3,365 

Special items – (159) (159) – (1,068) (1,068)

(Loss)/profit before tax of discontinued operations – (159) (159) 3,365 (1,068) 2,297 

Taxation – – – (588) 673 85 

(Loss)/profit after tax of discontinued operations – (159) (159) 2,777 (395) 2,382 

Net gain on disposal – (519) (519) – 10,915 10,915 

Net (loss)/profit attributable to discontinued operations 
(attributable to the owners of the parent) – (678) (678) 2,777 10,520 13,297

Special items from discontinued operations of £0.7m relate to the movement in the value of the contingent consideration receivable of £0.5m (see note 
26) and share-based payment charges of £0.2m.

In the prior year, special items from discontinued operations included the amortisation of intangible assets (£1.1m) and certain plant restructuring costs 
(£0.2m) offset by a credit relating to the movement in the value of the contingent consideration receivable of £0.2m.  

On 15 February 2013, the Group disposed of King Systems which led to a gain on disposal of £10.9m recorded in FY2013, being the proceeds of 
the disposal (net of the working capital payment) less the carrying amount of the business’s net assets plus disposal costs. The proceeds of disposal 
consisted of US$123.4m (£79.6m) in cash and £11.5m in contingent consideration receivable based on the discontinued operation meeting certain 
performance criteria (see note 26).
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

28. Discontinued operations continued

The net assets of King Systems at the date of disposal were as follows:

15 February 
2013 
£000 

Goodwill 45,830 

Intangible assets 5,970 

Property, plant and equipment 20,888 

Inventories 6,434 

Trade and other receivables 5,608 

Cash and cash equivalents 836 

Trade and other payables (5,346)

Current and deferred tax liabilities (2,182)

Sub-total 78,038 

Cumulative translation reserve (2,693)

Net assets 75,345 

Profit on disposal 10,915 

Consideration 86,260 

Satisfied by:

Cash consideration 79,561 

Cash disposal costs (4,028)

75,533 

Contingent consideration 11,490 

Non-cash disposal costs (763)

Non-cash tax on profit on disposal –

86,260 

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

Cash consideration 75,533 

Less cash and cash equivalents disposed (836)

74,697 

The following cash flows arose from King Systems prior to the disposal:

Period ended 
15 February 

2013 
£000 

Operating cash flows 2,849 

Investing cash flows (4,055)

Financing cash flows –

Total cash flows (1,206)
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29. Commitments and contingent liabilities
Group Company

2014
£000

2013
£000

2014
£000

2013
£000

Property, plant and equipment

(i) Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in the accounts 2,796 2,507 – –

(ii) Commitments under operating leases:

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are 
as follows:

No later than one year 681 673 88 88

Later than one year and no later than five years 2,230 2,445 286 352

Later than five years and no later than 25 years 345 937 – 22

3,256 4,060 374 462

(iii) Cross-guarantees 
There is a guarantee agreement from Group undertakings to the Royal Bank of Scotland plc and HSBC Bank plc in respect of the Group’s borrowings. 
The outstanding balance of borrowings amounted to £nil (2013: £nil) at 30 April 2014.

30. Related party transactions

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and the principal subsidiaries listed in the following table:

Subsidiaries
Country of registration (or 

 incorporation) and operation 

% of ordinary 
shares held by 
the Company 

% of ordinary 
shares held by 

the Group Nature of business

Bespak Europe Limited United Kingdom 100 100 Drug delivery device manufacturer

Integrated Aluminium Components Limited United Kingdom – 100 Manufacturer of anodised parts and pressings

TMH Products Limited United Kingdom 100 100 Development of disposable auto-injector 
systems

Bespak, LLC USA – 100 Commercial services

King Systems Corporation was sold on 15 February 2013.

The following table provides the total amount of transactions which have been entered into with related parties for the relevant financial year.

Company

Sales of goods
and services

Purchase of goods
and services

Amounts owed
by related parties

Amounts owed
to related parties

2014
£000

2013
£000

2014
£000

2013
£000

2014
£000

2013
£000

2014
£000

2013
£000

Subsidiaries 3,964 6,142 784 784 50,041 52,335 111,392 112,674

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
The sales to and purchases from related parties are made at normal market prices. Outstanding balances that relate to trading balances are unsecured, 
interest-free and settlement occurs in cash. Long-term loans owed to and from the Company by subsidiary undertakings generally bear market rates 
of interest in accordance with the inter-Company loan agreements. Consort Medical plc has provided guarantees to suppliers of Integrated Aluminium 
Components Limited amounting to £2.8m (2013: £3.4m), including a property lease that runs until 2020. 

A provision of £3.1m has been made against the amount due from Integrated Aluminium Components Limited to Consort Medical plc (2013: £3.1m). No 
other provisions have been made against amounts from related parties. This assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial 
position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

30. Related party transactions continued

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
Key management personnel includes directors (executive and non-executive) and members of the Executive Committee.

The compensation of the key management personnel of the Group is set out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in IAS 24 “Related 
party disclosures”. For further information about the remuneration of individual directors please see the Remuneration Report.

Group Company

2014
£000

2013
£000

2014
£000

2013
£000

Short-term employee benefits 2,636 3,046 2,340 2,587

Post-employment benefits 217 234 186 208

Termination benefits – 576 – 334

Share-based payments 1,003 1,294 761 1,072

3,856 5,150 3,287 4,201
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of Consort Medical plc

Report on the Group Financial Statements

Our opinion 
In our opinion:

•	the financial statements, defined below, give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 30 April 2014 and 
of the Group’s profit and Group’s and Parent Company’s cash flows for the year then ended;

•	the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union; 

•	the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and as applied in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

•	the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial 
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

This opinion is to be read in the context of what we say in the remainder of this report.

What we have audited
The Group and Parent Company financial statements (the “financial statements”), which are prepared by Consort Medical plc, comprise:

•	the Consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 30 April 2014;

•	the Consolidated income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

•	the Consolidated and Company statements of changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flow statements for the year then ended; and

•	the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation comprises applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and, 
as regards the Parent Company, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Certain disclosures required by the financial reporting framework have been presented elsewhere in the Annual Report and Accounts (the “Annual 
Report”), rather than in the notes to the financial statements. These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are identified as audited.

What an audit of financial statements involves 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (‘ISAs (UK & Ireland)’). An audit involves obtaining 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:

•	whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Parent Company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed;

•	the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and 

•	the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report and Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired 
by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications 
for our report.

Overview of our audit approach
Materiality
We set certain thresholds for materiality. These helped us to determine the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of 
misstatements, both individually and on the financial statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole to be £800,000. This represents, 
approximately, 5% of the Group’s profit before taxation from continuing operations, being, in our view, the most relevant measure of performance of 
the Group.  We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £40,000 as well as 
misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of Consort Medical plc

continued

Report on the Group Financial Statements continued

Overview of the scope of our audit
The Group has one component, being the Bespak division, which is supported by a centralised head office function. The Bespak division consists of 
three reporting units. The Group financial statements are a consolidation of these reporting units and the centralised function.

In establishing the overall approach to the Group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be performed at these reporting units by us, as the 
Group engagement team. 

We audited the complete financial information of the three Bespak reporting units. We also performed audit procedures over material account balances 
and transaction classes at the head office function, as well as assessing the risk of material misstatement in the remaining balances through the 
application of analytical procedures.

Areas of particular audit focus
In preparing the financial statements, the directors made a number of subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates 
that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. We primarily focused our work in these areas by assessing 
the directors’ judgements against available evidence, forming our own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.

In our audit, we tested and examined information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we considered necessary to provide a 
reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtained audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of controls, substantive procedures or a 
combination of both. 

We considered the following areas to be those that required particular focus in the current year.  This is not a complete list of all risks or areas of focus 
identified by our audit. We discussed these areas of focus with the Audit Committee. Their report on those matters that they considered to be significant 
issues in relation to the financial statements is set out on page 43.

Area of focus How the scope of our audit addressed the area of focus

Goodwill impairment 
We focused on this area because 
the determination of whether or not 
an impairment charge for goodwill 
was necessary involved significant 
judgements in relation to anticipated 
future milestones and growth 
assumptions in Bespak’s injectables 
business.

We evaluated management’s future cash flow forecasts for the injectables cash-generating unit within Bespak, including 
the process by which they were drawn up, and tested the underlying calculations. We challenged:

•	management’s expectation of successful launch of injectable devices by assessing qualitative information in the public 
arena regarding the development and FDA approval of such devices;

•	management’s key assumptions for future revenues generated on successful launch by comparing to actual results and 
the historical accuracy of management’s forecasts; and

•	the discount rate by assessing the cost of capital for the Company. 

We also performed a sensitivity analysis around the key assumptions. Having ascertained the extent of change in those 
assumptions that either individually or collectively would be required for the goodwill to be impaired, we considered the 
likelihood of such a movement in those key assumptions arising.

Contingent consideration on disposal 
of King Systems in the prior year
We focused on this area because 
the determination of the fair value of 
contingent consideration is based on 
uncertain future milestones and events 
and is inherently judgemental.

We evaluated the fair value determined by management, including the process by which it was calculated, and tested the 
underlying calculations. We challenged management’s assumptions of future sales of the King Vision product following 
its launch, and the anticipated timing of collection by assessing the performance of King Systems subsequent to disposal.

We also performed a sensitivity analysis around the key assumption over the timing and amount of contingent 
consideration expected to be received. Having ascertained the extent of change in this assumption that would be 
required to materially affect the determined fair value, we considered the likelihood of such a movement in this key 
assumption arising.

Risk of fraud in revenue recognition 
ISAs (UK & Ireland) presume there is 
a risk of fraud in revenue recognition 
because of the pressure management 
may feel to achieve the planned results. 
We focused on the timing of revenue 
recognition and its presentation in the 
income statement.

As the foundation of the evidence we obtained regarding the revenue recognised during the year, we evaluated the 
relevant IT systems and tested the internal controls over the completeness, accuracy, timing and presentation of revenue 
recognised in the financial statements. We traced a sample of sales prices per accounting records to signed customer 
contracts. We also tested manual journal entries posted to revenue accounts to identify unusual or irregular items and 
we interrogated the accounting system to match revenue transactions with cash receipts to obtain assurance over the 
occurrence and timing of revenue transactions. 

Risk of management override of 
internal controls 
ISAs (UK & Ireland) require that we 
consider this.

We assessed the overall control environment of the Group, including the arrangements for staff to “whistle-blow” 
inappropriate actions, and interviewed Group senior management. We examined the significant accounting estimates and 
judgements relevant to the financial statements for evidence of bias by the directors that may represent a risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud. We also tested manual journal entries and considered significant judgements made in respect 
of major contracts.
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Going Concern
Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the directors’ statement, set out on page 45, in relation to going concern. We have nothing to report 
having performed our review.

As noted in the directors’ statement, the directors have concluded that it is appropriate to prepare the Group’s and Parent Company’s financial statements 
using the going concern basis of accounting. The going concern basis presumes that the Group and Parent Company have adequate resources to 
remain in operation, and that the directors intend them to do so, for at least one year from the date the financial statements were signed. As part of our 
audit we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, these statements are not a guarantee as to the Group’s and the Parent 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

•	the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent 
with the financial statements; and

•	the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of information and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

•	we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

•	adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not 
visited by us; or

•	the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law have not 
been made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Corporate Governance Statement
Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company’s compliance with nine 
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code (‘the Code’). We have nothing to report having performed our review.

On page 35 of the Annual Report, as required by the Code Provision C.1.1, the directors state that they consider the Annual Report taken as a whole 
to be fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for members to assess the Group’s performance, business model 
and strategy. On page 43, as required by C.3.8 of the Code, the Audit Committee has set out the significant issues that it considered in relation to the 
financial statements, and how they were addressed. Under ISAs (UK & Ireland) we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

•	the statement given by the directors is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of performing our audit; or

•	the section of the Annual Report describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters communicated by us to the Audit 
Committee.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of Consort Medical plc

continued

Report on the Group Financial Statements continued

Other information in the Annual Report
Under ISAs (UK & Ireland), we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, information in the Annual Report is:

•	materially inconsistent with the information in the audited Group financial statements; or

•	apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of the Group and Parent Company acquired in the course of 
performing our audit; or

•	is otherwise misleading.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Our responsibilities and those of the directors 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 35, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the Group 
and parent Company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and ISAs (UK & Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any 
other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Stuart Newman (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Cambridge 
16 June 2014
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Five-year Summary

 2014 
 (note 1) 

£000 

 2013 
 (note 1) 

£000 

 2012 
 (note 1) 

£000 

 2011 
 (note 2) 

£000 

 2010 
 (note 2) 

£000 

Revenue 100,010 95,044 93,477 126,806 118,592

Operating expenses (81,217) (76,967) (77,031) (106,354) (99,919)

Operating profit before special items 18,793 18,077 16,446 20,452 18,673

Special items (559) (692) 1,827 (1,993) (4,082)

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets (828) (829) (829) (2,681) (2,400)

Operating profit 17,406 16,556 17,444 15,778 12,191

Finance income 201 92 93 28 220

Finance costs (907) (2,053) (2,952) (2,461) (1,340)

Other finance (costs)/income (560) (200) 302 (645) (677)

Profit on disposal of investment in associate – – – – 67

Profit before tax 16,140 14,395 14,887 12,700 10,461

Taxation (2,494) (3,508) (3,001) (2,344) (2,409)

Profit for the financial year from continuing operations 13,646 10,887 11,886

Profit for the financial year from discontinued operations (678) 13,297 2,270

Profit for the financial year 12,968 24,184 14,155 10,356 8,052

Basic earnings per share 47.4p 37.9p 41.5p 36.0p 27.8p

Diluted earnings per share 46.2p 36.8p 40.2p 35.3p 27.3p

Adjusted basic earnings per share 48.3p 44.5p 52.2p 45.5p 42.5p

Dividends declared 20.70p 19.71p 19.1p 19.1p 19.1p

Notes:
1 Results from continuing operations only and have been restated for the changes in accounting policy explained in note 1.

2 Results include both continuing and discontinued operations and have been restated for the change in the revenue recognition policy as explained in note 1.

The financial information has been extracted from the audited accounts for 2010 to 2014 inclusive.
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Company Information

Board of Directors Independent Auditors

Peter Fellner Chairman PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Jonathan Glenn Chief Executive Officer Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

Richard Cotton Chief Financial Officer Abacus House

William Jenkins Non-Executive Director Castle Park

Lynn Drummond Non-Executive Director Cambridge

Steve Crummett Non-Executive Director CB3 0AN

Ian Nicholson Non-Executive Director

Principal bankers

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc

HSBC Bank plc

Company Secretary and Financial Advisors

General Counsel Evercore Partners International LLP

Iain Ward with effect from 14 July 2014

Stockbrokers

Registered Office Investec Bank plc

Breakspear Park

Breakspear Way Registrars

Hemel Hempstead Capita Asset Services

Hertfordshire The Registry

HP2 4TZ 34 Beckenham Road

United Kingdom Beckenham

Kent

Telephone: +44 (0)1442 867920 BR3 4TU

Facsimile: +44 (0)1442 245237

Email: enquiries@consortmedical.com Telephone: +44(0)871 664 0300

(Calls cost 10p per minute + network extras)

Registered Number Overseas callers should call: +44 20 8639 3399

406711 (Calls will be charged at standard international rates)

Facsimile: +44(0)20 8639 2342

Website email: shareholderenquiries@capita.co.uk

www.consortmedical.com www.capitaassetservices.com
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Financial Calendar

FY2014

Year end

30 April 2014
Annual General Meeting

4 September 2014
Ex-dividend date

17 September 2014
Record date

19 September 2014
Payment of final dividend

24 October 2014
FY2015

Announcement of half-year results

4 December 2014
Interim dividend date

February 2015
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Shareholder Notes
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This Annual Report is printed by an FSC® (Forest Stewardship 
Council), certified printer using vegetable based inks and sealers.

This report has been printed on Claro silk, a white coated paper 
and board using 100% EFC pulp.
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